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Cover Design Rationale

The design features the logo of Yip’'s Chemical that is outlined with
clean simple lines, in which the curves in seven colours representing each
core value of the corporate vision. They embrace the Yip's Chemical
logo in the center, symbolising that the Group is making diversified
development on the foundation of these core values and is striving to
build a quality chemical platform.
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Profit attributable to owners
of the Company”

1,217,830,000

7T HK$

A 200%

(—F %7
Revenue

3,358,509,000

7T HK$

¥ 16 %

N BEBEREEBRRERLEREERR

A Included continuing operations and discontinued operations

t BERRIRES KR 7538l
1 Included the special dividend of HK75 cents per share

* FRITEBEEGALNARREGEEEN B LR EREE

* Measured by net bank borrowings as a percentage of equity attributable to owners of the Company

ER{LIEEMARAT —T- —FEFR
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Earnings per share”

214.2

Bl HK CENTS

AN 194%

EFRIT

Dividend for the year'

90

Bl HK CENTS

AN 125%

featk =~

Gearing ratio*

24.8%

Sz BEH
¥ 11. % POINTS

HES
Sales volume

269,000

0 METRIC TONS

Y 20%

HZE2022F12A31HIEFE ((EFEZ)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (audited)
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Chairman’s Statement — Review and Outlook

F & Chairman
RS E Mr. Ip Chi Shing

G
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Review

It is my pleasure to present to all shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of Yip's Chemical Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries collectively be
referred to as "Yip's Chemical” or the “Group”) an overview
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2022 (the "year under review"”). The past year represented the
most difficult and heart-wrenching year among the fifty-one
years since the establishment of the Group where we were
confronted with various challenges. Throughout the year under
review, the management paid close watch on the number of
confirmed COVID-19 cases among our staff and its impacts and
cared for the employees’ wellbeing and recovery. In addition,
the challenging macro operating environment during the year
under review was a rare sight in recent years. The Russia-
Ukraine conflict which suddenly broke out back in February 2022
has already lasted for a year and intensified beyond what was
anticipated. Ongoing geopolitical tensions in various regions
have therefore escalated, leading to serious global energy and
food supply crisis. The sudden imbalances in the global supply
chain have dealt a severe blow to the global economy which is
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already sluggish. Following that, the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic in Shanghai in April 2022 and then the widespread
outbreaks in various provinces, cities and regions across China
led to a more challenging situation than that of 2021 in various
degrees. The strict pandemic control measures implemented by
the government have posed significant challenges not only to
all economic activities nationwide, but also internationally. As
a result, the Group’s core businesses in Mainland China were
subject to negative impacts in terms of costs, sales, operation
and other aspects. On the other hand, the United States of
America (“US"”) and other Western countries have made several
considerable interest hikes in a row with an aim to ease the
persistently high inflation rate since September 2022, resulting in
depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB") of nearly 8.5% during the year
under review. Despite a challenging macro environment due to
the combined effect of these negative factors, the management
team at all levels within the Group rose to the challenges and
performed their duties diligently by making strenuous efforts to
reduce the overall costs and implementing contingency measures
to cut expenses, which laid a solid foundation for the future
development of the Group but the macro economy still inevitably
imposed negative impact on the core businesses of the Group to
various extents during the year under review.

In general, | am disappointed with the overall results of the
Group in the year under review, but am also pleased with and
have high expectations for a number of events: (1) during the
severe pandemic outbreaks throughout the year under review,
we have seen a rapid recovery for the majority of confirmed
COVID-19 cases among our staff and there was no death due to
COVID-19 during the period; (2) based on the prudent assessment
on various latest uncertainties, the management team decisively
voluntarily withdrew the application for the spin-off and separate
listing of JF2H)/M2 C)L) AR A7) (Bauhinia Variegata Ink &
Chemicals (Zhejiang) Limited*) (“Bauhinia Variegata”) (formerly
known as ¥ HE MK D AR A A (Bauhinia Ink Company
Limited)) in Mainland China in August 2022 (please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 5 August 2022 for details);
(3) after nearly a year-long negotiation, the Group eventually
entered into an agreement with PAG in relation to the disposal
of the controlling equity interests in the solvents business to PAG
(please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
July 2022 for details). Based on the annual review of each of the
above significant events, the revenue and the sales volume of the
Group (excluding its solvents business) for the year under review
were only HK$3.36 billion and 269,000 tonnes respectively,
representing a decrease of 16% and 20% when compared to

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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the corresponding period of the preceding year. In terms of
profit attributable to owners, HK$1.22 billion was recorded,
representing a substantial growth of 200% year-on-year.
However, excluding the one-off special gains from the aforesaid
substantial transaction and the adjustments made in connection
with the transaction, the profit attributable to owners of the
Group for the year under review was actually approximately
HK$125 million, representing a decrease of 69% year-on-year.

The Group would also like to report on its robust financial
performance. Excluding the considerable decline in the gearing
ratio of the Group resulting from the aforesaid special gains,
the management continued to impose strict comprehensive
control over the working capital of the Group during the year
under review, maintaining a stable and healthy performance in
terms of all relevant indicators. After a thorough assessment of
the Group’s business prospects and considering the established
practice of rewarding Shareholders earnestly, the board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company
recommended to pay a final dividend of HK5 cents per ordinary
share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) to all Shareholders as
compared to the final dividend of HK18 cents per Share declared
during the preceding year. In addition, the Board also resolved
to declare and pay a special dividend of HK75 cents per Share to
all Shareholders in respect of the special gains from the aforesaid
substantial transaction as compared to the 50" anniversary
special dividend of HK10 cents per Share declared during the
preceding year.

Outlook

| firmly believe that the overall business environment will improve
in the coming year. Although the Russia-Ukraine conflict has
shown no sign of reconciliation yet, it is expected that the conflict
will not further escalate, providing some relief to the struggling
global economy. It is also expected that we are going to witness
slower and lower interest rate hikes by the US and other Western
countries. On the other hand, despite the increasing tensions
between the Western camp, including the US, and China as
well as the more comprehensive and strengthened sanctions
against China imposed by them, it is expected that, through
years of tough challenges and roll-out of counter-measures, the
PRC economy will continue to demonstrate strong resilience. In
particular, upon the conclusion of the 20" National Congress and
with the overall easing of the pandemic situation in China, | am
delighted to see that the Chinese government has gradually lifted
the pandemic control measures in various areas, and citizens’
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lives have returned to normal, leading to significant increase in
consumer confidence in self-owned property and other sectors.
Combined with the established national policy of maintaining
stable economic development and promoting business growth
by running the economy in a dual circulation, which is based
primarily on the domestic economic cycle driving the international
economic cycle, it will certainly create favourable conditions
for the improvement of the business environment this year. In
addition, the completion of the solvents partnership project
between the Group and PAG will have a huge and far-reaching
impact on the future development of the Group and its solvents
business. It is expected that, under the leadership of PAG,
the new associate will vigorously and continuously develop its
production of upstream raw materials, with an aim to ensure
stronger competitiveness of downstream products and a brighter
future.

The Group will continue to reap greater benefits and returns
from business partnership in the future, and will seek more
opportunities for business growth while making good use of
its strong financial strength in consolidating and developing its
core businesses (especially the coatings and inks businesses).
Meanwhile, the Strategic Investment Department of the
Group has gained extensive experiences through two years of
exploration and has developed a better-defined strategic goal.
Capitalising on our soft power and smart power, efforts will be
made to secure more projects, which will surely generate greater
synergies with the Group’s core businesses and is expected to
become a major revenue stream for the Group in the future.
On the other hand, the Group has benefited greatly from its
efforts in succession planning and nurturing new generation of
successors over the past several years. With greater efforts and
diligence, the new management team will continue to uphold
the Group’s decades-long business philosophy and create greater
value for the Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my heartfelt thanks to all employees for their hard
work; to business partners for their trust and support; and to all
members of the Board and the leadership teams at all levels for
their outstanding leadership, solidarity and dedication.

Ip Chi Shing
Chairman

24 March 2023

* For identification purposes only
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Highlights of the Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2022 are as follows:

A sharp drop in the price of raw materials used in the
solvents business in the second half of the year under
review impacted the business segment, which also dragged
down the Group’s sales revenue (including those from
the continuing operations and discontinued solvents
business) by 21% year-on-year to approximately HK$14.0
billion, while sales revenue from the continuing operations
decreased by 16% year-on-year to HK$3.36 billion;

In addition, the solvents business suffered a substantial
inventory loss due to the decline in raw material prices,
especially for the third quarter of the year under review
when the business segment recorded an unusual loss.
Fortunately, the profit level of the business segment
returned to normal in the fourth quarter of the year under
review after the raw material inventories purchased at
higher cost have been consumed;
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Being affected by the pandemic, the revenue of the
coatings and inks businesses recorded a noticeable decrease
compared to the corresponding period of the preceding
year, with that of the coatings business falling by 20%
year-on-year and that of the inks business falling by 11%
year-on-year. The coatings business reported a turn from
loss to profit due to the write back of bad debts, while the
inks business showed limited improvement and recorded
a substantial decline as compared to the corresponding
period of the preceding year;

Based on the above, the operating loss of the Group’s
continuing operations for the year under review was
approximately HK$12 million, representing an improvement
of 39% over the corresponding period of the preceding
year;

The Group disposed of 51% of the effective interest in
and of Hi{Z/{t TEE AR A7 (Handsome Chemical
Group Limited**) (“Handsome Chemical”) to PAG, and
the transaction was completed in 2022. After deducting
all related expenses, the non-recurring income and
operating profit from the discontinued operation for the
year under review was approximately HK$1.18 billion and
approximately HK$230 million, respectively. Therefore, the
Group achieved a record-high profit attributable to owners
of HK$1.22 billion;

The gearing ratio fell sharply to 24.8% at the end of
December 2022;

After taking into consideration the Mainland China capital
market conditions and the overall capital situation of the
Group, the Group decided to withdraw the application
for the proposed spin-off and separate listing of Bauhinia
Variegata on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (”SZSE”) : and

Following the disposal of 51% of the effective interest
in and of Handsome Chemical, the Group still held the
remaining 24% effective interest in and of Handsome
Chemical. However, the solvents business, which was
accounted for as a business operated by the Group's
associate and being spun off from the Group’s major
business segments, became a discontinued operation.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Review and analysis of the Group’s major business segments are
as follows:

Solvents

As mentioned above, the solvents business took a hit due to
the decline in raw material prices during the year under review,
resulting in a decrease in the revenue and operating profit.
However, in terms of total profit from daily operation (excluding
the income from the disposal of effective interest in and of
Handsome Chemical and related expenses), the business still
recorded relatively high profitability in its 30-year operation.

The new plant in Zhuhai has been put into operation smoothly
during the year under review, with various output indicators
exceeding designated and anticipated targets. The management is
drawing reference from this successful experience and introducing
the superior technology from the Zhuhai plant to the Taixing plant,
which is believed to deliver new benefits to the Taixing plant in
terms of production capacity and consumption reduction.

During the year under review, the major preliminary preparatory
work for the construction of an acetic acid plant has been
substantially completed. In the first half of 2023, relevant
construction will be organised at the selected site located in
Jingmen, Hubei Province, which is expected to be put into
production in mid-2025.

| was re-elected as chairman of the board of directors at the
meeting of Handsome Chemical’s newly formed board, and | will
continue to strive to lead its business to achieve new heights.

Coatings

The pandemic delivered a blow to the coatings business during
the year under review, causing a 20% decline in sales revenue
to HK$1.64 billion. The Group experienced a shortage of
demand for both new and existing decoration works as the
pandemic hampered the expansion of architectural and industrial
coatings businesses, while the real estate market in Mainland
China remained sluggish. Confronted with these challenges,
the Group continued to expand its quality branded store sales
network across the country with over 2,300 Bauhinia-branded
stores, laying a solid foundation for the future development of
architectural coatings business. Meanwhile, the Group continued
to make progress in reducing costs, lowering expenses and
improving product class and portfolio structure during the year
under review, resulting in an increase in gross profit margin to
23.9% and contributing an operating profit of HK$8.5 million.
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Looking ahead to 2023, the demand and sales revenue of
coatings will increase as the Mainland economy recovers after
the pandemic. In addition, the Group will continue to invest in
branding and sales network development to constantly promote
the development of “Bauhinia” and “Camel” brands in the
architectural coatings industry.

Inks

During the year under review, the sales revenue of the inks
business, as dampened by the pandemic, dropped by 11% to
HK$1.34 billion. The management strived to improve the gross
profit margin but the effectiveness of the measures was not
significant, with only a slight increase of 0.5 percentage point. In
addition, given that our efforts in cost reduction delivered little
results, especially coupled with some one-off special expenses
incurred in relation to the spin-off and separate listing application
of Bauhinia Variegata on the SZSE, this segment recorded
substantial decrease in operating results with an operating
profit of merely approximately HK$9.4 million for the year under
review.

Subsequent to discussion by the management at its year-end
meeting, decisions for bold reforms were made: (1) Efforts will
be prioritised to improve the quality of the businesses, instead
of blindly pursuing revenue growth. (2) Efforts will be made to
achieve substantial reduction in costs, including cutting down
the size of the workforce by 15% by the end of 2022, and
streamlining and merging compatible business lines as well as
various compatible departments. It is believed that such cost
reduction measures will significantly alleviate the burden of
the segment. (3) Efforts will be made to develop promising,
environmentally friendly and new types of high quality ink
products. The management holds the view that, although the
aforesaid three measures may not generate substantial revenue in
2023, they will certainly bring new momentum to the segment in
terms of sustainability, stability and development.
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Lubricants

During the year under review, the expansion of the lubricants
business fell short of expectations, with its sales revenue dropping
by 10% year-on-year to approximately HK$300 million, as a
result of the weakened demand from the lubricants market due
to the significant decrease in commuting during the pandemic.
The Group continued its efforts in developing the diesel engine
project tailored to logistics vehicles, and attained preliminary
results. Against the backdrop of increasing raw material prices,
the gross profit margin dropped by 4.3 percentage points
year-on-year to 20.1%, and an operating loss of HK$2.1 million
was recorded, representing a decrease as compared to the
operating profit of HK$19.7 million for the corresponding period
of the preceding year.

Looking ahead to 2023, the lubricants business is expected
to turn from loss to profit with rising sales revenue, as the
demand for lubricants will be driven by the significant increase in
commute by the car owners.

Other Businesses

The Group is committed to pursuing environmentally friendly,
end-user-oriented and service-oriented development and is
actively exploring and investing in business opportunities
related to our core businesses. The Group has been promoting
Damai as the top self-operated car maintenance chain in the
automobile aftermarket to offer China’s millions of end-user car
owners professional, convenient and highly cost-effective car
maintenance services. During the year under review, its pace of
opening new outlets and the number of actual operating days
were materially affected by the pandemic. As of 31 December
2022, the number of outlets reached 135, up by 9 outlets
year-on-year, altogether serving nearly 240,000 cars during the
year under review, down by 11% year-on-year. It is expected
that there will be a post-pandemic rebound in commute, and
the management believes that car maintenance services that
are standardised and highly cost-effective are in line with the
consumption habits of China’s middle class. In 2023, it will be
the Group's priority to enhance the profitability of each outlet in
order to establish a more stable development platform.

For the properties segment, the revenue increased by 5% to
HK$10.69 million, mainly attributable to the rental income from
the R&D centre in Shanghai, while the operating profit decreased
to HK$6.25 million as the profit from the disposal of Yip's
Chemical Building in Fanling in 2021 was one-off.
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Outlook

The Group is mainly engaged in the businesses of coatings and
inks. Encouraged and driven by the Board, the management
teams of these two business segments strive to attain the high
hopes placed upon them by the Board. The targets of the Group
are to improve the performance of the two business segments
in 2023 first, which will serve as a stepping stone for further
significant progress in 2024 and 2025.

After the disposal of the effective interest in and of Handsome
Chemical, all the sales revenue of this business will not be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group. It is
therefore expected that the sales revenue of the Group will
decrease significantly. Moreover, as only 24% of the operating
profit of such business will be accounted for by the Group,
the operating profit of the Group is also expected to undergo
substantial change.

But then again, the disposal of the effective interest in and of
Handsome Chemical generated a cash inflow of over HK$2 billion
to the Group, which, on one hand, significantly improved the
cash position of the Group with expected substantial decrease
in the interest expenses of the Group, and, on the other hand,
enabled the Group to pursue favourable investment opportunities
in order to further expand the business mix of the Group upon
detailed consideration of the utilisation of part of the proceeds.
As such, the Group would be well-equipped to allocate more
resources to its three-pronged development plan and achieve
greater progress.

| retired as the Chief Executive Officer of Yip’s Chemical with
effect from 1 January 2023. In retrospect of my 12-year tenure,
I was fully vested with trust and support from the Board.
Under the supervision and assistance from all stakeholders, the
Group managed to achieve smooth, steady and sustainable
development. | would like to hereby extend my heartfelt gratitude
to all stakeholders. It is my humble pleasure to welcome Yip's
Chemical’s second generation of fully-fledged successors. It is
my high hope that this new team with their new mentality could
steer Yip's Chemical to even greater heights based upon the core
businesses and driven by new businesses.

Yip Tsz Hin*
24 March 2023

* Mr. Yip Tsz Hin stepped down from his role as the Chief Executive
Officer and Mr. Ip Kwan was re-designated as the Chief Executive

Officer with effect from 1 January 2023.

*o For identification purposes only
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Group’s Major Properties

RSB EFNEERE
The Group's headquarters in
Wanchai, Hong Kong
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The coatings plant in ﬁ The coatings plant in The coatings plant in
Jinshan, Shanghai Chengdu, Sichuan Huizhou, Guangdong

IR ERP LB ERE {2 B Hf ST R 488 60 3eh =5 R 5 R ERRHEBERE
The inks plant in Zhongshan, The inks plant in Tongxiang, The lubricants plant in
Guangdong Zhejing Dongguan, Guangdong

MR ERIR BB BRI B IR FIPIBRES (B2 )
The solvents plant in Zhuhai, ﬁ The plant in Hubei, Jingmen
Guangdong (under construction planning)

Rz h T &R 3R B A0 B BT BB
The solvents plant in Taixing,
Jiangsu
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Group’s Major! Properhes

sl

Shanghal

NG
Headquarters

6 ZHEE
Coatings plant
6 BE
Inks plant
6 R
Lubricants plant

WMABKT A WARB/BE/HiH
o) Office or industrial building / Office unit / Plant / Shop

=M
Huizhou

' sy ¥ Hong Kong
Shenzhen
HiE

Zhuhai

AR
Solvents plant*

ENNTEERDRESERERES TLHE  RiaERRsERENmE -
The Group owns a portfalio of completed properties which are under use or leased out; others are held for lease or sales.

‘BROGZEE
*Plants of associates
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The Bauhinia Advanced Materials Group (the “Advanced
Materials Group”) manages the architectural coatings, industrial
coatings and resins businesses under Yip’'s Chemical in Mainland
China. The Advanced Materials Group will venture into new
materials business beyond the field of traditional coatings. Yip's
Chemical acquired coatings brands, namely “Camel”, “Aquapro”
and "VIVA" in early 2018, and their respective architectural and
industrial coatings businesses in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Macau and are now managed by the Advanced Materials Group.

With the growing environmental awareness and health
consciousness of consumers, the Advanced Materials Group
has stayed innovative, implemented the brand value of
“High-performing Coatings Enabling a Healthy Lifestyle” by
providing consumers with professional and safe products and
services, delivering quality and excellence so as to provide a
healthy and green living environment for thousands of families
in Mainland China. The Advanced Materials Group has set up
large-scale automated production bases in Shanghai, Guangdong
and Sichuan.

Architectural Coatings

Architectural coatings include inner and outer emulsion wall
paints, wood paints and auxiliary materials. The Advanced
Materials Group strives to be the leader in China’s household
paints market. With sales outlets covering China’s large and
medium-sized cities as well as the majority of towns, the
Advanced Materials Group has won accolades and trust from
users. In the field of architecture and construction, professional
products and quality services of the Advanced Materials Group
have gained the confidence of many well-known property
developers. With long-term strategic partnership forged with
many of these developers, projects using the Advanced Materials
Group's paints can now be found across the country. The Group
also provides high-quality and environmentally friendly auxiliary
materials which cover wall reinforcement, floor leveling, tile
paving, various tools, etc. Its extensive sales network enables
consumers to enjoy one-stop shopping experience.
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Industrial Coatings

Industrial coatings consist of a range of products, including
coatings for furniture and plastic, as well as anti-corrosive
coatings. The industrial paints of the Advanced Materials
Group have maintained rapid growth over the years. Its superb
product quality and professional services have succeeded in
gaining the trust from new and old customers. The industrial
coatings laboratory is an accredited laboratory recognised by
China National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment
(“CNAS"), which can offer corresponding testing services based
on customer’s requests. This not only provides solid guarantee
on product quality, but also substantially expands the room for
cooperation between the Advanced Materials Group and the
end-users or using entities of a host of international brands.

Resins

The Advanced Materials Group produces resins, which will be
vertically integrated with finished coating products so as to offer
more competitive raw materials while further raising product
quality. Its products range from acrylic resins, water-based resins
and alkyd resins, to polyester resins and polyurethane curing
agents. It can also develop resins to meet the specific needs of
the customers.

Camel Paints

Camel was founded in Hong Kong in 1932 and its products are
sold in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China. Its extensive
product lines encompass household coatings, architectural
coatings and industrial coatings. Camel launched a new brand
“lemac” in 2021 to provide color consultation service and
personalized interior paints for consumers by professional
colorists.

The Group believes that the acquisition of Camel and other
brands would help strengthen its position in the coatings market
in Mainland China, especially the southern area, and will create
synergy with the current businesses of the Advanced Materials
Group in areas such as manufacturing, technology, distribution
and marketing, building a solid foundation for the development
in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, and even
across Mainland China in the future.
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Yip's Chemical’s inks business started in 1998. By now it is
China’s largest supplier of inks under the Bauhinia Variegata
Ink brand and one of the top 20 ink enterprises globally.
Bauhinia Variegata Ink mainly produces gravure printing ink,
flexographic printing ink, offset printing ink, environmentally
friendly processing materials, UV printing ink and screen printing
ink, which are widely used in various industries including food,
beverage, gift packaging, paper printing, decorative building
materials, printed circuit boards, etc. There are production
bases in South China (Zhongshan, Guangdong) and East China
(Tongxiang, Zhejiang) with the sales network covering the whole
country.

In order to comply with the principle of clean production,
Bauhinia Variegata Ink takes the lead in establishing separate
aromatic-free production plant and introducing fully piped
manufacturing mode. The Bauhinia Variegata Ink production
system is not only equipped with the most advanced automatic
controls, but is also one of the few in China linked to an
Enterprise Resources Planning system. In addition, in its effort to
protect employee health and the environment, Bauhinia Variegata
Ink has also become one of the pioneers in the China’s inks
industry in adopting a hazardous substance process management
system.

Bauhinia Variegata Ink is a staunch advocate of environmental
protection and is leading the industry in both environmentally
friendly products and green technologies. Bauhinia Variegata
Ink reduced volatile organic compounds (VOC) emission during
production process through technological advancement,
developed water-based inks with outstanding eco-friendly
performance and launched green products that better met the
market needs, thus was awarded the “Corporate Environmental
Leadership Awards”. In addition, equipped with a laboratory that
has been certified by CNAS, as well as a third-party independent
laboratory, Bauhinia Variegata Ink provides professional product
testing service which gives a strong boost to product quality
assurance.
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Yip's Chemical started engaging in the production of lubricants
in 1992. Since then, it has rolled out a wide array of lubricants
for use in automobiles and related industries under the Hercules
brand, including engine oils, antifreeze fluids, system coolants,
brake oils, lubricating greases, gear oils, automatic gearbox oils,
hydraulic oils, etc. The lubricating oil it has developed specifically
for use in methanol dual-fuel engines has been recognised as a
key achievement in the National High-tech R&D Programme of
China (the “863 Programme”). The Group also produces a range
of high-performance industrial lubricants and special lubricants
under the Pacoil brand. Pacoil products are used in various
industries including electronics, home appliances, automobiles,
bearing manufacturing, engineering machinery, steelworks, port
terminals, cement works, toys manufacturing, textiles, metal
processing, etc.

In recent years, the lubricants business has engaged mainly in
re-building and repositioning the Hercules brand. Its objective is
to secure a solid footing in the automotive aftermarket through
strategies such as upgrading products, streamlining channels and
empowering end-user stores. Concurrently, with the upgrading of
domestic demand, investment in the R&D of industrial specialty
lubricant technologies has been stepped up with the view of
achieving greater breakthroughs in specialty greases and metal
processing oils (liquids) for the medium to high-end markets.
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The associate of the Company in the solvents business is the
largest acetate solvents producer globally. A major turning point
in the history of the business came in 1993, when the then
subsidiary of the Company, Handsome Chemical Development
Limited (“Handsome Chemical Development”) set its sights in
economic reforms which took place in China. A joint venture with
Jiangmen Qisheng Chemical Development Company Limited was
formed and, by capitalizing on the advantages of a Sino-foreign
joint venture and complementing each other, the two partners
were able to achieve close to 30 years of dazzling performance.

The solvents business produces mainly eco-friendly industrial
organic solvents. These include ethyl acetate, normal butyl
acetate, normal propyl acetate, mixed butyl acetate and butyl
acrylate which are extensively used in coatings, tannery, medicine
and adhesives industries. The solvents division has established
production bases in Southern and Eastern China. The business
maintains a huge sales team and operates a sales network that
covers the whole of China and overseas. By operating mainly on a
direct-sale basis, it manages to ensure thorough and satisfactory
services, and to afford its sales team a better understanding of
customer needs — a vital edge of the business.

Handsome Chemical always values its customers and the
customer-oriented pre- and post-sales services of the solvents
business have, over the years, won the trust and support
of customers. It also cooperates with world-class chemical
companies in sourcing raw materials of superior and stable
quality so as to guarantee product quality.

In order to enhance the competitiveness of the downstream
products, the Group sold its controlling interest in its solvents
business to PAG in 2022 and continues to participate in the
significant investment in upstream acetate solvents through its
remaining 24% equity to create more value for the Group’s
business partners and Shareholders.
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Car Maintenance Operation of Damai

The Group invests strategically in Damai to capture opportunities
in the car service market. The Group further increased its
shareholding in the chain brand to 61% in the beginning of
2020, becoming the single largest controlling shareholder
of Damai. The Group supports Damai’s development of car
maintenance chain outlets business in China, providing quick and
standardized oil-changing service to car owners. The rationale
for this new venture is to actively explore new ways in moving
towards the Group's goal of becoming more service and end-user
oriented and to extend our value proposition to consumers.

Chain Store Network of Damai
(As at 31 December 2022)

franchise stores

III a3t
Hebei
8 REZE .
I L7 self-operated stores s
Shanxi 11 RHNEE
RELE franchise stores b 27 RELE
1 self-operated store v 3 H ' self-operated stores
R 088 A e IH | R 1088 s
24 franchise stores ‘ " T M ll 38 franchise stores
III B > 3 sl STk
Guizhou \ 4 JJ : Jiangsu
RN M . — U RERE

self-operated stores

ke

Hunan

I
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Guangdong
REZE

self-operated stores

EIIIEENE
franchise store

REZE

self-operated stores
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BEt-A=t-ALEE

For the year ended 31 December

—RI-E ZFZ-F ZECZFRF “hE ZE-\F
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TAR TEL FTET THEL FTAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(mE7))
(Restated)
E4 Results
SEME R Revenue from continuing
S operations 3,358,509 3,994,160
BRIFEEEK Revenue from discontinued
S operations 10,666,671 13,811,237
B Total revenue 14,025,180 17,805,397 10,776,026 10,464,834 12,388,283
FELEEBHES Sales volume (‘000 metric tons)
(Fma) from continuing operations 269 335
E%M:i‘“ e Sales volume ("000 metric tons)
HES (TH) from discontinued operations 1,195 1,224
BIEEE (TH) Total sales volume
(000 metric tons) 1,464 1,559 1,490 1,379 1,388
B AR AL Profit before taxation* 1,534,704 739,198 534,911 480,895 412,314
Tt Taxation* (238,794) (164,647) (131,335) (143,821) (157,849)
REE Profit for the year" 1,295,910 574,551 403,576 337,074 254,465
FEEREF Attributable to*
ENNETL Owners of the Company 1,217,830 406,280 302,575 272,907 184,805
JEFER R Non-controlling interests 78,080 168,271 101,001 64,167 69,660
1,295,910 574,551 403,576 337,074 254,465
BRER Per share data
FRER (B Earnings per share (HK cents)*
=N Basic 214.2 72.8 53.8 48.4 32.8
i3 Diluted 214.2 72.8 53.8 48.4 32.8
RS (Bl * Dividend per share (HK cents)* 90.0 40.0 22.0 20.0 16.0
B b = Financial ratios*
BB ERRE Return on average total assets 13.2% 4.3% 3.7% 3.4% 2.3%
THRREEBREE Return on average
shareholders’ funds 29.7% 11.3% 9.5% 9.4% 6.4%

including continuing operations and discontinued operations

| OERECEEBRERLEE
C B EEREEBENIRE

ES
*  Dividend per share in 2022 included special dividend HK75 cents per

iy

e

26

o = g share. Dividend per share in 2021 included special dividend HK10
%ZF%?%J{%JQ Q*Hij Ogﬁg?ﬂi; cents per share and scrip dividend alternative was offered in respect
= — &“ﬁ 21 Hg E.’\EL J«/(/J&R%\ of the 2021 interim and special dividends.
B
Rt=A=+-H
As at 31 December
—E-C-f -—T--F C—ZE-FE —T-hE —N\F
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TER FET THET TR THET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EERER Assets and Liabilities
BERE Total assets 8,010,986 10,420,089 8,439,363 7,752,659 8,320,710
BEBE Total liabilities (3,552,588)  (5,692,590)  (4,213,164)  (4,190,462)  (4,886,284)
4,458,398 4,727,499 4,226,199 3,562,197 3,434,426
AR AR R IENG Equity attributable to owners
B of the Company 4,406,572 3,802,373 3,405,924 2,941,479 2,836,726
FERER Non-controlling interests 51,826 925,126 820,275 620,718 597,700
4,458,398 4,727,499 4,226,199 3,562,197 3,434,426
FRITEEHRR Net bank borrowings to
Eoth & shareholders’ funds 25% 37% 31% 33% 46%

ER{LISEARAF

T FEFR




i%" % gE (F#xT)
Revenue xsooo

HZE+ZA=+—B 15 For the year ended 31 December

BEE et [RESIN:S-F =7
Revenue . Continuing operations Discontinued operations
20,000,000
17,805,397
14,025,180
15,000,000
12,388,283

10,464,834 10,776,026

811,237 —
10,666,671

10,000,000

5,000,000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

g Hﬁ Hﬁ 4%\ (§:-211D]
Dividend per share ek cents)

HE+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December

LEN ]
Final Interim
100
90.0
80
60
40.0
40
2 22.0
20— 160 o
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

* BIERRIR BTSN
Included special dividend HK75 cents

# BIEFRIRS10.0BMRBEHURRE ZEE
Included special dividend HK10.0 cents and scrip dividend
alternative was offered

RRF) IR R AL R
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company isoo0

W+ZB=+—H Asat31 December

5,000,000
4,406,572
4,000,000 802,373
3,405,924
2,941,479

3,000,000 —%-836.726
2,000,000
1,000,000

0

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
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AAT] R REEAEBF cun
Profit attributable to owners
of the Company sooo

HE+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December
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184,805
150,000 j
0
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* AERELEEBRERIEEEER
Included continuing operations & discontinued operations

g Hﬁ .I:IF;:IJ. *IJ (7 )
Earnings per share ek cens

HE+=-A=+—HBIFE For the year ended 31 December

1,217,830*

406,280

272,907 302.575

225 214.2%

72.8
184 5338
50 323
-a B 8
0

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Y BEREEEEBRERIEEEER
Included continuing operations & discontinued operations
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Analysis of Revenue and

Segment Results for the Past Five Years

31

Revenue

BE+t-R=t-ALEE
For the year ended 31 December

—g--f ZZ=--F ZZZZF ZT-HNF ZZ-)\E
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TER TET FAET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(& E5) )]
(restated) (restated)

BE () Solvents (Note 1) = - 7,867,873 7,403,491 8,947,624

2 Coatings 1,639,448 2,036,898 1,442,690 1,610,221 1,826,230

HEMFZ) Inks (Note 2) 1,340,198 1,498,448 1,244,546 1,286,405 1,474,743

BB Lubricants 299,026 333,214 219,973 203,682 270,569

nEWit=) Properties (Note 3) 10,685 10,163 8,904 14,195 11,048

Hih (it =) Others (Note 2) 74,015 139,329 136,883 104,295 TEANA

RHHEH Elimination (4,863) (23,892) (144,843) (157,455) (141,931)

k] Total 3,358,509 3,994,160 10,776,026 10,464,834 12,388,283

Kt - Note:

— REE-—_ZEZ-_—_F#+-A=+—H 1 During the year ended 31 December 2022, an operating
IFFE EHAEEREETEBAL segment regarding the manufacture of and trading in
FHEBERZEEDBERIEE raw solvents and related product was discontinued. The
oW FRBEE-_ZT-_—F+=-A segment revenue and results for this year and the year
=T —HIEFEMN P HEEXETRE ended 31 December 2021 do not include any amounts for
BV ELEZSERIELEER 2 these discontinued operations.

EEFE -

— REE—Z-_ZETFE+-_A=+—H 2 During the year ended 31 December 2020, in view of
FFE - HuBHA-TS_F N\ the proposed separate listing of a subsidiary engaging in
AttRz@EmE— TS5l & manufacturing and trading of inks and related products on
REZ BN FRERETHER a stock exchange in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
HEAERNHBATIRPEARHK as further detailed in the circular dated 17 August 2020,
MBI (THE]) FLHERZHBELE the Group revised the organisation of segments that is
M AEECEBITARSEEZERR used to allocate resources and assess performance. The inks
HIERIB I HEBE  HESER segment in 2020 includes the manufacture of and trading
TEEFARNEREERRER in inks and related products, excluding other chemical
HEAES TBERBEENNHED S products which were previously reported under the inks
EHFE2HROAEMIETESR - ALt segment. As a result, the corresponding segment revenue
HE-_T-—hWF+-_A=+—H1t and results for the year ended 31 December 2019 have
FEHESBEEBREBECEN been re-presented.

ER I

N REBHBRERES i In addition, the Group’s operation relating to the

CETEGFNERBRNEAERE manufacture of and trading in other chemical products

BRENEBEHRAFERBEFE (A together with the business engaging in car maintenance

BR)HEEIERSENELE services do not meet the quantitative threshold for

Ko MREIBERIEMIEHES - reportable segment in both current and prior year (if
applicable). Accordingly these were aggregated and
presented in “Others”.

= REEZZE-—NF+=ZA=+—H 3 During the year ended 31 December 2018, in view of the
IFE ERYESIELEBEZEE continuing significance of the operation of the properties
MR KEEEETRARIEE segment, the Group revised the organisation of segments
BREERR D BER  KEE that are used to allocate resources and assess performance,
MAFTDEE—W% - and considered to include a new segment, namely

properties.

ERILIKEBRLE — T —FEFR
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Analysis of Revenue and

Segment Results for the Past Five Years

e sl g
DEEE Segment Results
BET-A=+t-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—g--f ZZ=--F ZZZZF ZT-HNF ZZ-)\E
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TR TERT TET TERT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(& E5) (g=51)
(restated) (restated)

B (fri—) Solvents (Note 1) - - 471,454 277,904 344,689

28 Coatings 8,526 (123,503) 51,156 56,574 (6,497)

HEHFZ) Inks (Note 2) 9,424 47,337 60,767 78,616 39,569

A Lubricants (2,113) 19,735 7,593 6,441 (38,660)

WEWit=) Properties (Note 3) 6,247 67,579 981 140,272 138,697

Hit (hfsr=) Others (Note 2) (34,141) (31,511) (12,130) 15,208 i FANA

RHEH Elimination (186) 333 (316) 31 278

k] Total (12,243) (20,030) 579,505 575,046 478,076

Kt - Note:

— REE-—_Z-_—_F+-A=+—H 1 During the year ended 31 December 2022, an operating
IFFE EHAEEREETEBAL segment regarding the manufacture of and trading in
FHEBERZEEDBERIEE raw solvents and related product was discontinued. The
oW FRBEE-_ZT-_—F+=-A segment revenue and results for this year and the year
=T —HIEFEMN P HEEXETRE ended 31 December 2021 do not include any amounts for
BV ELEZSERIELEER 2 these discontinued operations.

Ef % -

— REE—Z-_ZETFE+-_A=+—H 2 During the year ended 31 December 2020, in view of
FFE - HuBHA-TS_F N\ the proposed separate listing of a subsidiary engaging in
AttRz@EmE— TS5l & manufacturing and trading of inks and related products on
REZ BN FRERETHER a stock exchange in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
HEAERNHBATIRPEARHK as further detailed in the circular dated 17 August 2020,
MBI (THE]) FLHERZHBELE the Group revised the organisation of segments that is
M AEECEBITARSEEZERR used to allocate resources and assess performance. The inks
KRB BEAE - HEBESERN segment in 2020 includes the manufacture of and trading
TEEFARNEREERRER in inks and related products, excluding other chemical
HMEER TEEBELEINHESE products which were previously reported under the inks
HTEFRMEMEITER - Bt segment. As a result, the corresponding segment revenue
HE-_T-—hWF+-_A=+—H1t and results for the year ended 31 December 2019 have
FEHESBEEBREBECEN been re-presented.

275 -

o REBEBRENESEHE In addition, the Group’'s operation relating to the

CETEGFNERBRNEAERE manufacture of and trading in other chemical products

RIEHIEERARNERE RBEEE together with the business engaging in car maintenance

BARA)HEFIERSENE services do not meet the quantitative threshold for

Ko MREIBERIEM]EHE reportable segment in both current and prior year (if
applicable). Accordingly these were aggregated and
presented in “Others”.

= REEZZE—N\F+_A=Z+— 3 During the year ended 31 December 2018, in view of the
IHFE ERYELEEEZE continuing significance of the operation of the properties
MR KEEEEITHARDE segment, the Group revised the organisation of segments
R ERIR 2 DB & that are used to allocate resources and assess performance,

MAFID B -

ERLIKERMAF —T-—FEFH

and considered to include a new segment, namely
properties.
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HZE=+=-F=+—HIL5JE For the year ended 31 December
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

RZEZZF+=-A=+—H0 &H
MEELR (FRTEEEEARQR
RS BT EEE) B248% -
TR SEEIH(ZE=—F+=A
=+ —H:366%) cBIEAFANETK
HERGLEINS1%EEREEZ  EEL
KA BAKNBNRE BRI ER
HEFREFENGRTIERBBEERE
BREZRITER (H93EB L) 4 T8
SEBMHIERERB R HIER (B
78EBTT) MR (K6.9EE L) 1
EBRREREREEES AR %
BEARKRTEEERRTLHEFRBER
BEBBERIRBRRERHEES R -

T FAREEERT%S.5% -
EEHeHEZEESEIERRE AR
ERBEARBER RS EBELS
CHE KMEEBMEEZHSRE
FHE BEFAEERHESFEESREA
413,892,000 L (ZE=Z—F : FH &
M A266,372,0008 7T) - HELEF - &
EEBESHHIMNCEERESRA
Rigmd BEFTSHEEEESLFE
FEAMAENTREEBRESRE M
EFEWFHBASKEEBR S RAR
TR MAFRKEEBRE R XFI18
hne

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H £EH
IR1TH /R A2,180,475,000/8 T (==
——%+=-A=+—H :2,149,875,000
BL) cMBEERITER RITE
# LA N 28 4£1,088,116,000/8 7T (= =
——f+=ZRA=+4+—H :758,317,000
BT & - FRITIEE /1,092,359,000
Br(ZE2Z—4F+=ZA=+—8":
1,391,558,000/% JT) ° R 17 8 R 3%
FOER—FRBEEZEBHERE
1,743,650,0008 L (ZE Z—F + =
A=+—H :1,247,042,000/ 7T) °
WMEE¥EME  £+1,541,167,000
7 JC LA B E (B 0 202,483,000 T A
AREFE(ZZE-_—F+_A=+—
H : 704,767,000 jt A& ¥ E &

ERLIKERMAF —T-—FEFH

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's gearing ratio (measured
by net bank borrowings as a percentage of equity attributable
to owners of the Company) was 24.8% (31 December 2021:
36.6%), representing a decline of 11.8 percentage points.
The sale of 51% effective interest in Handsome Chemical was
completed during the year under review and the Group's gearing
ratio was therefore substantially improved. Based on the latest
estimate, in addition to repaying bank loans (approximately
HK$930 million), part of the net sales proceeds after tax and
related expenses will be reserved for investment in existing and/
or new businesses (approximately HK$780 million) whereas
the balance (approximately HK$690 million) will be used for
distribution of dividends and working capital in the future. The
Group will consider to arrange mid-to-long-term loans with banks
in the future to provide liquidity for further business development
and strategic investments.

The RMB exchange rate recorded a depreciation of 8.5% in 2022.
The Group will remain prudent in managing foreign exchange
exposure so as to minimise the impact of RMB fluctuation on its
results. As for operating cash flow, the Group recorded during
the year under review a net cash inflow of HK$413,892,000
(2021: net cash inflow of HK$266,372,000). As compared with
the preceding year, despite a substantial decrease in operating
cash inflow before movements in working capital, the combined
net effect of change in working capital slightly increased the
operating cash flow whereas such net effect last year resulted in
a significant decrease. The operating cash flow this year was thus
increased as compared with the preceding year.

As at 31 December 2022, gross bank borrowings of the
Group amounted to HK$2,180,475,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$2,149,875,000). After the deduction of short-term
bank deposits, bank balances and cash amounting to
HK$1,088,116,000 (31 December 2021: HK$758,317,000), net
bank borrowings amounted to HK$1,092,359,000 (31 December
2021: HK$1,391,558,000). Of the gross bank borrowings,
HK$1,743,650,000 (31 December 2021: HK$1,247,042,000)
were short-term loans repayable within one year. Such loans
were denominated in two currencies, HK$1,541,167,000 in Hong
Kong Dollars and HK$202,483,000 in RMB (31 December 2021:
HK$704,767,000 in Hong Kong Dollars and HK$542,275,000 in
RMB). Long-term loans repayable after one year amounted to
HK$436,825,000 (31 December 2021: HK$902,833,000), and
they were denominated in two currencies, HK$416,667,000
in Hong Kong Dollars and HK$20,158,000 in RMB (31
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

December 2021: all in Hong Kong Dollars). The short-term bank
deposits, bank balances and cash were denominated in the
following currencies: HK$20,330,000 in Hong Kong Dollars,
HK$433,270,000 in RMB, HK$632,534,000 in US Dollars
and HK$1,982,000 in other currencies (31 December 2021:
HK$43,473,000 in Hong Kong Dollars, HK$555,950,000 in
RMB, HK$157,778,000 in US Dollars and HK$1,116,000 in other
currencies).

In anticipation of the substantial cash proceeds to be received
from the disposal of solvents business, the Group did not
arrange for new mid-to-long-term loans for re-financing during
the year under review. However, the Group has increased the
use of its short-term loan and arranged bridging loan to allow
more flexibility for use of fund. As at 31 December 2022,
mid-to-long-term loans (including portions repayable within
one year of HK$486,167,000) accounted for 41% of the
Group’s total bank loans. The Group will monitor the interest
rate fluctuation closely and enter into interest rate swaps or
fixed rate arrangement with the banks to hedge against the
risk of interest rate fluctuation. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group's loans under fixed rate arrangement made up 45% of its
mid-to-long-term loans.

As at 31 December 2022, excluding the banking facilities
of solvents business, a total of 19 banks in Hong Kong and
Mainland China granted banking facilities in aggregate of
HK$3,298,994,000 to the Group. Of these banking facilities,
68% and 32% were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and RMB
respectively. The Group will continue to strike an optimal balance
between lowering borrowing costs and minimising currency
exposure by structuring a favourable combination of Hong Kong
Dollars, US Dollars, RMB or other foreign currency bank loans in
Hong Kong and Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
investments, pledged assets and significant contingent liabilities.
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Awards and Recognitions

% /& HONG KONG

BEEREBRER

201 F (BB BRBR|— [RERIRBIEERME]
Hong Kong Brand Development Council

Hong Kong Top Brand Awards 2021 — Camel awarded as
Hong Kong Top Brand

EREEEERS

2022 77 ] FF A 55 R AR [ 5 R

Hong Kong Management Association

Hong Kong Sustainability Award 2022 — Certificate of
Excellence

b B & #tt MAINLAND CHINA

{Ink World) &

2022 R BMEEI6N REINBERE  HFRUHE
WA E

Ink World

Ranked 16" in the International Ink Companies 2022, and
ranked 1% in Mainland China, in terms of sales revenue

ERMERER

FEHESGR G EM R T (L TIT%)—
HEERMEE(ERUFERTALRE)

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency (HKQAA)
Management Award for ESG Contribution (Chemical
Industry) — Social Contribution Organisation (Build up
Sustainable Cities & Communities)

{Coatings World) % &

20221 AR KI D480 - REINBERE6 - B AHE
BAHE

Coatings World

Ranked 48" in the International Coatings Companies
2022, and ranked 6 in Mainland China, in terms of sales
revenue

MerComm Inc.

iNOVA Awards 2022 —

BERE RN HeRERAREGRE

MerComm Inc.

iINOVA Awards 2022 - Bronze in Specialty Reports —
Environmental, Social & Governance Report

AR RLHE

E+=ZEleRE]— [REABZHRE]  [HEREZ
R | R 2R} e Al 37 42

27580.cn

The 13" Golden Paint Award — Outstanding Interior Wall
Coatings Brand, Outstanding Furniture Coatings Brand and
Coatings Brand Innovation Award

ERLEREHE

154 Plus[ 7 SR B 12 | 256

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
15 Years Plus “Caring Company” Logo

B ZRBERE

20228 B K L& ) Mg R ERE N @R
ibuychem.com & coatings.hc360.com

Art Coatings Influential Brand and Wall Coatings Influential
Brand 2022

BEEREEGS

BEREEMEKK2022 — EARE

Chief Happiness Officer Association

CHO Appreciation Awards 2022 — Company Award

tETREMEELERS

T EREERT

Shanghai Municipal Commission of Economy and
Informatization

Shanghai Municipal Technologically Advanced Enterprises

R g @ AE 8

(e R=s+] RIMERIIEMIZRSE

World Green Organisation

“Green Office 5+" and “Eco-Healthy Workplace” Labels

BEBIEIR

ERBAA (RS ATRIE] — AT X

Employees Retraining Board (ERB)

ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme - Manpower
Developer

RRENBRME

= B 1 2

Department of Science and Technology of Guangdong
Province

High and New Tech Enterprises

BeR

[fE&FEEISF+
Mandatory Provident Fund
Good MPF Employer 5 Years+

ER{LIEEMARAT —T- —FEFR

FIEMACEREEEEEE S

02F MABEBEREE (SBHE) TRAYBEER+E
THEME

Zhejiang Tongxiang Economic Development Zone
Management Committee

2022 Tongxiang Economic Development Zone (Gaogiao
Street) Top 10 Outstanding Enterprise Award and Top 10
Best Industrial Enterprise Award

EEIXEE

FIREBLERRALAE2021 — BRRGLEBHKSF+
RRERR

Federation of Hong Kong Industries

BOCHK Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards 2021
— EcoPartner and 5 Years+ EcoPioneer
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Corporate Sustainability

The Group has set its vision of “Towards a Century of Revered
Leadership” in early years which laid a solid foundation to
drive our sustainable development. The Group has instilled the
concept of sustainability into its development strategies and
daily operations, empowering the Group to overcome different
challenges, adapt with times and seize the opportunities to
strengthen our market-leading position.

During the year under review, the Group demonstrated an
unwavering commitment to its “Business with Purpose” principle
by incorporating purpose into business strategies. The Group
continued to promote craftsmanship inheritance and launched
“"Home Is Be-A-Craftsman Experience” programme which
provided youth development opportunities and job experience.
The project passed on painting skills to the youth, and also
provided job placements and industry insights to inspire the
trainees to unleash their potential in life and career.

The Group consistently enhances its sustainability performance,
and issues its Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG”)
Report in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out
in Appendix 27 to the Rules (”Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG report 2022 depicts
our management approaches and initiatives in the aspects of
the environment, communities, employees, supply chains and

customers. Please visit www.yipschemical.com to view the full
report.

PERIFFITERILRBECRAEERBEERYE  SEFFZBHR

“Home Is Be-A-Craftsman Experience” programme which provided youth development

Trainees put their learning into practice during job placements while contributing to the

opportunities and job experience teaches both theoretical knowledge and practical skills.
W
community
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As of 31 December 2022, the Group has a total number of
2,642 employees (2021: 2,900 employees excluding solvents
business), among which 74 and 11 of them are from Hong Kong
and other countries respectively while the remaining 2,557 are
from different provinces in Mainland China. These figures do
not include employees of the associated companies engaged
in the solvents business of the Group as the disposal of 51%
effective interest of the solvents business was completed in 2022.
For details of the disposal, please refer to the heading of “Very
Substantial Disposal in relation to Disposal of Equity Interest in
Handsome Chemical Development Limited” of the “Directors’
Report” section of this annual report.

The Group places great emphasis on the management and
development of human capital. The employees are encouraged
to strive for improvement through internal and external training
programs, job rotations and participation in the Group’'s
educational subsidy programs, facilitating self-development
in knowledge and skills and to maximize their potential in
their work. We offer suitable platform for development of
highly committed and capable employees, regardless of their
background, geographical location or educational level. The
Group regularly identifies talented employees and tailors career
plans to support their continuous development. With versatile
experience in challenging roles in different areas, the current
management team of the Group has risen through the ranks to
positions of management. In addition to the focus of developing
employees internally, the Group also seeks to attract external
talents.

The Group offers a challenging work environment, and sets
up different programs for motivating employees to strive for
improvement and to advance their skills in order to drive the
development of business. From time to time, the Group makes
reference to market trends for reviewing its remuneration
and reward policy so as to ensure reasonable and competitive
compensation and benefits for its employees. These include basic
salary as well as results and individual performance-based bonus
to attract and retain talents.
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The information contained in the section was as of 31 December
2022.

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Ip Chi Shing, aged 74, is the Chairman, co-founder of the
Group and a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ip was
re-designated as a Non-executive Director of the Company since
1 January 2012. He focuses on leading the Board, formulating the
Group’s long-term development strategy and the planning and
inheritability of human resources of the Group etc. Mr. Ip is the
brother of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, the Deputy Chairman of the Group,
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive Director
of the Company as well as a member of the Senior Leadership
Team (“SLT”) and the father of Mr. Ip Kwan, the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of the
Company and a member of the SLT. In 2006, He established “Ip
Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited” with the objectives of
carrying out charity activities in Mainland China and Hong Kong
including fostering education in Mainland China and providing
care for the underprivileged groups in Hong Kong and making
contributions to society.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, aged 63, joined the Group in 1977. Mr. Yip is
the Deputy Chairman of the Group, the Chief Executive Officer of
the Group, an Executive Director of the Company and a member
of the SLT. He also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Yip has over 40 years of experience in the
manufacturing of and trading in petrochemical products. He
is the brother of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group
and a Non-executive Director of the Company, and the uncle of
Mr. Ip Kwan, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an
Executive Director of the Company and a member of the SLT.

Mr. Ip Kwan (Francis), aged 40, joined the Group in 2007.
Mr. Ip is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an
Executive Director of the Company and a member of the SLT. He
also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Ip was previously the Chief Corporate Development Officer
of the Group, the Co-President and the General Manager of
the Advanced Materials Group (formerly known as the Bauhinia
Coatings Group) and an assistant to Directors of the Group. He
is the son of Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Chairman of the Group and a
Non-executive Director of the Company, and a nephew of Mr. Yip
Tsz Hin, the Deputy Chairman of the Group, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group, and an Executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Ip graduated from the London School of Economics with a
Bachelor degree in Government and Economics. Before joining
the Group, he had worked in the investment banking industry for
three years.
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Mr. Ho Sai Hou, aged 56, joined the Group in 2010. He is the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, an Executive Director of
the Company, a member of the SLT and the Company Secretary
of the Company. Mr. Ho also acts as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Before joining the Group, he
acted as chief financial officer, executive director and company
secretary for several listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Ho
holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences Degree in Accounting from
The University of Hong Kong and an Executive Master of Business
Administration (EMBA) with The China Europe International
Business School in 2007. He is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(ACCA). Mr. Ho has over 20 years of experience in accounting,
finance, taxation and company secretarial fields.

Mr. Wong Yuk, aged 59, joined the Group in 2015. He was
re-designated as an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 1 January 2021. Mr. Wong was previously a
Non-executive Director of the Company from 2019 to 2020 and
prior to 1 January 2019, he was a Co-Chief Executive Officer of
the Group, an Executive Director of the Company and a member
of the SLT. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from The University of Hong Kong and
a Master degree in Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1992. Before joining the Group, he
was the Managing Director of China Strategy and Investment at
Methanex, a global market leader in methanol. Mr. Wong had
also worked with Shell group for over 27 years and acted as the
General Manager of Shell Specialties China/Hong Kong and China
Local Senior Downstream Representative. He has over 30 years of
extensive experience in petrochemical industry.

Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick, aged 68, joined the Group as an
Independent Non-executive Director in 2018. He is currently a
chief operating officer of Fung Investment Management Limited.
Mr. Ho previously worked in The Dow Chemical Company for 40
years and retired in 2018. He was the global business director
for Ethylene Oxide, Propylene Oxide and Derivatives in Chemicals
and Metals in Dow headquarter in Midland, Michigan. Mr. Ho
returned to Hong Kong in 1998 and acted as the President for
Dow Chemical, Asia Pacific region and Global Vice President for
Epoxy & Specialty Chemicals and subsequent served as the Asia
Pacific vice president for manufacturing, public & government
affairs. Mr. Ho was the chairman of Association of International
Chemical Manufacturers (AICM) in China and Hong Kong from
2001 to 2003. In all, he has extensive experience in chemical
industry. Mr. Ho holds directorship in certain private companies
within the Fung Group and is an independent non-executive
director of Computime Group Limited. Mr. Ho resigned as an
executive director of Global Brands Group Holding Limited with
effect from 1 July 2022. He holds a bachelor degree in Chemical
Engineering from Queen’s University at Kingston, Canada.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence, aged 44, joined the Group as an
Independent Non-executive Director in 2020. He holds a Bachelor
of Arts in Economics and a Master of Accounting from the
University of Michigan and is a member of American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Mr. Ku joined Knorr-
Bremse Asia Pacific (Holding) Limited, the Asia Pacific regional
headquarters of Knorr-Bremse Group (a company listed on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange) since 2008 and is currently the Finance
Director of Global Business Unit Steering and the Regional
Financial Controller of Commercial Vehicle Systems Asia Pacific.
He acted as an accounting manager in Hong Kong Oxygen &
Acetylene Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Linde Group in
2007. Mr. Ku also worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified
Public Accountants for more than four years. He is the son of
Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, a retired Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company.

Management Executives

Ms. Tse Yik Chu, aged 46, joined the Group in 2009. Ms. Tse is
currently the Director of Group Human Resources and Corporate
Communications as well as a member of the SLT. She holds a
Bachelor degree of Communication from the Hong Kong Baptist
University and a Master of Science in Finance from the National
University of Ireland. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Tse engaged
in corporate affairs in an international oil company. She is also
actively involved in public service and currently a member of
Rehabilitation Advisory Committee and its sub-committee on
Public Education on Rehabilitation under Labour and Welfare
Bureau. Ms. Tse is also a member of Advisory Committee on the
Enhancing Self-Reliance Through District Partnership Program
under the Home Affairs Department, and an executive member of
a non-governmental organisation called Support the Employment
of People with Disabilities (SEPD).

Mr. Kwong Kwok Chiu, aged 58, joined the Group in 1987.
Mr. Kwong is currently the General Manager of the Inks Group.
He was previously an Executive Director of the Company and
a member of the SLT. Mr. Kwong holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (formerly The Open University of Hong Kong) and has
over 20 years of experience in marketing and management of
petrochemical industry.
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Mr. Fung Ping Kwong, aged 59, joined the Group in 2010.
Mr. Fung is currently a Co-President of the Advanced Materials
Group. He was a member of the SLT as well as the Head and
Senior Leader of Group Human Resources of the Group. Mr. Fung
holds a Bachelor Degree in Science (Economics) from The
University of London, a Master Degree in Business Administration
from The University of Warwick and a Diploma in Training
Management jointly conferred by The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and The Institute of Personnel and Development, United
Kingdom. He worked in a number of multi-national companies in
insurance, petrochemical and pharmaceutical industries. Mr. Fung
has extensive experience in different human resources areas
including organisational development, management development,
talent management and employee relations etc. Before joining
the Group, he was the group human resources director of a listed
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Chuen Sang, aged 46, joined the Group in
2003. Mr. Chan is currently a Co-President of the Advanced
Materials Group. He was a member of the Group Management
Committee and Group Financial Controller, and had held various
management positions in various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master degree
in Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of
Science & Technology. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

Mr. Zeng Zhi, aged 52, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Zeng is
currently the General Manager of the Lubricant Group. He was
previously the Financial Controller of Yip’s Lubricant Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Zeng graduated from Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law (formerly Zhongnan University
of Economics) with a Bachelor degree in Accounting. He is a
non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Zeng has 20 years of experience in
petrochemical industry. Before joining the Group, he was a
product material control manager of a listed company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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The Board present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Principal Activities and Business
Review

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries and associates are engaged in the manufacturing
of and trading in solvents, coatings, inks, lubricants, properties
investment as well as other businesses including provision of car
maintenance service and manufacturing of and trading in other
chemical products. During the year under review, except for
the completion of the sale of 51% effective interest in solvents
business and hence Handsome Chemical Development and its
subsidiaries ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company and
became associates of the Company after completion, there were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal
activities during the year under review.

Details in respect of the business review during the year under
review as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”) including, a fair review of the business of the Group
with financial performance indicators including revenue and net
profit of the Group as well as revenue and operating profit of its
business segments, and return on investment properties and an
indication of likely future development in the Company’s business
are explained in the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Report of
the Chief Executive Officer” from pages 6 to 15 of this annual
report. These indicators illustrate the performance of the Group
as a whole and of its individual businesses in terms of business
development and profitability in attaining its corporate vision of
“Towards a Century of Revered Leadership”. The trend of these
indicators for the past five years together with other financial
ratios of return on average total assets and return on average
shareholders’ funds are disclosed in pages 26 to 27 of this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the financial year, if any, can be
found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group's liquidity and financial resources are disclosed in pages
32 to 33. Save for disclosed above, details of the other activities
required to be disclosed are explained as follows:
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Principal Activities and Business
Review (Continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s businesses and prospects as well as financial
conditions and results of operations will be affected by a
number of risks and uncertainties including business risks,
operational risks and financial risks. For business risks, all the
Group’s businesses are mainly carried out in the Mainland
China so it will be subject to the impact from economic
and political development and market situation of Mainland
China. For operational risks, the Group is mainly engaged in
manufacturing of chemical products and it is thus exposed to
various environmental, health and safety risks in its operations.
For financial risks, there will be market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk) for the Group's financial
instruments, and credit risk and liquidity risk associated therewith.
Details of the policies on mitigating these financial risks are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compliance with the Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year under review, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group.

The relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company include, among others, the Companies
Ordinance, the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") and the
relevant laws, rules and regulations in relation to its business
including health, safety and environmental protection, workplace
conditions and employment etc. To ensure compliance with
these requirements of laws, rules and regulations, the Company
has implemented an effective internal control and approval
procedures, and has undertaken risk management and provided
trainings.
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Principal Activities and Business
ReVieW (Continued)
Environment Policies and Performance

The discussions on the Group’s environmental policies are set
out in the “Corporate Sustainability” section on page 35 of
this annual report and will be set out in the 2022 ESG Report
published on the same day of this annual report.

Relationship with Customers, Suppliers,
Employees and other Stakeholders

The Group has a large number of customers and suppliers across
different industries and geographical areas. The Group maintains
good relationships with its customers and suppliers. As the top 5
largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 8% of the
total revenue of the Group, the Directors consider that the Group
has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.
Further details of the credit control system and credit terms
granted to customers are shown in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s relationship with its employees,
investors and Shareholders are set out in the “Human Resources”
and the “Corporate Governance Report” sections on page 36
and pages 61 to 88 of this annual report, respectively.

Emolument Policy and Long-term
Incentive Plan

A general description of the remuneration policy of the Group
is set out in the “Human Resources” section on page 36
of this annual report. The emoluments of the Directors are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and determined and approved
by the Board. The emolument payable to the Directors is
determined with reference to their qualification and experience,
responsibilities undertaken, contribution to the Company and the
prevailing market level of remuneration of similar position.

In addition, the Company has adopted a share option scheme as
incentive/reward to Directors and eligible participants/qualifying
grantees, details of the scheme are set out under the heading
“Share Options” on pages 50 to 53 of this annual report and
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT ' YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

43



44

& A %R 4 GOVERNANCE REPORT

EFEBHREE
Directors’ Report

FENBRN 7 E
HNEBEFEEEEERAA T2 ANS
EARIRRETE A BRR RS
WS R A BT B M A1 o

B

BIEFEE R - AR DA E R 5
EEFRIOBWL EFeE2BRNTEHSE
—E-—E+-A=+—RHIEEEHX
B EFRIRESB I REFRKRE SRR
©75%8 1l - # %85 B4 £28,424,0007%
7T F1426,363,00058 7T - 99k TR —
T XNATAB(EHSR) BAR
MERERINARRBREAM L2
R YR —_ZE-_=F+tB=-+—H(E
HEA)RATBIERA  BRBRESENB
R-Z-=FXARB(EH—)LETH
BERERAFAKE ((REAFRE]) EER
BHEE o

i 2s K B AR A
ARRIEEHTROHBEREBEEAZ
BEFBEHIN NGRS P BREWE30 -
TE-CEREFER ST ERE
B (EERUTIEREIZEN) O
B 2 FFIBEII N AT (R IERE
WM ER A B TE RS M EE36 -

ER{LIEEMARAT —T- —FEFR

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group and appropriations of the profit
of the Company for the year under review are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on page 97 and note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Dividends

During the year under review, an interim dividend of HK10
cents per Share was paid to the Shareholders. The Directors has
recommended the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2022 of HK5 cents in cash per Share and resolved
to declare and pay a special dividend of HK75 cents in cash per
Share, with total amount of approximately HK$28,424,000 and
HK$426,363,000 respectively, both payable to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on Friday, 16 June 2023 and will be
payable on or around Friday, 21 July 2023. The final dividend is
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") to be held
on Monday, 5 June 2023.

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year under review are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of share options of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme and the 2022 Share Option Scheme (as defined
in the heading “Share Options” below) are set out under the
heading “Share Options” hereunder and in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year under review are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity on pages 102 to 103 of this annual report.
The Company's reserves available for distribution of the final and
special dividends represent the share premium, special reserve
and retained profits. Under the Companies Act (as revised)
of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is
available for distribution of or paying dividends to Shareholders
subject to the provisions of its the restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company (the “Memorandum
and Articles”) and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance
with the Memorandum and Articles, dividends can be distributed
out of the share premium and retained profits of the Company
subjected to the satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, which
amounted to HK$1,163,145,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$1,165,169,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment and
Investment Properties

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of the Group during the year under
review are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2022 are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Chairman & Non-executive Director
Mr. Ip Chi Shing (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin (Deputy Chairman)

(stepped down from the role of Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 1 January 2023)

Mr. Ip Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)

(re-designated as Chief Executive Officer with effect from
1 January 2023)

Mr. Ho Sai Hou (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yuk
Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick
Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence

At each annual general meeting of the Company, no less than
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with article 112 of the Memorandum and Articles,
the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting. Mr. Ip Kwan, being an Executive
Director, and Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Mr. Ku Yee Dao,
Lawrence being Independent Non-executive Directors, will retire
from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Apart from retirement by rotation pursuant to the Memorandum
and Articles, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the Non-Executive Director, and all
Independent Non-executive Directors were not appointed for any
specific length or proposed length of service with the Company.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in
Securities

As at 31 December 2022, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, save for the interest of the Directors and chief
executives in the Shares and share options of the Company
set out below, none of the Directors and chief executives has
any interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have taken under such provision of the SFO) or
which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred therein or which were required
to be disclosed herein pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

(a) Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

HEARAE

FEEBRORABRHE SHRE

Number of Shares and underlying shares held otk

B4R RpER RAEE  BREER Approximate

Interests in Interests in Interests in Interests in percentage of

Shares Shares Shares share options' the issued

1A £y A 1A #% share capital of

BEENE Name of Director Personal Family Corporate Personal Total the Company
EEMEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 161,304,532 9,192,000 @ 26,504,000 © - 197,000,532 34.65%
ErEis Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 31,116,248 14,000,000 - - 45,116,248 7.94%
EHE4 Mr. Ip Kwan 11,576,000 - - 200,000 11,776,000 2.07%
L E Mr. Ho Sai Hou - - - 200,000 200,000 0.04%
TREE Mr. Wong Yuk - - - - - _
CENE:S Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick - - - - - -
HEEE Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence - - - - - -

2022 ANNUAL REPORT ' YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

47



48

&6 4% GOVERNANCE REPORT

gL

SRS

Directors’

EER
"2

Report

BETHARN
EERKA

() EERKROD HBROK

&

Hiiz

(a)

ER{LISEARAF

HNERERKE @)

It E R {5 & #F 0 7,098,0000%
HEEKREEERBERE
A 2,094,000/ 8l f E A 4B
EEZ =i

EBRMD DA BEERES
EeBR2AI(—HEEHA
4) (21,200,0000%) 5 B8
ERBEESER R (—HEA
R A F)) (5,304,0000%) Fr 4%
E2ERAFMEXHEL
BESHERAGINRERE
DRI HEAE50% (REEELE
100%) % 60% (EAE B iR H
100%) 2 & R - BURER(E
HFREEEG)  HEWiR A%
BEZMEABRFAELER
D2 o

WERDAEFHFELEZR
BEERBLLEE -

FrEBKERIELTENE
ERATETA -

T FEFR

Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in
Securities (Continued)

(a) Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Out of these Shares, 7,098,000 Shares are jointly held by
Mr. Ip Chi Shing with his spouse and 2,094,000 Shares are
held by his spouse.

These Shares are held respectively by Ip Chi Shing Charitable
Foundation Limited, a charitable organisation (21,200,000
Shares) and Yip's Care Extension Foundation Limited, a
limited company, (5,304,000 Shares). Mr. Ip Chi Shing
controls 50% (together with his spouse control 100%) and
60% (together with his younger sister and brother control
100%) of the voting power at the general meetings of Ip
Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited and Yip's Care
Extension Foundation Limited respectively. He is therefore
deemed to be interested in these Shares held by these two
corporations under the SFO.

These Shares are held by Madam Yip Tso Ka Lai, Brenda, the
spouse of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin.

All the share options are unlisted physically settled equity
derivatives.
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EEIERRRE @ Interests and Short Positions in
Securities (Continued)

(b) RAEQATHEBEIEZR®M - (b) Interests and short positions in shares,
EEIIEAROHESR debentures and underlying shares of the
ERE associated corporations of the Company

FERAHE
Number of shares held WL HE
R4 EE R ER g EERTRAZEDL
Interests in  Interests in  Interests in Approximate
shares shares shares percentage of the
A EY3 2] #% issued share capital of

ESpg Name of Director Personal Family Corporate Total Bauhinia Ink

BErHLE Mr. Yip Tsz Hin - - 1,593,000 1,593,000 0.53%
Wit - Note:

(a) WE(EHFLRHEEN)  Z (@) By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin was deemed to
FHAEEHEERNFILTH be interested in 1,593,000 shares in Bauhinia Variegata
BEREFZDNEREE(ER (representing approximately 0.53% of the issued share
ER)REFERABEMFZ capital of Bauhinia Variegata) held by Zhongshan Yumao
1,593,0000% A% 19 (1h = & 7 Investment Advisory Partnership (Limited Partnership)® (s
2 E B ITIRAN490.53% ) IWHRBREFHAEBELE (BRAR)), in which Mr. Yip
HEHEZ (AP ETHE Tsz Hin held approximately 54.49% economic interest as a
HSEBEHBERERABEEY limited partner thereof.

54.49% 48 FE 2 ) o
For identification purposes only

EETCAATERESTE (BIMEERD Details of the share options held by the Directors under the
ME oMz THRIEAEIRE S FEH Company’s share option schemes (i.e. part of the interests in the
FIRLAT TR [ IREA o underlying shares) are set out under the heading “Share Options”
hereunder.

BEXHREEI)N R —F+= Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
A=+—H &BEXS25THAEY had any interests or short positions in the shares, debentures
SR NN N B AT o] AR B A B 2 AE ] IR or underlying shares or any of the Company’s associated
- EREFIRERD ZERIAR - corporations as at 31 December 2022.
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The old share option scheme of the Company (the “2012 Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted by the Shareholders at
the AGM on 25 May 2012 had expired on 24 May 2022. The
purpose of the 2012 Share Option Scheme was to recognize
and motivate the contribution of the eligible participants and to
provide incentives to them and help the Group and its associates
in retaining the existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Group and its
associates.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the eligible participants
included any employees, advisers, consultants, agents,
contractors, clients, suppliers and/or such other persons, who
in the sole discretion of the Board has/have contributed or may
contribute to the Group and/or any of its associates.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the maximum number
of shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of share options
granted to (i.e. maximum entitlement of) any one participant
in any twelve months shall not exceed one percent of the total
number of issued Shares unless the proposed grant has been
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
by each grantee (and upon payment of a non-refundable nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 by each grantee) until 5:00 p.m. on the
twenty-first business day following the date of offer, provided
that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after expiry or
termination of the 2012 Share Option Scheme. The 2012 Share
Option Scheme does not specify any minimum holding period
or vesting period but the Board has the authority to determine
the minimum period for which a share option in respect of some
or all of the Shares forming the subject of the share options
must be held before it can be exercised. The exercise price of a
share option granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme is
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of
the grant but in any case it shall be at least the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing
price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal
value of a Share. Upon expiry of the 2012 Share Option Scheme,
no further share options will be granted thereunder but the
rules of the 2012 Share Option Scheme will remain in full force
and effect in all other respects to the extent necessary to give
effect to the exercise of outstanding share options granted prior
to its expiration or otherwise as may be required in accordance
with the rules of thereof, and options granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme will continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the rules of the 2012 Share Option Scheme.
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Following the expiration of the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the
Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022
Share Option Scheme”, together with the “2012 Share Option
Scheme” collectively referred to as the “Share Option Schemes”)
by a Shareholders’ resolution passed at the annual general
meeting held on 6 June 2022. The 2022 Share Option Scheme
became effective from 6 June 2022 and, unless otherwise
terminated, will remain in force for a period of 10 years until
5 June 2032. The purpose of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
is to recognize and motivate the contribution of the eligible
participants and to provide incentives to them and help the
Group and its associates in retaining the eligible participants and
recruiting additional employees and to provide them with a direct
economic interest in attaining the long term business objectives
of the Group and its associates.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
share options to eligible participants including any employees,
advisers, consultants, agents, contractors, clients, suppliers and/or
such other persons, who in the sole discretion of the Board has/
have contributed or may contribute to the Group and/or any of
its associates.

The maximum number of shares issued or to be issued upon
exercise of share options granted under the 2022 Share Option
Scheme to (i.e. maximum entitlement of) any one participant
in any twelve months shall not exceed one percent of the total
number of issued Shares unless the proposed grant has been
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. The offer of a grant of share options under the 2022
Share Option Scheme may be accepted by each grantee (and
upon payment of a non-refundable nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 by each grantee) until 5:00 p.m. on the twenty-first
business day following the date of offer, provided that no such
offer shall be open for acceptance after expiry or termination of
the 2022 Share Option Scheme. The 2022 Share Option Scheme
does not specify any minimum holding period or vesting period
but the Board has the authority to determine the minimum period
for which a share option in respect of some or all of the Shares
forming the subject of the share options must be held before it
can be exercised. The exercise price of a share option granted
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme is determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant but in any case
it shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share. Whilst the
2022 Share Option Scheme was adopted prior to the amendment
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which has come to effect on
1 January 2023, the Company will comply with the provisions
under the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules when making
any grants thereafter.
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,E‘% Hﬁ *E (&) Share Options (Continued)
RZEBEZ__F+_A=+—8 " ()RE As at 31 December 2022, (i) share options granted under the
—E R R M AR AT 2R 2012 Share Option Scheme carrying rights to subscribe for a total
& 42 213,600,0000% I% 12 &9 f& IR #E 1) & number of 3,600,000 Shares remained outstanding; and (ii) no
7 RN ERE —T - —BERET share options have been granted under the 2022 Share Option
R AR E - Scheme.
REBEEERN  BEARAQFERETZ During the year under review, movements in the number of share
ERTFTETEENAERL2HBALTER options which had been granted to certain Directors and eligible
Wz 2T participants under the Company’s Share Option Schemes are as
follows:
BREHE
Number of share options
R=BzZf% REBFER W-B-ZF
=13 -A-H REEEE REEEE BAM/## +-A=+-B
TEE MRTE REH R Lapsed/ MR
Exercise BRETRH Outstanding as ~ Granted during Exercised during Cancelled  Outstanding as
BHBH price Exercise period of at 1 January the year the year  during the year at 31 December
Date of grant  per Share share options 2022 underreview  under review  under review 2022
AT
HKS
3
Directors
EpiE “E-Z% 5942 “T-RE-At-AZ
—Rt-H ZZZZE-f+H 200,000 - - - 200,000
Mr. Ip Kwan 11 January 11 January 2015 to
2013 10 January 2023
AtEzE “2-ZF 592 —E-RE-A+—HE
-A+-A “2--%-F+AH 200,000 - - - 200,000
Mr. Ho Sai Hou 11 January 11 January 2015 to
2013 10 January 2023
400,000 - - - 400,000
ETAL
Eligible persons
—3-ZF 5.9 ZE-R%E-f1+-HE
-At-8 A 3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000
11 January 11 January 2015 to
2013 10 January 2023
ks
Employees 3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000
3,600,000 - - - 3,600,000
ROBEERN BT 2 mEEpr During the year under review, there was no share options
B (T sE Rk o granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed under the Share Option
Schemes.
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Share Options (continueq)

As at 1 January 2022, the number of Shares that could be issued
upon exercise of all share options that could be granted under
the then available scheme mandate limit was 51,982,512, which
represented approximately 9.14% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 1 January 2022. As at 31 December 2022 and as
at the date of this Annual Report, the number of Shares that
could be issued upon exercise of (i) all outstanding share options;
and (i) all share options that could be granted under the then
available scheme mandate limit were 3,600,000 and 56,848,409,
respectively, which represented approximately 0.63% and
10.00% of the total number of issued Shares as at 31 December
2022 and as at the date of this Annual Report, respectively.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares
and Debentures

Save as disclosed above and in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year under review
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2022, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, the following Shareholders (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company disclosed above) had an
interest or long position or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were required pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred therein:

Long position in Shares or underlying Shares

FOR R NN
ERITRAZ
Aot
Approximate
percentage of

FiERMEEB  the issued share
RN E 56 M iF Number of capital of the
Name of Shareholder Capacity Notes Shares held Company
ERBL L BRERA 49,381,913 8.69%
Ms. Ip Fung Kuen Beneficial Owner
FMR LLC NGIE: 1 41,203,300 7.25%

Corporate Interest

FIDELITY PURITAN TRUST EnEAA 2 29,571,120 5.20%

Beneficial Owner

ER{LISEARAF

RIBEFMR LLCERR 4t 69 & £ - FMR
LLCRZZEZZF+ - A=+—
HEzm#AB41,203,300f &% -
HH36,871,1200 K HEB
Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLCEEBARE R -
LA K24,332,1800% % 17 i& #@Fidelity
Management Trust CompanyH #
#A8 K EE - Fidelity Management
& Research Company LLC K Fidelity
Management Trust CompanyEFMR
LLCEEHE -

T FEFR

Notes:

(1) Based on information provided by FMR LLC, FMR LLC was
beneficially interested in 41,203,300 Shares as of 31 December
2022, of which 36,871,120 Shares were directly held and managed
by Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC, and 4,332,180
Shares were directly held and managed by Fidelity Management
Trust Company respectively. Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC and Fidelity Management Trust Company are wholly
owned by FMR LLC.
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}% 3 % AFidelity Canada Investors
LLCZ100% A # - MFidelity
Canada Investors LLCH# B Bay Street
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Bay Street Holdings LLCHE B483A
Bay Street Holdings LP2 18%J&# °
483A Bay Street Holdings LPHE A&
Bluelay Lux 1 S.a.r.l2100% /%%
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Investments Canada ULCZ 100% &
1

(2) A2 BFEFMR LLCH AFidelity
Puritan Trust& # # 529,571,120
PPty - &% % B ) B Fidelity
Management & Research Company
LLC(FMR LLCZ 2 BB A ) &
e Bt - ZFR AR BFMR LLC
BN e

R EXHEREN RZTEZ_F+=A
=+—B BEESHE BEEEE
A TRARF S EBEEE (EER
(BHMEEGEN) EXVES) 2 &H - 48
RO KEEBZPEBRE(GES L
EA&HI) FEXVEDZE M AR A A) KB 22 BT #
BEEIORE °

BE HEEOEXL
AlZ Lm#E S

B EHES  RBE-Bo—F =
A=+— B L R R 7 S E E A
BARBEBE HEREEARTZ
(T LB -

A ¥y 25 GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEE8HREE
Directors’ Report

Substantial Shareholders (continued)

Long position in Shares or underlying Shares
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

The Company was further notified that out of the above mentioned
36,871,120 Shares held by Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC, 7,300,000 Shares were advised and hence indirectly
held by Fidelity Investments Canada ULC, which is ultimately
owned by certain employees and shareholders of FMR LLC. Those
employees and shareholders of FMR LLC own 100% equity interest
in Fidelity Canada Investors LLC, which owns 100% equity interest
in Bay Street Holdings LLC, which in turn owns 18% equity interest
in 483A Bay Street Holdings LP. 483A Bay Street Holdings LP owns
100% equity interest in Bluelay Lux 1 S.a.r.l, which in turn owns
100% equity interest in Fidelity Investments Canada ULC.

(2)  The Company was notified by FMR LLC that 29,571,120 Shares
were held directly by Fidelity Puritan Trust, and that such Shares
were managed by Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC,
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of FMR LLC. Therefore, such
Shares are deemed interest of FMR LLC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
are not aware of any other persons who have interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

Saved as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year under review, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's five largest customers accounted for less than
30% of the Group's total turnover. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) or any Shareholder (whom to the knowledge
of the Directors owns 5% or more of the issued share capital of
the Company) as at 31 December 2022 has any interest in the
Group's five largest suppliers.

Corporate Governance

Report on the Company’s corporate governance is set out in
"Corporate Governance Report” on pages 61 to 88 of this annual
report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and as at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of the annual report.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Share Option Schemes as disclosed above, no
equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year under review
or subsisted at the end of the year under review.

Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable
donations of approximately HK$667,000.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Memorandum and Articles provides that each Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or
omitted to be done by him as Director, auditor or other officer
of the Company and in which judgment is given in his favour
or in which he is acquitted, or incurred in connection with any
application in which relief is granted to him by the court from
liability in respect of any such act.

The Company has taken out and kept in force appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Company.

The permitted indemnity provisions and the Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage were in force during the year
under review and as of the date of this annual report.

Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded
as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting standard.
Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements. Among the related
party transactions, each of the following transactions constitutes
a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction
of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Further, each of those transactions constitute a de
minimis transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and
is therefore fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of
the Listing Rules.

(a) During the year under review, the Group paid rent of
HK$960,000 (2021: HK$960,000) to Goldex Investments
Limited which is owned as to 50% by Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the
controlling Shareholder and a Non-executive Director and
50% by his spouse.
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Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions
(Continued)

(b)  During the year under review, the Group received rent and
license fee of HK$384,000 (2021: HK$384,000) and service
fee of HK$53,000 (2021: HK$53,000) from Ip Chi Shing
Charitable Foundation Limited in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing,
the controlling Shareholder and a Non-executive Director
has controlling interest.

(c)  Remuneration paid to Directors pursuant to their service
contracts entered into with the Company or its subsidiaries
are fully exempted transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules. The details of the remuneration paid
to them are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Termination of the Proposed Spin-
Off and Separate Listing of Bauhinia
Variegata on Chinext Board of The
Shenzhen Stock Exchange

During 2022, the Company indirectly held approximately 91.76%
equity interest in Bauhinia Variegata, a company incorporated in
the PRC. Bauhinia Variegata submitted its listing application for
the Proposed A Share Listing to the SZSE on 27 January 2021 and
was notified by the SZSE on 3 February 2021 that the application
for the Proposed A Share Listing was acknowledged. On 5
August 2022, Bauhinia Variegata has made an application to the
SZSE to withdraw its application for listing on the Chinext Board
of the SZSE. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 28 May 2020, 10 June 2020, 21 July 2020,
4 February 2021, 5 February 2021 and 5 August 2022, and the
circular of the Company dated 17 August 2020.

Unless otherwise indicated, capitalised terms used in the heading
of “Proposed Spin-off and Separate Listing of Bauhinia Variegata
on ChiNext Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange”
the same meaning as those defined in the Company’s circular
dated 17 August 2020.

shall have
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Very Substantial Disposal in relation
to Disposal of Equity Interest in
Handsome Chemical Development
Limited

On 15 July 2022, PAGAC Heisenberg Holding Il Limited (the
“Purchaser”), Yip's H. C. (Holding) Limited (“YHC") (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), the Company and
Handsome Chemical Development (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other
things, the Purchaser had conditionally agreed to acquire, and
YHC had conditionally agreed to sell, 4,080 issued shares of
Handsome Chemical Development, which represent 68% of the
total issued share capital of Handsome Chemical Development,
for the consideration of RMB2,295 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,688 million) (the “Disposal”).

Before the completion of the Disposal, Handsome Chemical
Development directly owned approximately 38.88% equity
interest in, and indirectly through its 75%-owned subsidiary, Yip's
Industrial Holdings Limited, owned approximately 48.17% equity
interest in Handsome Chemical. Accordingly, Handsome Chemical
Development owned a 75% effective interest in Handsome
Chemical and the Group disposed of a 51% effective interest in
Handsome Chemical through the Disposal. Handsome Chemical
Development and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
solvents business of the Group.

The Disposal constituted a very substantial disposal of the
Company and was subject to the notification, announcement,
circular and Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules.

All the terms and conditions of the Agreement had been fulfilled
(and/or waiver if applicable) and completion of the Disposal took
place in 2022. Accordingly, Handsome Chemical Development
and its subsidiaries ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Company
and become associates of the Company after completion.

For details regarding the Disposal, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 25 July 2022, 15
September 2022, 20 September 2022 and 6 October 2022, and
the circular of the Company dated 20 September 2022.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement or Contracts

Save as disclosed above, no Director or any entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in a
transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

Contracts Concerning Management
and Administration

No contracts, other than employment contracts with Directors
and full time employees, concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year under review.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Memorandum and Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by the
Company’s auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their
re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ip Chi Shing
Chairman

24 March 2023
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Statement of Compliance

The Board is committed to practicing and achieving a high
standard of corporate governance. The Board periodically reviews
the daily corporate governance practices and procedures of the
Company and its subsidiaries and procures the Company and
its subsidiaries to strictly comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, and the rules and guidelines of regulatory bodies.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has made detailed disclosures in relation to the
accounting period covered in this annual report in compliance
with the requirements set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Also, the
Company has complied with the code provisions of Part 2 of the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct on securities
dealings by Directors and the relevant employees (the “Code
on Securities Dealings”) on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of the Model Code as its own code of conduct
governing dealing by all Directors and relevant employees in
the securities of the Company. After making specific enquiries,
all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and Code on
Securities Dealings for the year under review.
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Group’s Vision and Culture
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Strategy

The Company endeavours to be more environmentally friendly,
service-oriented and end-user focused in future business
development, and will actively pursue business opportunities
related to “household” and “automobile” to diversify and
increase the competitiveness of its product portfolio. For more
details of the Company’s strategy highlights, please refer to
the sections of Chairman’s Statement and Report of the Chief
Executive Officer of this report.

Culture

To drive the sustainable development to attain its corporate
vision, the Company promotes the corporate culture of “TIDE",
which aims to equip colleagues with the qualities of Teamwork,
Integrity, Determination and Excellence. For more details, please
refer to the section of Building Human Capital of the Company’s
website.
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The Company focuses on the
production, sales and marketing
of chemical products for over
half a century. The Company

FE & Vision
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Strives to establish a quality
chemical business platform to
achieve its vision — “Towards a
Century of Revered Leadership”

{&{E Value
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The seven core values outlined
in the Company’s corporate
vision complement each other
and form the cornerstone of

aims at creating a comfortable
and beautiful living environment
for consumers, as well as
promoting sustainable lifestyle
by providing high-quality
chemical products and services.
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the Company’s commitment to
people-oriented management
philosophy and the pursuit of
sustainable development. Please
refer to the inner cover page of
this report for each core value.

The Board has established the Company’s purpose, values
and strategy, and is satisfied that they are aligned with the
Company’s culture. The Company has formulated corporate
strategy for delivering the Company’s objectives and a long-term
business model as the basis to generate or preserve value over
the longer term. For details, please refer to the above heading
of “Group’s Vision and Culture”, and sections of “Chairman’s
Statement — Review and Outlook” and “Report of the Chief
Executive Officer” of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Structure
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The Board

The Board’s principal duties are setting policies, monitoring
the execution of such policies, and providing supervision and
assistance to the overall management of the Group.
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As of the date of this annual report, the Board is chaired by
Mr. Ip Chi Shing and comprised a total of seven Directors,
namely, three Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director
and three Independent Non-executive Directors. During the
year under review, the number of Independent Non-executive
Directors represents more than one-third of the Board which
fulfills the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
Directors as of the date of this annual report were:

Chairman & Non-executive Director
Mr. Ip Chi Shing (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ip Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Sai Hou (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yuk
Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick
Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence

The following changes to the Board composition have taken
place since the date of the last corporate governance report:

(1) Mr. Yip Tsz Hin stepped down from his role as the Chief
Executive Officer with effect from 1 January 2023, but will
remain as the Deputy Chairman, an Executive Director and
a director of various subsidiaries of the Company; and

(2)  Mr. Ip Kwan was re-designated as the Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 1 January 2023.

Biographic details of the Directors as of 31 December 2022 are
set out in the section “Directors’ and Management Executives’
Profiles” on pages 37 to 40 of this annual report. The list of
Directors with their roles and functions is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As of the date of this annual report, Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the
Chairman of the Group and a Non-executive Director, is (i) the
elder brother of Mr. Yip Tsz Hin who is the Deputy Chairman and
an Executive Director; and (ii) the father of Mr. Ip Kwan, who is
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, an Executive Director
and a member of the SLT. Mr. Yip Tsz Hin is the uncle of Mr. Ip
Kwan. To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed
above, there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among members of the Board.



RiE EHRRIE3A3MG - AR F 2 U E
BRBUFNTEEREREERGE
BUEZFERRBE > AARIEMRR
MEBLINTESROEFEANTR
B AT e

BYIEHITEEHINEREBARRQAR
ABIERNTESTHESEEZTF
EEgRATUBLEERBILIAL R
EEE: (\BERSNELEEAEAR
AFEES s FMARERE EMRAUE
313(6) AN - HABEEAEHTTE LT
AIZE3.131&P 5IBARI P B A BB 2 M ey
R RINARBIRABHNBELERRE
TRTESEHERERER ST S
BRIT B EZ 5138 R L5 o

N BETBEER T -_—F— 8
—HEEBIUENTEFTIMFAN - &
EARRBZWEB AR EMERZR R
BRAR (—ERFPBEKYLEEERR
MM B AR [EFHERZRCFID]) 2
EE -AMEELCHERRESZSEAR
TREMBILME - PR ETWARBIE3.13(7)
Eon s ERERE ERAEI 3K
FTA B R BOR - REWT ¢

() FEEE-E—hE—F—B
READTNITEFHEERT
ERE THSRAMAEBY
A¥EE SEREY LAW
BEEEYHARTRATHR
BUBANEBAG R

(i) EMWEEGERMATEEZE CRID
ZEE RHERZRRIDR=
E-N\F+-At+t=-HERBHE
(R ZATERIEET) - it
FTEAEETBREEREFAERR
CRID AEAT 1T BB - I B R
EEZ(FRIDER T _FFN
A+ B -

A ¥y 25 GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIBHRS
Corporate Governance Report

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his and
immediate family members’ independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Company considers all
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent throughout
the year under review.

Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence, an Independent Non-executive
Director, is the son of Mr. Ku Yuen Fun, the former Independent
Non-executive Director, however, the Board considers that
Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence is independent for, among others,
the following reasons: (i) Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence satisfies
all the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules except for Rule 3.13(6) of the Listing Rules solely for him
being the son of a retired Director; and (ii) the Company believes
that Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence is capable of exercising his
professional judgment and draw upon his extensive knowledge
and experience in the accounting and financial industry.

In respect of another Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Yuk, notwithstanding that Mr. Wong Yuk was a
director of Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (£ #I7E &% CF Y1) BPR 2 7)) (a company established
in the PRC and a subsidiary of the Company, “Bauhinia Paints
(Shenzhen)”), within two years prior to 1 January 2021, the date
of his re-designation as Independent Non-executive Director,
Mr. Wong has confirmed, and the Board agrees, that Mr. Wong
is independent and satisfies all the indicative independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, save for Rule
3.13(7) of the Listing Rules, for the following reasons:—

(i) Mr. Wong Yuk has been re-designated from an Executive
Director to a Non-executive Director since 1 January 2019
and has no longer been involved in any daily operations,
management and business of the Group since then and has
played a valuable role to bring objectivity and independent
judgment to the Board’s deliberations; and

(i) Mr. Wong Yuk acted as a director of Bauhinia Paints
(Shenzhen) which applied for deregistration on 13
November 2018 (by then Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen) had
already ceased its business), since then Mr. Wong ceased
to perform any executive role in Bauhinia Paints (Shenzhen)
and the deregistration process of Bauhinia Paints
(Shenzhen) was completed on 10 April 2020.

for identification purpose only
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The Board (Continued)
Operation of the Board

The details of Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings held
during the year under review are set out in the following table:

ESESRCHEREITHA
Number of Board Meetings Attended and Held
FREFT
BEEg HthZEE=E FHITES
ERe3 BREFEER EELEES

Chairman and

Independent

Non-executive

Regular Board Other Board Directors

EEHA Name of Director Meetings Meetings Meeting
EEKLEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 5/5 2/20 11
EFekist Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 5/5 6/20 T3 FN/A
a4k Mr. Ip Kwan 5/5 18/20 5@ FAN/A
ftEZ A& Mr. Ho Sai Hou 5/5 20/20 i FAN/A
FBEAE Mr. Wong Yuk 5/5 2/20 11
EEPIEAS Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 5/5 2/20 1/1
HAE L AE Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 5/5 2/20 11
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During the year under review, the Board had maintained a 100%
attendance rate at the five regular Board meetings and active
participation had been achieved by all Directors throughout the
year. Besides these regular Board meetings, twenty other Board
meetings were convened during the year under review to approve
routine business or discuss any matters that required the Board’s
timely attention.
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and
Input are available to the Board

The Company has established mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism from
the following two aspects:

1. Independence assessment criteria for independent
non-executive Directors

(i)

(i)

annual independence assessment of each independent
non-executive Director according to the Nomination
Policy as set out below and Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and

annual review of tenure of each independent
non-executive Director.

2. Assessment to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

review of the Board and Board committee structure;

management of conflict of interest;

review of remuneration of independent non-executive
Directors;

recruitment channels and procedures for independent
non-executive Directors;

annual review of time commitment of each of the
independent non-executive Directors;

in order to facilitate Directors to properly perform
their duties, all Directors could seek advice from
the Company Secretary or in-house legal team, and
can also seek advice from independent professional
advisors, at the Company’s expense; and

annual meeting between the Chairman and
Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism to
ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board and considered the mechanism effective.
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The Board approved and adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) on 20 August 2013. The Board Diversity
Policy is summarised as follows:

o the selection of candidates of the Board will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service to the Group. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board; and

o the Board will report on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives and monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board will review the Board Diversity Policy once every eight
(8) years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and considered the policy effective. The Group is currently
looking for a suitable candidate of different gender to serve
as a new director through different recruitment channels and
networks or recruitment agency (if necessary), and with specific
industry experience or professional fields, and will comply
with the revised Listing Rules and the code provision(s) of the
Corporate Governance Code regarding gender diversity of board
members on or before 31 December 2024.

The Company has formulated a succession plan to identify and
develop potential employees to fill key positions in the Group.
Human Resources Department hold meetings with general
managers of each operating business and department heads to
identity the talent pool and potential successors for key positions
every year, and also arranged different types of training and
talent development for these potential successors. The selection
of successors based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
to the Group. Measures as mentioned above will be taken by
the Company to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the
Board and key positions for achieving gender diversity.
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The Boa rd (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

As of 31 December 2022, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was as follows:

N\ 10 645

% Female

The Board reviewed the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group as at 31 December 2022 and peer companies and believes
that the gender ratio of the Group was similar to that of peer
companies. Other than compliance with the requirement of
appointment of a new director of different gender on or before
31 December 2024, the Company currently does not set any
plans or measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity
across the workforce.

Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 14 February 2019 which sets out the
criteria and procedures for the selection, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors. The Nomination Policy is summarised
as follows:

o The selection of candidates or re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board will be based on the
following criteria:

(a) Reputation for integrity

(b)  Accomplishment and experience in the chemical or
petrochemical industry, in particular, in the solvents,
coatings, inks, lubricants and other related markets

() Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

(d) Diversity perspectives as mentioned in the Diversity
Policy

(e) Independence for the independent non-executive
directors as defined in Listing Rules

(f)  Any other relevant factors as may be determined by
the Board from time to time

(g) Balanced representation of different management
domain of executive directors

(h) Balanced representation on the Board by executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The nomination and selection procedures are:

(a)

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the Board shall
conduct, at least annually and once every five (5)
years, respectively, a review of the structure, size,
and composition (including skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and consider the Board
succession plan.

Proposed candidate(s) will be asked to submit the
necessary personal information in order for the Board
to assess the suitability of the candidate(s) based on
the above listed criteria.

When any existing member(s) of the Board is subject
to re-election according to the Memorandum and
Articles, the Board shall apply the above listed
criteria to the proposed candidate(s) on his/her/their
re-appointment.

The Board shall ensure the procedures of nomination,
selection and appointment/re-appointment to comply
with the Memorandum and Articles, the law of the
Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules from time to
time.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy once every eight (8)

years or at appropriate times so as to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Board (Continued)
Dividend Policy

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
has been adopted by the Board since 2008 and was revised in
July 2010, January 2012, February 2017 and February 2022,
which includes setting guidelines to be followed by the Board in
deciding whether to recommend dividend out of the profits and
the amount of dividend per share to be distributed. The Dividend
Policy is summarised as follows:

o The Group’s profitability and dividend payout ratio: In
general, the Group's dividend payout ratio is between 40%
and 60% (except in special circumstances);

o Operating environment: If the Group believes that uncertain
operating environment will adversely affect the Group’s
future profitability, the Group may reduce the dividend
payout ratio to retain cash flows;

o The Group’s cash flows and capital and operation
expenditures: In all circumstances, the Group must
maintain sufficient cash flows to meet the daily operation
expenditures arising from operations in both Mainland
China and Hong Kong;

o In addition to cash, dividends may also be distributed in
company Shares, warrants or other forms of securities of
the Company;

o In general, the interim dividend should be approximately
30% to 40% of the projected full-year dividend; and

o In special circumstances, the Group may consider issuing a
special dividend.

The Board reviewed the Dividend Policy on the Board meeting
held on 22 February 2022 and the Dividend Policy will be
reviewed by the Board once every five (5) years or at appropriate
times so as to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Board (Continued)
Whistle-blowing and Anti-corruption Policies

A new whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”) and
system have been implemented and set up during the year under
review for employees and those who deal with the Group (e.g.
business partners and suppliers as well as the general public)
to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) about
possible improprieties in any matter related to the Company.
An excerpt version of the Whistleblowing Policy is available
on the Company’s website. The Company has also embedded
in the employee handbook and staff code of conduct a set of
anti-bribery and anti-corruption policies, including prohibition
of employees from engaging in activities that present a conflict
of interest, completion of a declaration of interest form by
employees at designated levels at new employee orientation
and every year thereafter, as well as policy of acceptance
of advantages and by employees and guidelines for social
entertainment. The whistle-blowing and anti-corruption practices
and policies are fundamental to good corporate governance.

In addition to the captioned Dividend Policy and Whistleblowing
Policy, during the year under review, the Board also reviewed the

following guidelines and policies:

o Group Budget Policy;

. Group Information Policy;
° Inside Information Handling Mechanism;
o Group External Communication Policy;

o Product Quality Safety Risk Management Policy;

o Community Investment, Sponsorship and Donation Policy;

. List of Major Contracts;

o Code on Securities Dealings by Directors and the Relevant
Employees; and

o Terms of Reference of Remuneration Committee.
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The Board (Continued)
Company Secretary

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), Mr. Ho Sai Hou, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year under review, Mr. Ho has duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the role of the Company Secretary
included, amongst others, ensuring that the Directors have
access to all necessary information and that all Board procedures
were followed. The Company Secretary was also responsible for
offering opportunities of continuing professional development to
all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
help ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Directors were also provided with monthly updates
on the Company’s performance, financial position and prospects
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to properly
discharge their duties.

Directors’ Training and Professional
Development

The Company, from time to time, provides in-house trainings for
the Directors in the form of seminars, workshops and reading
materials on the latest development of applicable laws, rules
and regulations, management, financial and business issues to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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Th e Boa rd (Continued)

Directors’ Training and Professional
Development (Continued)

In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in various
professional development seminars and courses. A summary
of training received by Directors during the year under review
according to the records provided by the Directors is as follows:

= 5l
Type of Trainings
BER, R
gER R BE M AR
A BB 3% 3 maE w2y
Seminars
and/or
conferences Reading
In-house and/or and on-line
EENS Name of Director training forums studying
BEEXEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing v/
e S Mr. Yip Tsz Hin v/
e E Mr. Ip Kwan v/
At R L& Mr. Ho Sai Hou v v v
FrasksE Mr. Wong Yuk v
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The Board, as the highest governing body, is collectively
responsible for leading, planning and controlling the businesses
of the Group, and also for performing the corporate governance
duties and functions as more specifically set out in the list of
matters reserved for the Board. During the year under review,
the position of the Chairman of the Board was held by Mr. Ip
Chi Shing, and the position of Chief Executive Officer was held
by Mr. Yip Tsz Hin and the position of Deputy Chief Executive
Officer was held by Mr. Ip Kwan.

As disclosed below, the Company established SLT. During the
year under review, Mr. Yip Tsz Hin and Mr. Ip Kwan oversaw
the works of SLT and other senior management of the Group.
The above structure is to ensure a clear distinction between the
Chairman’s duty to manage the Board and the management’s
duty to oversee the overall internal operation of the Group.
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The Board (Continued)
Delegation by the Board (Continued)

The Board has delegated to SLT broad management
responsibilities, including but not limited to formulating and
implementing policies and business strategies, as well as
supervising the performance of the Group’s different business
segments. During the year under review, SLT comprises a total of
four members, namely Mr. Yip Tsz Hin, Mr. Ip Kwan, Mr. Ho Sai
Hou and Ms. Tse Yik Chu, the first three of which are Executive
Directors.

A formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board is maintained
and is subject to regular review. The more important matters
include:

o setting long-term objectives and strategies

° approving preliminary results announcements

o approving annual budgets

o approving major capital expenditure, acquisitions and
disposals

o establishing risk management policies

o approving notifiable transactions and connected

transactions

o declaring and recommending the payment of dividends

° appointing new Directors

o establishing Board committees

o reviewing and monitoring of internal control and risk

management systems

formulating and reviewing policies and practices on
corporate governance and compliance with CG Code

o reviewing and monitoring policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

o approving major policies and guidelines
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The Board (Continued)
Delegation by the Board (Continued)

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors

o reviewing compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report

Senior Leadership Team

The members of SLT as at 31 December 2022 were:

o Mr. Yip Tsz Hin*
. Mr. Ip Kwan

o Mr. Ho Sai Hou

o Ms. Tse Yik Chu

* Mr. Yip Tsz Hin ceased to be a SLT member with effect from 1
January 2023.

Duties and responsibilities of SLT

o Assist the Board in setting policies and strategies;

o Execute the policies and strategic plans set by the Board;

. Supervise the businesses of subsidiaries; and

o Assist and co-ordinate the operations of subsidiaries, and
maximise the benefits for the Group.

Currently, there are four Board committees, namely
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and health, safety and environment committee (the
“HSE Committee”). Except the HSE Committee, all the board
committees have formulated their specific written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code.
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The Board (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2005.
During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Mr. Wong Yuk. Mr. Ho
Pak Chuen, Patrick was the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee include:

o establishing a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the Group’s remuneration policy;

o making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and
senior management;

o determining the remuneration packages of all individual
Executive Directors and senior management;

o making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors;

° approving the terms of Executive Directors’ service
contracts; and

o reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in
respect of listed issuers’ share schemes which took effect on 1
January 2023, the Company amended the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee on 14 December 2022 and the
revised terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's
website and from the Company Secretary upon request.

REEBEFEN FMEESRITT — K During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
@ SHERZEE 2 EERNEHT one meeting and the attendance of each member at this meeting
m is shown in the table below:

i E =
RE Member Attendance
ER=plE 2= Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 1/1
F B4 Mr. Wong Yuk 1/1
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The Board (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The works performed by the Remuneration Committee in the
meeting included but not limited to:

o reviewed and approved the remuneration of Non-executive
Directors for the year 2022

o reviewed and approved the salary adjustment for Executive
Directors and senior management for the year 2022

o discussed and reviewed the progress of talent development
and succession planning for key positions

o discussed the reward scheme for the year 2022

Directors’ emoluments consisted of payments to Directors in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries. Details of the Directors’ remuneration and
employees’ emoluments for the year under review are set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in November 1998. During
the year under review, the Audit Committee comprised three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ku Yee Dao,
Lawrence, Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and Mr. Wong Yuk, and it
was chaired by Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence. Major duties of the
Audit Committee include:

o reviewing financial information of the Group

o overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures

o monitoring the relationship between the Group and its
external auditor

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and
from the Company Secretary upon request.
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The Board (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year under
review and the attendance of each member at these meetings is
shown in the table below:

HE =
24=} Member Attendance
B A Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 4/4
BB Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 4/4
TBEE Mr. Wong Yuk 4/4
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The works performed by the Audit Committee in these meetings
included but not limited to:

o reviewed the 2021 annual and 2022 interim results before
submitting the same to the Board for approval and in
doing so, the committee focused on material deviations of
the Group’s performance from past year’s results, major
areas of judgment, selection and application of accounting
policies and compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

o received reports from the internal audit department,
discussed material findings with the head of internal audit,
reviewed the adequacy of resources of the internal audit
department and effectiveness of the internal audit function
and approved the internal audit plan;

o reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems in accordance with established
guidelines and procedures;

o discussed the audit plan with the Group’s external auditor
and assessed its independence with reference to its policies
for maintaining independence and reviewed the extent of
non-audit services provided;

o considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function as well as those relating to the ESG performance
and reporting; and

o approved the audit fees paid to the Group’s external
auditor.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee on 20 March 2023.
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The Board (Continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 20 December
2021. The Nomination Committee consisted of one Non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Ip Chi Shing, and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick and
Mr. Wong Yuk, and was chaired by Mr. Ip Chi Shing. Major roles
and functions of the Nomination Committee include:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated to be
nominated as Directors

o assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors
o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and
from the Company Secretary upon request.
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The Board (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review and the attendance of each member at this meeting
is shown in the table below:

i FE &
241 Member Attendance
BEKEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 11
EEIES Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 1/1
FBEA Mr. Wong Yuk 1/1
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The works performed by the Nomination Committee in the
meeting included but not limited to:

. reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

o assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

o reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of board
independence mechanism.

Health, Safety and Environment Committee

The HSE Committee was established in January 2012 in order to
enhance the importance of the health, safety and environmental
protection works to the Group. During the year under review,
the HSE Committee comprised two Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yuk and Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick,
and was chaired by Mr. Wong Yuk. The HSE Committee has
formulated terms of reference which include its major duties
below:

o the adoption and renewal of the Group’s health, safety and
environment policies

o determining the Group’s appetite for health, safety and
environment risk

o managing the Group’s monitoring environment for health,
safety and environment matters, including organisation
structure, reward and punishment systems, resource inputs,
operation culture, etc.
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The Board (Continued)
Health, Safety and Environment Committee

(Continued)
ZESROBEEERNETTHISE During the year under review, the HSE Committee held four
BRENZESHE T HBIREEHYWOT - meetings and the attendance of each member at these meetings
is shown in the table below:

HER
24=1 Member Attendance
FHLEE Mr. Wong Yuk 4/4
&L E Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 4/4
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. reviewed the Group’s health, safety and environment
performance in 2021 and 2022;

o reported and reviewed accidents in recent years and the
follow-up work;

o reviewed the new or revised regulations and requirements
related to health, safety and environment recently issued by
the state and local governments and reviewed the impacts
on the Group; and

. discussed the Group’'s future health,
environment work plan.

safety and

Accountability and Audit
Directors’ and Auditor’s responsibilities

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Group and their announcements
to Shareholders and commit to the presentation of a balanced,
clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group's performance,
position and prospects. The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Auditor’s reporting responsibilities are disclosed in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 89 to 96 of this annual
report.
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Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Furthermore, the Board oversees the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis through the
following structures and processes:

o Various Board committees and sub-committees are set up
with clear terms of reference to monitor risks and controls
of key business activities. These Board committees and
sub-committees engage directly with senior management
of the Group regularly and report to the Board on material
findings and make recommendations to improve the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

o Whilst the Board delegates wide powers to the
management to conduct business activities, it also
promulgates Group Polices (GPs) and establishes Group
Authorization Limits (GAs) to ensure that such activities are
conducted prudently and that proper balance is maintained
between risks and rewards. Under these GPs and GAs, the
management is required to report to the Board regularly
on major operational risks and to seek the Board’s specific
approval on material transactions.

Annually, the Board:
o Receives annual reports from each of its committees and

sub-committees which summarise the businesses covered
during the past year and major work focus for the following

year.

o Conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems
regarding:

. significant risks (including ESG risks) and their
changes;

. financial reporting procedures;

. Listing Rules compliance;
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Risk Management and Internal
ContrOI (Continued)

° significant control failings and weaknesses; and

. adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s financial and internal audit functions as
well as those relating to the ESG performance and
reporting.

Having reviewed the above aspects of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, the Company considers
its risk management and internal control systems effective and
adequate.

The Board adopted “The Group Information Policy and Guidelines
for Handling Inside Information” in 2013 and revised the
aforesaid policy and guidelines on 1 December 2016. The Group
formed a team to manage and control its inside information (the
“IS Team"). The IS Team members include all Board members, the
Chief Financial Officer and all authorised persons. The IS Team
members review and monitor the Group’s activities to identity if
there is any inside information and if so to make accurate and
adequate disclosure in a timely manner.

The Company has an internal audit function. The Internal Audit
Department was set up in 1997 to monitor independently the
implementation of the internal control procedures, compliance
with group policies and to make recommendations on the
effectiveness of the internal control systems. The head of
Internal Audit Department reports to both Mr. Ho Sai Hou (the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group, an Executive Director,
the Company Secretary and a member of SLT) and the Audit
Committee.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

For the year under review, the fee paid/payable to the Group’s
external auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set out as
follows:

E/EAHE

iRt 2 BR & Services rendered Fee paid/payable

FET

HK$'000

FEIZ AR Audit services 2,600
FEEZRE Non-audit services

E P ERE Interim report review 600

HAth Others 1,260

ERLIKERMAF —T-—FEFH
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Shareholders’ Rights

The Company has only one class of Shares. All Shares have the
same voting rights and are entitled to all dividends declared.
The rights of the Shareholders are set out in, amongst others,
the Memorandum and Articles and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands.

Rights and Procedures for
Shareholders to convene a General
Meeting

Pursuant to article 68 of the Memorandum and Articles, a
general meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more Shareholders deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company which carries the rights of voting
at a general meeting.

A general meeting may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one shareholder which is a recognised
clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at a
general meeting of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting to be held
within a further 28 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Rights and Procedures for
Shareholders to convene a General
Meeting (Continued)

Pursuant to article 116 of the Memorandum and Articles, no
person other than a retiring Director shall, unless recommended
by the Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting unless, during the period, which shall be at
least seven days, commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the meeting convened for such election
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary notice
in writing by a member of the Company (not being the person
to be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, of his intention to propose such
person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
and may consist of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more requisitionists.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the Board by post
to the head office and principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, or via e-mail through the Company’s website
(please refer to “Contact Us” at http://www.yipschemical.com).
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Shareholders’ Meetings

The Board strives to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders, and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings to communicate with Shareholders
directly.

The 2022 annual general meeting and an extraordinary general
meeting were held on 6 June 2022 and 6 October 2022
respectively. The attendance of each Director at the general
meetings during the year under review is shown in the table

N below:
BRREBZHERBTHE
Number of General Meetings Attended and Held
BRRBERE BRRFIRE
Annual General Extraordinary General
EENA Name of Director Meeting Meeting
EERSEE Mr. Ip Chi Shing 171 171
ErEiA Mr. Yip Tsz Hin 11 1/1
EHhkaE Mr. Ip Kwan 11 171
fath = 5e 4 Mr. Ho Sai Hou 11 1/1
T B 54 Mr. Wong Yuk 1/1 1/1
EEERIE Mr. Ho Pak Chuen, Patrick 11 0/1
H B L E Mr. Ku Yee Dao, Lawrence 11 I7Al

REBEFEAR  ARRHEBEEXT
VEES BRAMIERANCEH
RARE KRBT A - 7] AR E
WEEZRREHEH -

REEBERERRREBEA

ARRBEERBREERE  LHN
HRBEKTFEERESR ARAREEE
#NEBRBER ((SREHINBEBREK]) -
RERHE BRERR REE E#
ANMKREBBIREBENIEFMIE
5l BRI AR R B ABE TR R
BRAFNDERMER  —HRAEEHE
ME  TERZBRRETEERND
ENRALER  NREFNERFR
VR RIER o

During the year under review, there is no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents. The Memorandum and
Articles is available on the websites of the Company’s and the
Stock Exchange and from the Company Secretary upon request.

Investor Relations and
Communication with Shareholders

The Company highly values the relationship with investors and is
committed to maintaining a high level of corporate governance.
The Company has formulated the Group External Communication
Policy (the “Group External Communication Policy”) to provide
clear procedures and guidelines for the communication with
stakeholders including Shareholders, investors, creditors and
the media. The policy states that the Company should provide
accurate, consistent and transparent information for stakeholders
through different channels in a timely manner, and respond to
stakeholders’ enquiries and opinions in accordance with the
policy, and thus strives to maintain good two-way communication
with stakeholders.
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Investor Relations and
Communication with Shareholders

(Continued)

During the year under review, the Board also conducted a review
of the implementation and effectiveness of the Group External
Communication Policy. Having considered the multiple channels
of communication and engagement in place (see below), the
Board is satisfied that the Group External Communication Policy
has been properly implemented during the year under review and
is effective.

The Group fully understands the importance of maintaining
timely communication with investors and Shareholders. During
the year under review, the Group’s Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications Department built a good long-term
relationship with investors and Shareholders through continuing
dialogues. Immediately after the announcement of interim and
annual results every year, the Group holds an investor briefing or
audio conference. Its recording is uploaded subsequently so that
investors and Shareholders from Hong Kong, Mainland China
and overseas are able to learn timely of the Group’s operating
performance and major development. Apart from results
announcements, the Group also arranges one-on-one meetings
or teleconferences with investors and Shareholders to address
their enquiries as well as understanding their views. The Group's
general meeting is also an important channel to maintain a good
two-way communication with Shareholders who can raise their
questions regarding the business and provide feedback to the
management team directly.

In addition to meeting with institutional investors, the Group
also values its communication with retail investors. Therefore,
media briefings are held regularly to update the media with
the Group’s latest development. To ensure the consistency of
any announcements of the Group, the Group timely uploads
its interim and annual financial reports, announcements, press
releases, presentation materials and etc. to corporate website.
Investors and Shareholders can thus quickly and easily browse
or download the information they need so that they can keep
abreast of the latest development of the Group. The Group
has also set up Yip's Chemical Facebook page and WeChat
subscription page for posting the Group’s latest information
regularly. Investors and Shareholders can also lodge their
enquiries to the Company via post or email anytime.

The Company timely and accurately publishes information
through the aforementioned channels to solicit and understand
the views and opinions of investors. The Group firmly believes
that continuous enhancement of communication helps strengthen
the ties with Shareholders.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
YIP'S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yip's
Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 97
to 308, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key AUdlt Matters (Continued)

How our audit addressed

Key audit matter the key audit matter
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Expected credit losses assessment of trade receivables

We identified expected credit losses Our procedures in relation to ECL
("ECL") assessment of trade receivables  assessment of trade receivables

as a key audit matter due to the included:

significance of trade receivables to the

Group's consolidated financial position e  Understanding key controls on
and the involvement of subjective how the management estimates
judgement and management estimates in the loss allowance;

evaluating the ECL of the Group's trade

receivables at the end of the reporting e  Testing the integrity of

period. information used by management
to formulate the grouping

for collective assessment, as

at 31 December 2022, on a
sample basis, to the supporting
documents; and

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's
net trade receivables, excluding
balances associated with bills received
for future settlement, amounting to
approximately HK$873,630,000, of
which approximately HK$249,494,000 ¢  Challenging management's basis
were past due. and judgement in determining
credit loss allowance as at 31
December 2022, including their
identification of credit-impaired
debtors, the reasonableness

of management's collective
assessment, and the basis of
estimated loss rates applied in
each grouping of various debtors
(with reference to historical
default rates and forward-looking
information).

As disclosed in notes 4 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group identified
debtors that are credit-impaired,

of which the ECL are assessed
individually. The remaining amounts
of HK$873,551,000 are assessed on
collective basis through grouping of
various debtors that have similar loss
patterns based on the Group's interned
credit ratings, repayment history

and past due status. Estimated loss
rates are based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and forward-looking
information.

As disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements,

the Group reversed impairment of
HK$12,359,000 for the year and the
Group's lifetime ECL provision on trade
receivables amounted to approximately
HK$57,737,000 as at 31 December
2022.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matter

(Continued)

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Allowance for inventories

We identified the allowance for

inventories as a key audit matter as the
allowance for inventories is made based
on management's identification of aged
or obsolete inventories and estimation
and judgement on estimating the net
realisable value. As disclosed in note 4
to the consolidated financial statements,

allowance is applied to inventories

based on assessment of net realisable
value by management, by considering

the estimated costs of completion,

current market conditions, aging analysis
and subsequent selling prices of the

inventories.

As disclosed in note 21 to the

consolidated financial statements, as at
31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of inventories, net of allowance, was

HK$416,857,000.

Our procedures in relation to allowance
for inventories included:

Obtaining an understanding of
the Group's provision policy on
inventory and key controls on the
management's assessment on the
allowance for inventories;

Evaluating the reasonableness of
the Group's provision policy on
inventories;

Testing the aging analysis of
inventories, on a sample basis, to
the supporting documents; and

Testing the subsequent sales and
purchases or usage of inventories,
on a sample basis, to the
supporting documents.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report,
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

but does not include the

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and
Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continved)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continved)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor's report is Chung Chin Cheung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE—ZT - —F+—- =+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2022
—Eg=-= T —F
2022 2021
Ff 3 FHRT T T
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
(g=E75)
(restated)
BFREREEK Continuing operations
EER Revenue 5 3,358,509 3,994,160
SHE KR Cost of sales (2,640,783) (3,161,334)
EA Gross profit 717,726 832,826
H Ao Y A Other income 7a 35,397 52,226
H e I &5 18 Other gains and losses 7b 4,319 22,553
HERKHER Selling and distribution expenses (221,749) (266,328)
—MRITEREA General and administrative expenses (563,354) (640,969)
M ER Finance costs 8 (49,468) (31,444)
BAREFAEMEE Reversal of (impairment loss)
W (MR ARERTA recognised for debt instrument
HEfermkasl) 2 at fair value through other
EHETERNE R comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
A E IR
CREBE) 13,178 (42,826)
FE(R B & R R AR Share of result of an associate (174) (710)
BBt R ES 1B Loss before taxation 9 (64,125) (74,672)
M IE Taxation 10 (12,894) (20,228)
REREEBZ Loss for the year from continuing
REERE operations (77,019) (94,900)
BRIEREER Discontinued operations
HEWB ARz Was Gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
R BIR net of tax 32 1,184,156 -
ERIEEEEL 2 Profit for the year from discontinued
I 4t F| operations 12 188,773 669,451
2N 45 | Profit for the year 1,295,910 574,551
Hah2mE () e : Other comprehensive (expense)
income:
SEMVEAERZ Items that will not be reclassified
IE B : to profit or loss:
A EEZ25E %M Exchange differences arising on
EECZENER translation to presentation
currency (397,341) 112,954
BEAREFAEME Fair value changes on financial
Ham s & REE assets at FVTOCI
AR EE (12,896) (4,048)
(410,237) 108,906
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Z-T - —HF+ = f=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E-— —E-—4F
2022 2021
FERT FHBIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(#eE51)
(restated)
HizaEFHEAEED  Items that may be reclassified
ZIERB : subsequently to profit or loss:
HHRTAEEZ Net adjustment arising from
F o hedging instruments 7,098 7,026
E &8N Exchange differences arising
EECENER on translation of foreign
operations (128,841) 47,678
BAREGFAEMEE  Fair value changes on debt
Wz BB IAER instrument at FVTOCI
N EE B - (42,826)
AFABRZEARE Impairment losses for debt
ATAEMEENE 2 instrument at FVTOC! included
BT AN RERE in profit or loss - 42,826
(121,743) 54,704
NEE A (ZH) Other comprehensive (expense)
Wz income for the year (531,980) 163,610
RNEZHEK =BT Total comprehensive income for the
year 763,930 738,161
ZN/NE i3 NS (Loss) profit for the year attributable
(E18) f A to owners of the Company
—REFEELEES — from continuing operations (62,746) (84,944)
—KEADRIEEEEF - from discontinued operations 1,280,576 491,224
1,217,830 406,280
IR R PRGN (Loss) profit for the year attributable
(E18) fo 7 to non-controlling interests
—RAFEREER — from continuing operations (14,273) (9,956)
—KEADRIEEEEF - from discontinued operations 92,353 178,227
78,080 168,271
1,295,910 574,551
REZHW R B Total comprehensive income for the
FE(R{D %R : year attributable to:
2NN S Owners of the Company 763,374 544,938
FEVE R R Non-controlling interests 556 193,223
763,930 738,161
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E—- —E-—4F
2022 2021
B 5 FHET FHBIT
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%)
(restated)
ZN/NE il &Y X e i) Total comprehensive (expense)
(Z ) Wz %m income attributable to owners
of the Company
—REFEEEERS — from continuing operations (290,500) (9,113)
—REERIELEEH - from discontinued operations 1,053,874 554,051
763,374 544,938
BRAR (EE) Earnings (loss) per share
REFHERENEKIE  From continuing and discontinued
TS operations
CHA oS HK214.2 cents{ll  HK72.8 cents&1lll
— 8 - Diluted HK214.2 centsiE 1l HK72.8 centsi# 1l
REFELCEED From continuing operations 13
—ER — Basic (HK11.0 centsi&{l)  (HK15.2 centsi&fll)
— e _ Diluted (HK11.0 centsiBAl)  (HK15.2 cents/&{LL)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

MZZ = —F+=F=+—H At 31 December 2022
—_E_-C ===
2022 2021
k=3 FHERT T
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
M BEKFZE Property, plant and equipment 14 1,130,285 2,456,452
HEYZE Investment properties 15 195,710 135,118
AN Ey Interests in associates 16(a) 1,209,492 5,208
BRARBEFAEMETE  Financial assets at FVTOCI

Wz e mMEE 17(a) 11,098 15,035
RRAREGAER Financial assets at fair value

(MR RERTA through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

BEnl)ceREE 17(b) 177,318 130,781
(Bl Goodwill 18 95,201 149,561
BILEE Intangible assets 19 82,097 81,403
JiE L Bt 5 R R FR IR Amounts due from associates 16(b) 78,164 =
ENEBEYME  MEM&  Deposits paid for acquisition of

BBARKEYEZ property, plant and equipment

Hisa and investment properties 51,037 44,282
MESMITA Derivative financial instruments 23 1,164 249
BEEFIEE E Deferred tax assets 29 6,812 7,441

3,038,378 3,025,530
REEE Current assets
FE Inventories 21 416,857 1,296,801
B 5 W RIA Trade receivables 22(a) 1,249,911 4,589,944
Bt & U IR 3 R TR A Other debtors and prepayments

TRIE 22(b) 2,213,996 715,996
PTESRTA Derivative financial instruments 23 3,728 8,472
RAREFAERZZ Financial asset at FVTPL

TRLEE 17(b) - 6,678
BAREFAEMET  Debt instrument at FVTOCI

Wz BHITA 17(c) - 18,351
RHSRITEFR—RETH  Short-term bank deposits — with

=& R A EIHR original maturity within three

months 24 656,182 10,644
RITRM KRB Bank balances and cash 24 431,934 747,673
4,972,608 7,394,559
REE S Current liabilities

BRI ERTER Creditors and accrued charges 25 1,038,790 3,215,496
BREE Contract liabilities 26 35,258 58,504
JEE -1 %5 5K Taxation payables 233,244 100,613
MTESRTITA Derivative financial instruments 23 - 1,952
HE&E Lease liabilities 27 16,925 30,122

BE——F N5 5 Borrowings — amount due within
one year 28 1,820,317 1,247,042
3,144,534 4,653,729
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZZTZ=F+= A =+—H At 31 December 2022
—E-= =m==
2022 2021
P 5 FERT FHETT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
RBEEFEE Net current assets 1,828,074 2,740,830
BEEBRRBAMS Total assets less current liabilities 4,866,452 5,766,360
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
PTESBTA Derivative financial instruments 23 - 778
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 24,281 104,446
fBEE ——F1% 5 5 Borrowings — amount due after
one year 28 360,158 902,833
EEFIE A E Deferred tax liabilities 29 23,615 30,804
408,054 1,038,861
4,458,398 4,727,499
BARF#E Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 30 56,848 56,848
fi# &5 Reserves 4,349,724 3,745,525
ARATRREMER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 4,406,572 3,802,373
IR ER Non-controlling interests 51,826 925,126
4,458,398 4,727,499
EEgER S =F=A=-+mA#H The consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 308 were
ERERET|EFEI7TE EFI08E 254 approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
BIIRRE - WA TEEREEZ . 24 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:
EEREE EXHE AL Mr. Ip Chi Shing Mr. Yip Tsz Hin
E) ZFE DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-T=-_—F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31

December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRRAARRT
Share Non- Investment Capital ~ Property Non-
Share Share option distributable  Hedging  revaluation ~ Translation Legal Other redemption revaluation  Retained controlling
pitl  premum  reseve  reseve  feserve  feseve  reserve fesene  reseve reseve  reserie profs Total  interests Total
BRE TAAE REEf EARE  NEER
B BREE & B HekE B EXRE ErEE  LBRE L RE  REER &t FAREE At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Fén Thr Tén TEr TEr  TEr TRn T TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TR TEr TEn
(Note a) (Note b) ~ (Note ¢)
(Hita) (i) (i)
RZZZ-5-F-H At1Janvary 2021 55,666 505,188 3738 255,881 (9.232) (2,597) 180,740 191,340 3,262 6,153 121,287 2,094,498 3405924 820,275 4,226,199
REHF Profit for the year = = = = = = = = = = - 406280 406280 168271 574,551
RITBZEFIEE  Echange diferences
MELTEENAE  arising on translation to
BEGZERZEE  presentation currency that
will not be reclassified to
profit or loss - - - - - - 88,002 - - - - - 88,002 2495 112,954
RAEENER Exchange differences arising
MELTERSE o translation of foreign
BBHEZEZEE  operations that may be
reclassified to profit or loss - - - - - - 47678 - - - - - 47678 - 47678
HhIAEEY Net adjustment arising from
FHE hedging instruments - - - - 7,026 = = - - - - - 7,026 - 7,026
ERREFALR  Fair value changes on equity
2ENEZESTA  instrument at FVTOCI
LDAERD - - - - - - - - - - - (404 - (04
ERREFALR  Fair value changes on debt
2ENEZEBTIA  instrument at FVTOCI
ZDRERE - - - - - (@8 - - - - - - (@8 - (@8
SABRZERAE  Impairment losses for debt
SAEB2ERE  instrument at FVTOCI
ZEBTAMAEER incuded in profit or loss - - - - - 08 - - - - - - 088 - 088
TE2ENE Total comprehensive income
()% (expense) for the year = = = = 7,026 (4,048) 135,680 = = = - 406280 544938 193223 738,161
i) Sub-total 55,666 505,188 3738 255,881 (2,206) (6,645 316420 191,340 3,262 6,153 121,287 2,500,778 3,950,862 1,013,498 4,964,360
LENBRASFEE  Release upon disposal of
subsidiaries = = - - - - (655) - - - (118219 118874 - 1591)  (27,597)
BEERFHED  Shares repurchased and
cancelled (278) - - - - - - - - 218 - (10309 (10,309 - (10,309
E1 Transfer - - - - - - - 22,609 - - - (22,609 - - -
BRALFARERE  Dividends paid to owners of
the Company - - o = = = = = = = - (138180) (138,180) - (138,180)
BRADARKZ  Scrip dividends paid to owners
RS of the Company 1460 70,834 - - - - - B - B - (129 - B -
BRIERR Dividends paid to
FERRERE non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - (60,775)  (60,775)
R-F--% At 31 December 2021
tzA=+-A 56,848 576,022 3738 255,881 (2,206) (6,645 315765 213949 3,262 6,431 3008 2,376,260 3802373 925126 4727499
102 EECIKEERLE —T-—FEFRH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-T-——F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

BERELTRR
Share Non- Investment Capital ~ Property Non-
Share Share  option distributable  Hedging revaluati lati Legal Other redemption revaluation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve  feserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests Total
BRE  TAAK REEf BEME  NXER
Bx  RHEE e BE  HNEE BE EARE AERE RURE A fE  REEN A FERER Eh
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000
Tér fEx  TEr  TEx  TEr  TEx  TEr  TEx  TEr TEx  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn TEn
(Note a) (Noteb)  (Note ¢)
(Hita) (With) (Ko
TEHH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - - - 1217830 1217830 78,080 1,95910
EREZ2HIE%E  Exchange differences
MEEREENAE  arising on translation to
BEHZEREE  presentation currency that
will not be reclassified to
profit or loss - - - - - - (319.817) - - - - - (319817)  (77,524) (397,341)
RREENETH Exchange differences arising
MELTEFAE o translation of foreign
BEHEZEREE  operations that may be
reclassified to profit or loss - - - - - - (128841) - - - - - (128841) - (128841)
HATAEEZFEE Net adjustment arising from
hedging instruments - - - - 7,098 - - - - - - - 7,098 - 7,098
BGRAETALR  Fair value changes on equity
2EMEZERTE  instruments at FVTOCI
LRREES - - - - - (12,8%) - - - - - - (12,89%) - (12,8%)
TERENE Total comprehensive income
(%) 8% (expense) for the year - - - - 709 (12,8%) (448,658) - - - - 27830 763374 556 763,930
Nt Sub-total 56,848 576,022 3738 255,881 4892 (19,541) (132,893) 213,949 3,262 6431 3,068 3,504,090 4565747 925,682 5491429
HERBARNED  Release upon disposal of
subsidiaries - - - (41,95) - - 102,561  (163,215) - - - 102,612 - (806,051) (806,051)
HEARMHER  Release upon deregistration of
KER a subsidiary - - - - - - (254) - - - - 254 - - -
KEREAR Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - 663 663
L2 Transfer - - - - - - - 1883 - - - (18,836) - - -
ERADFARERE  Dividends paid to owners of
the Company - - - - - - - - - - - (159,175)  (159,175) - (159,175)
WMEAFEAR  Dividends declared to
BRERRE non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - (68,468)  (68,468)
R=B-zf At 31 December 2022
t=ZA=t-A 56,848 576,022 3738 213923 4892 (19,541)  (30,586) 69,570 3,262 6431 3,068 3,518,945 4,406,572 51,826 4,458,398
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

R —F+ZA=+—HILEFE

B i

ER{EIKEARAF

AP RFEEEE TRFPEARS
AE (TR E]) B2 BB A R B R
BafBrER ARZEWRBA
A2 EARBRAERABEATEEZ
& : (i) AT G E 1B iiE
NEEEBIE -

A] 90K 2 05 E {688 /5 & 78 DA MY
BRRIRIBEAMEMIEE 2 AER
RN 2 °

REBREZE —ZETE+ZA
=+— EIJtiFtlj RO

I) AR AR ([FEHA ORI -
ATBFERFAMAERMDERDAE)
824% 2 Hwm BREAARME
65,883,0007T ° H 1t 7 # 15 FE 4% AR
¥ 5 B SR VL) B+ 4 &5 B £
HBEKRREZHNZEZRE RAER
B A AR B BEE A F S OT)
B2 I 4 o

—=—

T —FEFR

Notes:

(a)

()

For the year ended 31 December 2022

The non-distributable reserve represents capitalisation of retained
profits of certain subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (ii)
expand production operations.

The legal reserve is non-distributable and represents the transfer
of profits of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong pursuant to the legal
requirements in the relevant place of registration.

The Group disposed of 8.24% interest in Bauhinia Variegata Ink
& Chemicals (Zhejiang) Limited (“Bauhinia Variegata (Zhejiang)”)
(formerly known as Bauhinia Ink Company Limited) during the
year ended 31 December 2020 at an aggregate consideration
of RMB65,883,000. The other reserve represents the difference
between the non-controlling interest’s proportionate interest in
Bauhinia Variegata (Zhejiang) and the consideration received. The
decrease in equity interest did not result in a loss of control over
Bauhinia Variegata (Zhejiang).
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-T-——F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
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g —E—
2022 2021
BT F TER FHET
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
(BE5)
(restated)
REXBRMEEZERER Cash flows from operating activities
SEQEEE CBRFAIEIE  Loss before taxation from continuing
operation (64,125) (74,672)
B IEEEER 2 BRTA Profit before taxation from
R discontinued operation 12 215,967 813,870
AT Adjustments for: 151,842 739,198
mEESH Amortisation of intangible assets 2,905 2,047
ME BEREEZHE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 226,445 218,252
—BBERRER L Impairment loss recognised on
ERRREER interest in an associate 4,496 =
REMELAABESZ Gain on fair value change of
Wz investment properties - (66,000)
& B AR 2 W Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net
R - (2,336)
B ER Finance costs 65,385 50,055
A S A Interest income (8,822) (12,087)
BARBEFABEZZEH Gain from change in fair value on
BEANAEERZ W financial assets at FVTPL (6.724) (28,908)
HNEZEBENARE Loss (gain) on change in fair value of
28z EE(lE) foreign exchange forward contracts 65,713 (7,899)
HE FHENE BER Net (gain) loss on disposals/written off
R F () B of property, plant and equipment (41,356) 6,690
fEfE—RHE R e A Share of result of an associate 174 710
REBHEERIER Net (reversal of) impairment loss
HE S REMER recognised on trade and other
RIERER (REER receivables under expected credit
BE)REBEFE loss model (9,860) 60,859
BARBEFAEMEE (Reversal of) impairment loss
Wz BB LA recognised for debt instrument at
ERRCHEERERED) FVTOCI
HEEE (13,178) 42,826
WHEEE (BERRD)#E (Reversal of allowance for) allowance
for slow-moving inventories (1,067) 12,939
qHEEE Written off of inventories 11,388 9,671
HINE B 2= 2 B ¥ 1T AR A 7] Effect of foreign exchange rate
IREESRTEEZTE changes on intra-group balances 3,350 (2,055)
BEBACEEA 2L EET  Operating cash flows before movements
BER in working capital 450,691 1,023,962
FEEM Increase in inventories (49,051) (131,032)
Z 5 W ERIER > (%) Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 955,280 (1,098,282)
H i Wi BR 3R & FE A 5008 Decrease (increase) in other debtors and
> (35 ) prepayments 125,078 (174,185)
ERBRRRESE R (Decrease) increase in creditors and
(RA) accrued charges (941,431) 781,151
AHaECHD) LM (Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (18,807) 13,287
BRI SR 1T A BRI N Increase in restricted bank balance (12,110) -
BEMEECHSE Cash generated from operations 509,650 414,901
B BEMEH PRC Income Tax paid (95,758) (148,529)
KREEBMEEZFRS Net cash from operating activities 413,892 266,372

105



B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

’ mEOREBRER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-T=-—F+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E-C —ET——
2022 2021
Bt FBRT FHET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
(& E5)
(restated)
REXBIEE (FFA) Cash flows from (used in) investing
ZEER activities
BEME  BERZE Purchase of property,
plant and equipment (133,622) (460,009)
BEREYE Purchase of investment properties (35,359) -
BARAREFA Acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL
BRZemEE (42,838) (167,775)
BARAREFAEMEE  Acquisition of financial assets at FVTOCI
sz emBEE (8,735) =
HERARBFABRZ Proceeds from disposal of financial
CRMEEMFIE assets at FVTPL 6,640 66,580
FEINERHELN Settlement of foreign exchange forward
contracts (58,236) -
WEMBARZFREME  Net cash outflow on acquisition of
subsidiaries 31 (8,469) =
HERB AR ZEHE Net proceeds from disposal of
FEE subsidiaries 32 338,478 289,160
ENEEME BE&ZME  Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
i & plant and equipment (52,815) (60,512)
HEME  BERZEZ Proceeds from disposal of property,
FT5 I8 plant and equipment 63,661 3,909
BFIE Interest received 8,822 12,087
REEBHRESE (FTA) Net cash from (used in) investing activities
2EB & 77,527 (316,560)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

—=%F+=H=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E-C —_T-—
2022 2021
B FBRT FHET
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
(& E5))
(restated)
BMEXER (A EEZ Cash flows (used in) from financing
BeH activities
EREE Borrowings raised 1,762,739 2,475,009
BEEE Repayment of borrowings (1,598,871) (1,949,621)
BERERE Dividends paid (159,175) (138,180)
EAREES) Interest paid (61,815) (43,368)
EOLEAE Dividends paid to non-controlling
SO E Y, shareholders of subsidiaries (52,509) (60,775)
XHHEEaRE Payment of lease liabilities (37,206) (36,220)
i1 8 el Shares repurchase 30 - (10,309)
HAEE R R A = Cash paid from the settlement of the
RERziTEERI AR N derivative financial instruments used
ZHE& to hedge interest rate risk (544) (5,547)
MEER (FTR)MEL Net cash (used in) from financing activities
ZERE (147,381) 230,989
ReRkBA&EHFEM Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 344,038 180,801
FHNzRekReEE Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 758,317 565,302
EXSHREEITE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (26,349) 12,214
FRZBRERBASEHR Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year 1,076,006 758,317
Re kB EHER Analysis of balances of cash and cash
vkl equivalents
RETR=EARE 2 Short-term bank deposits with original
RERITFER maturity within three months 656,182 10,644
RelkHe%Ed Cash and cash equivalents 24 419,824 747,673
1,076,006 758,317
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E-T - —F+ = f=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

1.

ER{EIKEARAF

—REMKRZINE
3
ARTA—MEESBEEHA
TZEREAT  ERARE S
BA RS ARA (T8
EH e AARZEMBELRE
DEEWHIBI A FRAFE
HARE -

HAMBREAETES BRI
RARABZMEEEARKE - K
RABBETEREZHRERZ
RE BERARARALE—HKH
R EM 2 ARAFR MA
RO BREEMRERE °

ApalBs—HEEZERAR  HE
TENB AR LEE QA tEE
ERBEERE 2R - HBERE
B MERBERFAEMEAR
HMER (RERESERERY
REEREEHEMIETER) - K
AERN AEBLHEERBE X
BHS1%ER R Bt £E—4F
ERoEERD FEH LGS
XBE2VAERIEEESRET &
— B HF BRI E M ISR E M
12 °

T —FEFR

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Renminbi (“RMB"). The
reason for selecting Hong Kong dollars as its presentation
currency is because the Company is a public company with
the shares listed on the Stock Exchange, where most of its
investors are located in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
principal subsidiaries and associates are engaged in the
manufacture of and trading in solvents, coatings, inks and
lubricants, property investment and holding as well as
other businesses including provision of car maintenance
service and manufacturing of and trading in other chemical
products. During the current year, the Group disposed of its
51% effective interest in solvents business, accordingly the
prior year financial information has been restated to present
the operation of solvents as discontinued operations.
Further details are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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—Z-_—%+=-HA=+—HILF For the year ended 31 December 2022

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

HKFRS 16

Amendments to

HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

beyond 30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment -

Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 2020

Except as described below, the application of the

amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or
after 1 January 2022. The amendments update a reference
in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued
in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010), add
a requirement that, for transactions and events within
the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination and add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS
1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments
to HKAS 8

Amendments
to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants’
Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'
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2. EREEBMB®RE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i)  the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the right exists if the conditions
are met at the end of the reporting period, even
if the lender does not test compliance until a
later date; and
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued)

3 clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2022, the application of the amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes
so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets
and liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised)
and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

115



116

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n O BT F5 RSB 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

ER{EIKEARAF

EAEEMBRE
R 2 &5T

2 FE 1B 1= R E R Z #H
AIEBMKERELEAR
ERAUMBHREERNZ&
HEC)
ERASTERFE125 218
RAIHE—XZE4LZEE
REEEHZBELHE &)
REBIRAEER T -4
— A— BRI RS
o

R—ZZE—_—f+=-HF=+—
H XZEEIwE2ERE
EERMEAEERES A
34,941,000 Jt % 37,335,000 /&
L HPRAREE D BRI
ELCHBEERBEERBEEE
8,690,000/ 7T 9,287,000/ It °
TR ZEBICRBEZER
BRAEYUMEY REL S M
IR a7 (SR EmEREE (1
HA)) ZBAVIBREZRAE -

T FEFR

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction (Continued)

The amendments are effective for the Group’s annual
reporting periods beginning on 1 January 2023.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject
to the amendments amounted to HK$34,941,000 and
HK$37,335,000 respectively, in which the Group will
recognise the related deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities of HK$8,690,000 and HK$9,287,000 respectively.
The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits (or other component of equity, as
appropriate) at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented.
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T - —&+= A=+—HILEJZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain investment
properties and financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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—4#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment
("HKFRS 2"), leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets ("HKAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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T - —&+= A=+—HILEJZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

3 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

3 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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T - —%F+— F=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

3 has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets
under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects
of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does
not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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For business combinations in which the acquisition date is
on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) except for transactions and events within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21, in which the
Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are
not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair values,
except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy on

share-based payment transactions);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are

measured in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with

market terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that does not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.



i S

%
=

g £

H
= I

=)
54

=N S
} bt A

R (&

i
2

FESHHE @
EXBEHIEEWE 2

E¥BaoB)
EEBESHOBEETRE A&
BEATR KBS FE 2R
HEFEEZRERR(AER
BEEHEZER) 2 ARE " M
EEZWREHEE (NE) RER
sH MR E W (EA) PR -
fis Y2 8 B HA AT A8 UL BB 5 2 A e EE
EMSEENE RN EME2E KRS
HRIWBREESTEHRELEDSE
IR E  BIEASEEELESL
Ail FT 15 78 B AR 7R 4 25 BT AR T8 19 [R)
—HEAMR -

[k
WBEBEEZHERRNEBK
BR(2HEBEEBEHREER
B2 ETHER) ZRARREE
BiE(nE) Ik

RETHEANSR BEEIEE
AEEEE(HBA) BEES 6
BEREMSS < HEELEM
i % {8 2k =% 4 5 2 18 5L A &P 2 IR
BENEZERE ZREKFAETE
B—ELEDE -

B 3R &5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n B BT 15 #R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(ZE-—T - —4%F+—F=+—HIL%Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would
be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held
equity interest.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of business
(see the accounting policy on business combinations or
asset acquisitions) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group of
cash-generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating unit
within a group of cash-generating units), the amount
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating
unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the interest in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A point in time revenue recognition:
measurement of complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15"),
revenue from sales of product is generally recognised when
the goods have been delivered or shipped to customer’s
specific location, which is the point of time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of the product
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the
product.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

For contracts in which performance obligations are
completed within the same day, the Group recognises
revenue based on the Group's right to invoice.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted by applying other applicable
standards.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

135



136

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n O BT F5 RSB 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{E=F - —F+=H=+—H1LFZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. MAKSUBHRSE
ZEERETESE

K

32 FEEHHE®

HE#®)

AEBEREBA B

RS

AEBHREEFHRERKEA
HBA12EAXUNKNETBEE
BEEER 8T EEHERAR
HEEwAK e BHEEZH
ENFREAEFHRNANEREAR
AR EERRB BT

EREEE

EREEEZRABLE:

o RRAKBMKR AN ZE
MAENFBERNE REE

S5

s XREBEAZEMNBEE

et EHERB S8

A R

o AKBEBRIFREBRIEH
BE BEHEBEEMNEZ
BItRKHEEEEREER

BRBREZRRBELZ
fist A -
ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of staff quarters that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

3 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

3 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms of the lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
properties under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management, including costs of
testing whether the related assets is functioning properly,
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is classified as
right-of-use assets and included in “property, plant and
equipment” in the consolidated statement of financial
position except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of that item (including the relevant leasehold
land classified as right-of-use assets) at the date of
transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are
reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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(Continued)
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Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and intangible assets other than goodwiill
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and intangible assets other than goodwiill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part
of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance
no longer meeting the definition of cash. Contractual
restrictions affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in
note 24.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale. Materials and
other supplies held for use in the production of inventories
are not written down below cost if the finished products in
which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at
or above cost.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a settlement date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

3 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Investment in debt instrument designated at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the
carrying amount of these debt instruments are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment
to other comprehensive income without reducing the
carrying amounts of these debt instruments. When these
debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Investment in equity instrument designated at FVTOCI

Investment in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investment, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from the investment in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned on
the financial asset, and is included in the “other gains and
losses” line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including
amounts due from associates, trade receivables, other
debtors, short-term bank deposits and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group'’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

(iiy  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

159



160

B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n O BT F5 RSB 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T=

3. MAGEMEBERE
ZEEREFESGE
BUR )

32 FEEHHE®

€RTHE®)
ERMEE#)
SRBEREE)

(v)

BHEEBRRZFERER
(%)

—RME FHREEEXAS
RBANENAEBEZMA
B AR T B AL E IE AU
RezmBRERZEZ8 (1R
VA FER IS B TE < BIR A &
BEER) -

ETESREERZ2HE
HEEBRRNEFTRARE
HRAIEERBEEENS
HEEEENR RER

ERENMmE  AREE
B D A B AERT ROA TR B
o  AHMBR:

s BEBAZHE HRE
SERE 3

e HNBRAXABEE
AP (eI ES) -

EEEER B OM - R
BHEPIKERBERER
U2 EE R REL

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

—4#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External and/or internal credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained
profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debts and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including creditors and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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BHE-_ZT-_—F+_=-H=+—HIL%E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to
which the amortised cost measurement applies as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies
the practical expedient to account for these changes
by updating the effective interest rate, such change in
effective interest rate normally has no significant effect
on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or
financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and
only if, both these conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

o the new basis for determining the contractual cash

flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the change).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair values at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair values at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends
on the nature of the hedging relationship.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments for cash flow hedges (i.e. interest rate swap
contracts).

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents
whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in
offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships
meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

o there is an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument;

. the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

o the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the
quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity
actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated hedging
relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge
ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge)
so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.
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Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness
(Continued)

In assessing the economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument, the Group
assumes that the interest rate benchmark on which the
hedged cash flows and/or the hedged risk (contractually
or non-contractually specified) are based, or the interest
rate benchmark on which the cash flows of the hedging
instrument are based, is not altered as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform.

For changes made to the hedged risk, hedged item or
hedging instrument required by interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group amends the formal designation of
a hedging relationship to reflect the changes by the
end of the reporting period during which the relevant
changes were made. Such an amendment to the formal
designation of the hedging relationship constitutes neither
the discontinuation of the hedging relationship nor the
designation of a new hedging relationship.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Hedge accounting (Continued)

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of hedging reserve, limited
to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item
from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit
or loss and is included in the “other gains and losses” line
item.

When a hedged item in a cash flow hedge is amended
to reflect the changes that are required by the interest
rate benchmark reform, the amount accumulated in the
cash flow hedge reserve is deemed to be based on the
alternative benchmark rate on which the hedged future
cash flows are determined.

For the purpose of reclassifying the amount of gains and
losses accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in order
to determine whether the hedged future cash flows are
expected to occur, the Group assumes the interest rate
benchmark on which the hedged cash flows (contractually
or non-contractually specified) are based is not altered as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform.
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—4#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Hedge accounting (Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit
or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised
in profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised
hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial
asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the hedging reserve are transferred from
the equity (i.e. hedging reserve) and included in the initial
measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or
non-financial liability. This transfer does not affect other
comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects
that some or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow
hedge reserve will not be recovered in the future, that
amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively
only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof)
ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing,
if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised.
Discontinuing hedge accounting can either affect a hedging
relationship in its entirety or only a part of it (in which
case hedge accounting continues for the remainder of the
hedging relationship).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Hedge accounting (Continued)
Discontinuation of hedge accounting (Continued)

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at
that time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or
loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
re-translated.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s
interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of the translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to
non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in Renminbi to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or
loss subsequently.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of foreign operations
before 1 January 2005 are treated as non-monetary foreign
currency items of the acquirer and reported using the
historical cost prevailing at the date of the acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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—4#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.
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—4#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as expenses when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share option reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimation, that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the investment property portfolio of the Group
and concluded that none of the investment properties
of the Group are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, the directors of the Company have determined
that the “sale” presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. For
investment properties located in Hong Kong, the Group
has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties to the extent in which the
disposals of those investment properties are not subject
to income taxes. For investment properties located in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), the directors of
the Company have considered whether potential Land
Appreciation Tax and Enterprise Income Tax upon sales of
those investment properties.

Key sources of estimation
uncertainty

Management had made the following estimations that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements and a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair
value less costs of disposed. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision
of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate,
a material impairment loss or further impairment loss
may arise. Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and
discount rate for certain cash-generating units (or group
of cash-generating units) are subject to higher degree
of estimation uncertainties in the current year due to
uncertainty on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress
and evolve and volatility in financial markets.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives were HK$95,201,000 and HK$50,433,000 (2021:
HK$149,561,000 and HK$51,825,000), respectively. Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note
20.
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4. ERESFHE R4 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

ST AHEBEREZE JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
ZRIR s OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)
R THBEREZEE Key sources of estimation
W ) uncertainty (continued)
BEZEVRREZEHESE Provision of ECL for trade receivables
BAEE
FEERENE S EWKIEZTE S Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for
ZEBLEER M o s @ ECL individually. In addition, for trade receivables which are
BIFEE AW E 5 FE W 3718 3k 15 2 individually insignificant or when the Group does not have
EEWEREIBS K ALK SR reasonable and supportable information that is available
TESHNAIBEN EEE UIRESR without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual
HEEHEEHEEBLLER basis, collective assessment is performed by grouping
BIRIE AR EB A =BT RILE debtors based on the Group’s internal credit ratings. The
FEADEBETERIM - KE management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
EEEBENEEREGEE 5 EKZE ECL of trade receivables based on collective assessment
VEDFEE REERIRE BA through grouping of various debtors that have similar
BB kB 2 R R FE U ER 2 loss patterns, after considering repayment history and
DM WIRBE NS v e past due status of respective trade receivables. Estimated
HHEEESEWZIE 2B loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
BRASHE - HEtELRTIER over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking
BEATEHESHNFELBRME information. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
EHRBAEMEEE - BHEY estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group's
BABRER S EHTE o trade receivables are disclosed in notes 22 and 34.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aged analysis
at the end of each reporting period, and makes allowance
based on management identification of aged or obsolete
inventories and estimation and judgement on estimating
the net realisable value. Estimation of net realisable value
is based on estimated costs of completion, current market
conditions, aging analysis and subsequent selling prices of
the inventories or the related finished products. Where the
net realisable value is less than the carrying amount, the
amount of write-down of inventories to net realisable value
shall be recognised as expense in the period the write-down
occurs. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately HK$416,857,000 (net of
allowance for slow-moving inventories of HK$20,440,000)
(2021: HK$1,296,801,000 (net of allowance for
slow-moving inventories of HK$23,451,000)).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)
Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves certain
assumptions of market conditions which are set out in note
15.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuations of
the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates,
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater
market volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic
may progress and evolve, which have led to higher
degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the
current year. Changes to these assumptions, including the
potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a
result of change in macroeconomic environment, travel
restrictions implemented in Hong Kong and the PRC or
other unexpected incidents would result in changes in the
fair values of the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the
Group's investment properties was HK$195,710,000 (2021:
HK$135,118,000).
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Revenue represents the amount received and receivable
for goods sold and services provided to customers, net
of discounts and sales related taxes, and rental income
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received and receivable from tenants during the year.

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHExT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(geE=5)
(restated)
BEREER Continuing operations
RE—BRERER Recognised at a point in time:
EmiHEEER Revenue from sales of products
— &8 — coatings 1,639,321 2,036,804
—haR — inks 1,340,140 1,497,907
— B8 a — lubricants 298,318 332,472
—ABEREREAM — car maintenance and other
{ETES chemical products 31,843 71,292
R—BRERARER : Recognised over time:
RERERS Car maintenance service 38,574 45,894
BEAHNEXEEE Revenue from contracts with
customers 3,348,196 3,984,369
YIZEAERA Lease income from properties 10,313 9,791
3,358,509 3,994,160
BEEPUE MR Geographical market based on
Mm% : location of customers:
H The PRC 3,229,278 3,853,013
BB Hong Kong 74,326 70,348
HINEEBRE Overseas (mainly including
R EER) countries in South East Asia) 54,905 70,799
3,358,509 3,994,160
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

(Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Sales of products

Revenue from sales of products is recognised at
a point in time when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered or shipped to the customer’s specific
location (delivery). Transactions and handling activities
that occur before the customer obtains control are
considered as fulfilment activities. Following the
delivery, the customer has full discretion to use and
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence
and loss in relation to the goods. The normal credit
term is 30 to 90 days upon delivery.

Car maintenance service

Generally, the car maintenance services are completed
within the same day are there is no credit term
granted for these services. The Group's performance
enhances the assets controlled by the customers as
the assets are enhanced. Revenue from the provision
of car maintenance service is recognised over time
based on the Group’s right to invoice.

The Group uses a practical expedient for not
disclosing the information including the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the
end of the reporting period as these sales or services
have an original expected duration of one year or
less.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment revenue and results

For management purposes, the Group’s reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 included four business
divisions, namely (i) coatings, (ii) inks, (iii) lubricants
and (iv) properties. These divisions are the basis on
which the Group reports its operating segments
information.

Principal activities of the Group’s reportable segments
are as follows:

Coatings - manufacture of and trading
in coatings and related
products

Inks - manufacture of and trading
in inks and related products

Lubricants - manufacture of and trading
in lubricants products

Properties - property investment and

holding of the Group’s
properties not used for
production plants, central
administration office, and
not used for other operating
segments, including but

not limited to properties for
rental
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment revenue and results

(Continued)

In addition, the Group’s operation relating to the
manufacture of and trading in other chemical
products together with the business engaging
in trading of car maintenance products and car
maintenance services do not meet the quantitative
threshold for reportable segment in both current and
prior year. Accordingly these were aggregated and
presented in ‘Others’.

An operating segment regarding the manufacture
of and trading in raw solvents and related products
was discontinued in the current year. The segment
information does not include any amounts for these
discontinued operations, which are described in note
12.

These divisions are the basis on which the Group
reports its operating segment information. The
accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss
incurred for the year by each segment without
allocation of share of result of an associate, interest
income, impairment loss recognised on interest in
an associate, central administration costs, finance
costs and unallocated other income. This is the
information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the Group’s chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s segment revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments for the

BREESTWOT : year under review is as follows:
BFEREEK Continuing operations
FER:
2H e bepepi ng  SEEH Hitr Eis | G
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Elimination Consolidated
T#n TiEn FhR TR THR TR THER TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ-Z--F+ZH Yearended
=+-ALEE 31 December 2022
PEEEE Segment revenue
RPANERE Revenue from contracts
with customers
HAHE External sales 1,639,321 1,340,140 298,318 - 3217,119 70,417 - 3,348,1%
HERHE Inter-segment sales 127 58 708 - 893 3,598 (4,491) -
YA MA GRIEEA  External rental income
BIHRELRE165)  (under HKFRS 16) - - - 10,313 10,313 - - 10313
AREAL KA Inter-segment rental income - - - 3n 3n - (372) -
ok Total 1,639,448 1,340,198 299,026 10,685 3,289,357 74,015 (4,863) 3,358,509
E3 Results
GECEL Segment results 8,526 9,424 (2.113) 6,247 22,084 (34,141) (186) (12,243)
[Efs—HBERREE  Share of result of an
associate (174)
—MBE R RER Impairment loss recognised
BRAREEE on interest in an associate (4,496)
A ON Unallocated income 16,639
AAEER Unallocated expenses (14,383)
BBER Finance costs (49,468)
BEEERKL Loss before taxation from
Gk continuing operations (64,125)

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

189



B #3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n O BT F5 RSB 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. EXHERTEER @ 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) " EEXEREXE (b) Segment revenue and results
(%) (Continued)
BEREER #) Continuing operations (Continued)
PES:
el mE bebab ES - hy Efb it e
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Elimination ~ Consolidated

TET TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

BZ-Z--%£+-H Yearended 31 December

=+-ALEE 2021 (restated)

(BE35)
PEEEHE Segment revenue
RPAENEEE Revenue from contracts

with customers

HIMNHE External sales 2,036,804 1,497,907 332,472 - 3,867,183 117,186 - 3,984,369

PEREHE Inter-segment sales 94 541 742 - 1,377 22,143 (23,520) -
HOEEMARESRE  Extenal rental income

B ERE16%)  (under HKFRS 16) - - - 9,791 9,791 - - 9,791
PERBEWA Inter-segment rental income - - - 372 3N - (372) -
L) Total 2,036,898 1,498,448 333,214 10,163 3,878,723 139,329 (23,802) 3,994,160
*5 Results

PEEE Segment results (123,503) 47,337 19,735 67,579 11,148 (31,511) 333 (20,030)

EE—FEBERFEE  Share of result of

an associate (710)
RARMA Unallocated income 9,095
AARER Unallocated expenses (31,583)
H%ER Finance costs (31,444)
BEEERKL Loss before taxation from
BEAER continuing operations (74,672)
WE S rEREE He WA Inter-segment sales/rental income are charged at the
B UGBV NS E S THE WA similar terms as external sales/rental income.
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5. EXHER2EER @ 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
| N FO R M ATl O N (Continued)
(c) HtbE R (c) Other information
FEREEK Continuing operations
RitEDBERIHEEE Amounts included in the measurement of segment
A HE N7l %8 profit or loss or segment assets:
CER:
2R HE B ng  AEEG Hit ¥ G
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others  Corporate Consolidated
TAn FhL TAn FhL TAn FhL FHn TAn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-B--H+-F Yearended 31 December
St-HLEFE 2022
FRBEERE (HF)  Additions to non-current
assets (Note) 26,500 70,407 1,528 109,871 208,306 14,249 381 222,936
n% BER&REL Depreciation of property,
& plant and equipment 53,381 53,597 4,510 1,128 112,616 17,101 3,182 132,899
BEVAERYH Amortisation of intangible
assets 1,900 142 - - 2,042 863 - 2,905
BHREMBEUFHIER  Netimpairment loss
BHEEBAERTZ  (reversal of) under ECL
BRANERE model recognised on trade
(Bm) =8 and other receivables (10,795) 989 (301) - (10,107) - 700 (9,407)
RHEFE (BE)&E (Reversal of) allowance for
slow-moving inventories 2,801 3,519 (175) - 6,145 (67) - 6,078
BRABHAZMRE  Reversal of impairment
Wz EBTAMH loss recognised for debt
ERAREERRD instrument at FVTOC (13,178) - - - (13.178) - - (13,178)
HEEE Written off of inventories 1,728 5,618 13 - 7,359 (20) - 7,339
e /TEEME BER  Netloss (gain) on disposals/
HfE2 B8 (W) F8  written off of property,
plant and equipment 412 4,382 (1 - 4,793 (2,914) 8 1,887
—AHERAERLZ Impairment loss recognised
ERARESE on interest in an associate - - - - - - 4,496 4,496
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|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)
(c) Other information (continued)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

BEKSEELw) Continuing operations (Continued)
DS
EH ik EEm nE  HREEH Hity % e
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants ~ Properties total Others  Corporate Consolidated
TR TiEn TER TiEn TiER T#r TR T#r
HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000 HK$ " 000
BZE-Z--F1+=H Yearended 31 December
=t+-BLEE 2021 (restated)
(&E5)
FERBEERE (H3E)  Additions to non-current
assets (Note) 35,156 105,808 2,372 - 143,336 13,297 1,364 157,997
VERY: T E VA Depreciation of property,
il plant and equipment 53,527 47,105 4,722 1,163 106,517 29,995 3,888 140,400
BYEERS Amortisation of intangible
assets 1,900 147 - - 2,047 - - 2,047
ESREMBEUGIER  Net impairment loss (reversal
BEEEBAEATZ  of) under ECL model
BRZHERE recognised on trade and
(BR)FE other receivables 68,053 1,223 (7,110) - 62,166 2,000 - 64,166
BRAEFAZM2E  Impairment loss recognised
YHzEBIANE for debt instrument at
EARERSE FvTOCI 42,826 - - - 42,826 - - 42,826
HEEERE Allowance for slow-moving
inventories 1,538 1,689 985 - 4,212 1,729 - 5,941
EHEE Written off of inventories 1,077 1917 120 - 3,114 113 - 3,227
HE/FEEME BE  Netloss (gain) on disposals/
Rk BEWR) written off of property,
ik plant and equipment 1,854 1611 6 (169) 3,302 1,996 4 5,302
HERBARZ (M)  (Gain) loss on disposal of
ER subsidiaries - - - (3,268) (3,268) 932 - (2,336)
BENELAEEEH 2 Gain on fair value change of
Wzs investment properties - - - (66,000) (66,000) - - (66,000)
Mz : IEMBEBEETBRED R Note: Non-current assets excluded those related to
IFREEKR Z2EBE B discontinued operations, goodwill, financial
2. .epT A NEE instruments, interests in associates, amounts due from
NTZRERS - FE YN B associates and deferred tax assets.
AN RIFIERRLETRIEE
= o
ERILIKEBRLE —T——FEFR
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(d) An analysis of the Group's segment assets and

oD EBEERNIEARE segment liabilities by reportable and operating
PP segments is as follows:
BREREEK Continuing operations
25
2R HE BiEH ng SRS Htr G
Reportable
segment
Coatings Inks  Lubricants  Properties total Others Consolidated
THERL T TR T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZZE+=ZfA=+-H  At31December 2022
BE Assets
AERNEEE Reportable segment assets 1,299,083 1,387,991 218,468 218315 3,123,857 112,838 3,236,695
BEHBEE Deferred tax assets 6,812
H KA REE Other unallocated assets 4,767,479
GABAE Consolidated total assets 8,010,986
af Liabilities
BEE0E L Reportable segment liabilities 519,186 606,027 40,730 4,527 1,170,470 67,023 1,237,493
R Taxation payables 233,244
EXHAEBE Deferred tax liabilities 23,615
Hp KA EEE Other unallocated liabilities 2,058,236
GAEARE Consolidated total liabilities 3,552,588
RZZ-Z-%£+ZA=1+-H At 31 December 2021
(&E31) (restated)
AE Assets
EHPBEE Reportable segment assets 1,591,914 1,643,829 250,742 194,937 3,681,422 138,727 3,820,149
EEHBEE Deferred tax assets 7,40
BRIEEEXBRHEE Assets relating to discontinued
operations 5,553,691
ERAREE Other unallocated assets 1,038,808
GREEE Consolidated total assets 10,420,089
8 Liabilities
EHP AR Reportable segment liabilities 672,769 681,542 56,095 3297 1,413,703 164,439 1,578,142
BT Taxation payables 100,613
BEEREAE Deferred tax liabilities 30,804
BRIEEEEKREEE Liabilities relating to
discontinued operations 2,344,410
ERHRAE Other unallocated liabilities 1,638,621
GRERE Consolidated total liabilities 5,692,590
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5. EXHR7EER @

() AEESPERBRREDE

BABEIR

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(e) For the purposes of monitoring segment
performances and allocating resources between
segments:

BREEMEEE &
HISRITHER R|RITE
pRAe - TESH
ITH -BAAEFTA
Htp2HK ez 2/
BEE HTRARGE
AAAERZEREE
KBS RBE 2 fEad
J& o Bk & X B RIR K
HRDBEEEN
MEEENDBREERKE

DR

B FE 5 B3R - R E A
HEE HTTES
BMTRA HETHEER
Hip Ko EAEIN
MEBBIREERE

%
A

it EE R

AEBZEEBRBEP 2
BB R KT FE5@2 7 © BB &
BRI HRELEARABRS
BULEEMRE B2 E 2/
BIBRRZERNERNE—F D

A7 °

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than deferred tax assets, short-term bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, derivative
financial instruments, financial assets at FVTOCI,
certain financial assets at FVTPL, interests in
associates, amounts due from associates and
other unallocated assets; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than taxation payables, deferred
tax liabilities, certain derivative financial
instruments, certain borrowings and other
unallocated liabilities.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue based on geographical location of
customers has been presented in note 5(a). Other than
the PRC and Hong Kong, no further analysis by individual
countries is presented for overseas countries because
such information is not available as not used for internal

reporting.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

Geographical information (continved)

The analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by
geographical location of assets is presented as follows
(note):

BERKEER Continuing operations
—E-C& —EF—
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(1 &%)
(restated)
AR (FTEHDE) The PRC (place of domicile) 1,421,149 1,459,836
BB Hong Kong 133,181 141,285
1,554,330 1,601,121
et SERBEETEEDRILEL Note: Non-current assets excluded those related to discontinued

EEBHREE RKBEEQ
GIPA: £ 4 3 NGBS
H O EREBBEEERSRT
Ho

FTEEF

R ERERA  AEBERE @
NEFEMASELEXEER
10% °

operations, interests in associates, amounts due from
associates, deferred tax assets and financial instruments.

Major customers

No individual customer of the Group has contributed
over 10% of the revenue of the Group for both reporting
periods.
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HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. EEHMKRIEEM 6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

& AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
B EMNTFIN(ZE=—F : 7 The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 (2021: 7)
fEEZXEZ2MEmT : directors were as follows:
HHES FUTES BUEATES
Non-
executive
Executive directors directors  Independent non-executive directors
fHER
ErH 4] At E BEA £ HUE CEL &t AR
Ku Yee Ho Pak
Yip Ip Ho Ip Wong Dao, Chuen, Management
Tsz Hin Kwan Sai Hou  Chi Shing Yuk'  Lawrence Patrick Total  executives

TR TR TR TERx TR TR TR TERx TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hzke) (HzEe)
(Note ¢) (Note )

HBEZFZZFTZA  Year ended 31 December

St-RLEE 2022
e Fees - - - - 200 200 200 600 -
Hthde Other emoluments
HeREMER Salaries and other
(Ftita) benefits (Note a) 4,159 2,729 2,524 1423 480 - - 11,315 12,240
BETa Discretionary bonus
(KizED) (Note b) 5,000 3,000 1,800 - - - - 9,800 6,033
SRARGE R 3318 3 Retirement benefit
scheme contributions 304 252 233 - - - - 789 811
MegsE Total emoluments 9,463 5,981 4,557 1423 680 200 200 22,504 19,084
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6. EEH MK (E S BN 6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
& @) AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
H7E% FHTES BUFHITES
Non-
executive
Executive directors directors Independent non-executive directors
TRER
Et¥ 8 [DheE 5574 Tigt HHE wall CH) N
Ku Yee Ho Pak
Yip Ip Ho Ip Wong Dao, Chuen, Management
Tsz Hin Kwan SaiHou  Chi Shing Yuk! Lawrence Patrick Total  executives

THET TET T THEL THET TET THAT TR THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(M) (i3]

(Note ¢) (Note ¢)

HE-Z-—-%1+-F  Yearended 31 December

=t-AIL%E 2021
ik Fees - - = = 200 200 200 600 -
EhMe Other emoluments
He kAR Salaries and other
(Htika) benefits (Note a) 4,057 2,35 2,532 1,491 320 - - 10,752 11,030
Bl GED) Discretionary bonus
(Note b) 2,649 825 949 - - - - 4423 3,835
RIBRF B Retirement benefit
scheme contributions 295 217 226 - - - - 738 719
Mems Total emoluments 7,001 3,394 3,707 1,491 520 200 200 16,513 15,584
NEFIRITES CMETE S The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
FHEREEAATEAEEFHRSE were mainly for their services in connection with the
FEIRME IR o A EFTRIEHIT management of the affairs of the Company and the
EENBYIERTESE  Me Group. The emoluments of the non-executive directors and
B RFEEAAATEERE independent non-executive directors shown above were
iR 2 RS - mainly for their services as directors and consultant of the

Company.
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6. EEFHMNKRIESM
€ @)

k=3

(a)

ER{EIKEARAF

HE-T - —F+=-A=+—
BLLEE  ULFRESBSEZH
e RhEMEANEEAERS
960,000 7t (Z T = — 4 ¢
960,000/ 7T) °

BBEIEATIZEFELEE
B AARBRA LTS5
BUBORTE -

EFHFEEREHEED
RARBZITRBE KRBT
B EXRERE 2
TEBEFEEERARSITHA
SMRERE M2 -

ERERARBBILIENT

EFE -R-_T=—4F—H—H
HEAERK o

T —FEFR

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The directors’ salaries and other benefits above included
leases rentals of HK$960,000 (2021: HK$960,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics during the year.

Mr. Yip Tsz Hin and Mr. Ip Kwan were the Chief Executive
Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
respectively, and their emoluments disclosed above included
those for services rendered by them as the Chief Executive.

Re-designated as an independent non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 1 January 2021.
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HE—T - —&F+—- A=+—HILEZ For the year ended 31 December 2022
6. EEHM K E SN 6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

£ )

AEBESLME R ALTHIML(Z
T —F:3uU) RARAES
BEZMSEN EXWE - HiR2
(ZB-—%F :2u) AL Z2B&
LI

AND EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2021: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of
the remaining two (2021: two) individuals were as follows:

—E-= —E-—F

2022 2021

FExT FHBIT

HK$'000 HK$'000

e RHMEA Salaries and other benefits 4,994 4,267
BB AEAL Discretionary bonus 8,333 5,253
RARAE A Retirement benefits 106 87
13,433 9,607

FEPESRE A A EEILER
EERSUBERFAL(BRERES)
A REIEMARNEE L E E N
AREER M HBREE -
N R B EEEMEREHA
MEEAHE -

Ef (ZE = —F : 2fu) A&
ZHesEENT

During both reporting periods, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors and five highest paid
individuals, including directors, as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. In addition, no director waived any emoluments
during both reporting periods.

The emoluments of the remaining two (2021: two)
individuals were within the following bands:

—E-= —TE-—F

2022 2021

EEA" BE A

No. of No. of

employees employees

3,000,001 7T 2 3,500,000/% 7T, HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 - 1
3,500,001 7T 24,000,000/ 7T HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 -
6,000,001 7T £6,500,000/% 7T HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 - 1
9,500,001/ 7L 210,000,000 7T HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 1 -
2 2
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6. EEFMRIEES 6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
€ @) AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
THEEBAE (TEBEAARES) The emoluments of the management executives (excluding
2o ESEEWNT : the directors of the Company) were within the following
bands:
—EC-_F —E-—F
2022 2021
BEAH EE AZ
No. of No. of
employees employees
0/ T2 1,000,000/ 7T HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 1 -
1,000,000/ 7T =1,500,0007% 7T HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 - 1
1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007% 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 1
2,000,001 7T £2,500,0007 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2 3
6,000,001/ 7T 26,500,000/ 7T HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 - 1
9,500,001 7c £ 10,000,000/ 7T HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 1 -
6 6

7. Eft Wt A LR H b 7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER

WEREBE GAINS AND LOSSES
BEREXEK Continuing operations
(a) AEEZEMPAFESLE: (a)  The Group's other income mainly comprises:
—EC-CF —EF-—
2022 2021
FHBT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%)
(restated)
FEWA Interest income 5,166 9,269
B R 2 BT 1 Bh Government grants recognised
(PR 5EI) (note i) 18,070 11,922
AE W A (T aE) Compensation income (note ii) 792 16,635
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HE_ZT-_—_F+=F=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
GA'NS AND LOSSES (Continued)

Continuing operations (continued)

(b)  The Group’s other (losses) gains comprises:

7=
—E=-= — T —%F
2022 2021
FET FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(reE5)
(restated)
HINEEEER R H Net exchange loss arising from
i 2 A4 2 VR e 5 5 18 foreign currency balances and
transactions (5,429) (5,223)
HE GEHEWE - BENR  Netloss on disposals/written
Bl FEE off of property, plant and
equipment (1,887) (5,302)
—EMER AR ZEEm L Impairment loss recognised on
D HERMEEIE (Mi:E16) interest in an associate (note 16) (4,496) -
REWERRERTZ Gain on fair value change of
Wz (HFEE15) investment properties (note 15) - 66,000
B 5 I H fth & R IE R Net reversal of (net impairment
EHEEBRAER T2 loss) recognised on trade and
EERBEEEERIFE other receivables under ECL
OR BB 1R % 58) model 9,407 (64,166)
BAAREFAEZE 2SR Gain from change in fair value of
BEAAEBEESZ WA financial assets at FVTPL 6,724 28,908
BB A A 2 F e Net gain on disposal of
(PfF3E32) subsidiaries (note 32) - 2,336
4,319 22,553
B 33 Notes:

() REBE-E-_—_F£+=
BE=+—BL&EE -
N & B gk S b & AR
78 1 Bh B 2R AT 4 B
1,816,000 T (=&
Z—F ) HHEAF
75 BT IR A B0 IR 3L 3 51
gHE -

(i) ZeHEEXEBHRBE_T
=S=GF=ZHA=F=
BilEFEREANKER
5 B AR B BR R BS f
11,801,000 & (=&
ZZFR) - HERE
18 FE U S B 25 ERR o

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised government grants of HK$1,816,000
(2021: nil) in respect of Covid-19 related subsidies,
which were related to Employment Support Scheme
provided by the government in Hong Kong.

(ii) The amount mainly represented the compensation
from insurance claims in relation to a fire incident
amount of HK$11,801,000 (2022: nil) during the year
ended 31 December 2021, which was recognised
in profit or loss when the compensation became
receivable.
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HE-_ZT-_—F+=-A=

8. MKEH

+—H IL % JZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. FINANCE COSTS

BFERKEEK Continuing operations
—E-C —E-—F
2022 2021
FERT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(fE7)
(restated)
RITEEZFE Interest on bank borrowings 47,071 22,035
HEBREZANE Interest on lease liabilities 1,877 5,835
48,948 27,870
B D EWEE ALY B Reclassification of net loss from hedging
BB ME R ZMZE  reserve on interest rate swaps
BHA SR EEBE Y 2 designated as cash flow hedges of
FEE floating rate debts 520 3,574
49,468 31,444
ERILIKEBRLE —T——FEFR
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(2= F - —F+=H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
Continuing operations

—E=- —E-—
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(ggE75)
(restated)
B B AT B 18 TH R 0Bk Loss before taxation has been arrived at
TEIBIRRER after charging:
M BEREEZ Depreciation of property, plant and
e equipment 132,899 140,400
o RTFEEFEITEAR  Less: capitalised in inventories (64,513) (66,009)
68,386 74,391
BEIXA BREES Staff costs, including directors’
B (P 5L6) remuneration (note 6) 580,353 623,878
o RMTEEFRBEITEAR  Less: capitalised in inventories (183,582) (201,618)
396,771 422,260
CHIHER Y Short-term leases expense 5,869 6,288
A A Amortisation of intangible assets 2,905 2,047
% AT B Auditor’s remuneration 2,600 2,800
R AR 2FEM/A  Cost of inventories recognised as expense
(KtzEa) (note a) 2,640,783 3,161,334
H Rz (fisEb) Other expenses (note b) 4,653 6,267
B 5 Notes:
(@ ME=E—_ZTZT-_—_F#+=-A (a) During the year ended 31 December 2022, provision

=+—BLEFE BRAEAX
2 7 SH T & # 5 /36,078,000
Bt (ZZF = —4 :50941,000
B KEY) RIFEFHER
7,339,000 L (=T =—4 :
3,227,000 7T - £&£ &) ©

REEBBE T -__FR
2 —f+-A=+—8H
tFERBREEERESR
MERBEEDONE QR
RPEEHRFTEZEB L
ETHEEER - AEEREH
E-T__F+=ZR=+—
ALEFE#ABMEBZESRS
S ETZEE -

of allowance on slow-moving inventories amounting to
HK$6,078,000 (2021: HK$5,941,000, restated) and written
off of inventories amounting to HK$7,339,000 (2021:
HK$3,227,000, restated) was recognised as an expense.

The amount represented the professional fee in relation
to the proposed separate listing of the subsidiary engaging
in manufacturing and trading of inks and related products
on a stock exchange in the PRC during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021. The Group resolved to withdraw
the application for such proposed separate listing during
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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10. %18 10. TAXATION
BFERKEEK Continuing operations
—E-= — -5
2022 2021
FERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(ggE=751)
(restated)
B A 18 — A [ Current tax — the PRC
RNEE Current year 11,055 11,989
A Withholding tax 986 6,342
12,041 18,331
BN HA R 18 — & A Current tax — overseas
KEE Current year 370 1,069
BEFEBERE Overprovision in respect of prior years
—HFE — the PRC (3,723) =
EEMBEY H (Ke) Deferred tax charge (credit)
(MI5E29) (note 29)
BB Hong Kong 1,001 (292)
H The PRC 3,205 1,120
4,206 828
12,894 20,228

BEEBNEHMAEH & &%
EEEREE_AEBTHREAEG
8. 25% MM KR - MBA—R
&8 7T #5812 16.5% 80 B X
R o NS F S WA B &
B EBRANGEZIZI6.5%0
BE—BRRB -

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.



10. Bi I8 (o)

RNRABEERE BITHEHM
LA RSB HERAHHK
REMS LT RNEKXN LM EFE
B & 75 15 B4R (7 5T 1B 2R B i 7
B916.5%=TH o

BEFBRCEMSHRERDER
BRABHIEH  REKEA A
ZRERE-_ETN\F—H—Hit
A25% °

AEBETRAERLEZWMER
ANEERIERARITRIMERER
AR R B AR 2 B R R AE X
¥ BRERIS%IABHRE -
PEEEMSHRERFTAZER
HEBRRREE -

BB ESRRER T+ KB
RAEEZHFBRA RS T+
BB A —_EENFE—H—
HRERBE 25 F P 5k 2’k EHE
RZMBB-PRELEMBHEZE
HAEBIRE  RE P EZF B K
ABBI% (ZTE=—F:7%) 2
MEBABBNR  RARKET
T B A A BREN 20 A R o R
ZREBERBNH - 16 HB @ s T
REERD KB ERES% (=
T —fF:5%) 2R REMIEN
i o

REEZTE-_—F+ZA=+—
HEFE AEERECEMS
FEBI0% 2 HEGREEFEH—
FRBARERENH ARKE
3,375,000t (48 %5 7 #94,052,000
BIL) ©

REMPDEERELE ZRIA TR
BRARZAEEBITIVERGE -
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10 TAXATION (Continued)

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% from 1
January 2008 onwards.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC
are either eligible as High and New Technology Enterprise
or operating in encouraged industries in Western Region
of China, and are entitled to an income tax rate of 15%.
EIT of the PRC has been provided for after taking these tax
incentives into account.

The withholding tax mainly represented taxation recognised
in respect of interest income derived from loans to
subsidiaries in the PRC and dividends to be distributed from
profits earned by certain subsidiaries in the PRC starting
from 1 January 2008. The withholding tax is recognised
for interest income derived from the PRC at tax rate of 7%
(2021: 7%) and dividends to be distributed from profits
earned by certain subsidiaries in the PRC in accordance with
the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of the PRC
that requires withholding tax with tax rate at 5% (2021:
5%) for dividend upon the distribution of such profits to
the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recognised the withholding tax of RMB3,375,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,052,000) in respect of
disposal of a subsidiary in the PRC with tax rate of 10%
under EIT law.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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10. ﬁ IE (%) 10. TAXATION (continued)
A B S B BR FR AT ES 18 /Y H R a0 The charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
T 3 taxation as follows:
FEREEK Continuing operations
—=E-= — T4
2022 2021
FET FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(&E5)
(restated)
B 56 Al &5 18 Loss before taxation (64,125) (74,672)
WA PR SRETE E25%  Tax credit at the domestic income
(ZZF=——%F:25%) tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) (note)
SrEzBEE R () (16,031) (18,668)
DGR Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
ki tax purposes 17,075 52,001
HEHRRBAZ Tax effect of income not taxable for
By e tax purposes (7.383) (32,504)
RERRIEBEZ Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
MIERE 36,887 27,679
Rz AERHEE Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
EBEZHETE previously not recognised (6,627) (4,021)
HETWE AR Z@EEMZE Effect of income tax on concessionary
HBREH 22 rates for certain subsidiaries (9,819) (9,061)
APk m A FEHF 2 Effect of withholding tax on undistributed
T profits 4,057 1,879
HE—FHKBRARZ Effect of withholding tax on gain on
Wz BN 2 disposal of a subsidiary - 4,052
BEFEBERE Overprovision in respect of prior years (3,723) -
=i Others (1,542) (1,129)
AREFIE Taxation for the year 12,894 20,228
MizE : ANHFTEMMETIERARE Note: The domestic income tax rate is a tax rate in the jurisdiction
B8 KNP EFEFTE B AR where the operation of the Group is substantially based.

B2 B -
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HE—ZT - —F+—- =+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2022
11. 82 11.DIVIDENDS
—E-= —E - —4F
2022 2021
FHET FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRERAIRE ZHEE © Dividends recognised as distribution

—E - —FhEIIR EFHE Interim dividend for 2022 of HK10 cents

108 (= =—4F :
—E-—FHHEER

T 1280 BB Bl AR B

FAZ107810)

18/ ﬂJ—l (— = _ —
— T - TEHRAR
FR167810)

ARREEEREREE T =
F+_A=+—HBLEFEREE HK5 cents (2021:
HABREERSBW (=T =—
FERISEN)  BEEAEY
28,424,000 L (Z & = — & -
102,327,000 7T) - B K A%
FARRRRERRAIEERRE
BEXRKE E#E - AR ESN
HOARE IR IR E FRRT5E

during the year:

(2021: interim dividend for 2021 of
HK12 cents and special dividend of
HK10 cents) per share

—E-—FHRRKRE H& Final dividend for 2021 of HK18 cents
(2021: Final dividend for 2020 of HK16

cents) per share

425 % /R #%426,363,0007 7T ©

RRE-F-—F+-A=+—
BUEFE BT — R HR
BRFR RS RENRK R ZE
B-ETEBRBEREXZEMN
BB ZRIE - REDT :

as follows:

56,848 121,853
102,327 88,621
159,175 210,474

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 of
HK18 cents) per share with total amount
of approximately HK$28,424,000 (2021: HK$102,327,000)
has been recommended by the directors of the Company
and is subject to approval by the shareholders of the
BA Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. The directors of the Company also resolved
to declare a special dividend of HK75 cents per share with
1l ~ total amount of approximately HK$426,363,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, scrip dividend
alternatives were offered in respect of the 2021 interim
dividend and special dividend. These scrip dividend
alternatives were accepted by certain ordinary shareholders,

—E-—F
2021
FHT
HK$'000

Of S cm
[
=

itz

i

Dividends:
Cash
Ordinary share alternative

2022 ANNUAL REPORT

49,559
72,294

121,853
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Z-T - —HF+ = f=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

122.ERIEREEK 12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

RZZE-_—_F+A+HH AR On 15 July 2022, Yip’s H.C. (Holding) Limited (“Yip's
AlzHEEE2EMNBARIERES H.C.”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
(KEE)ER2A(EKEE]) » Company, the Company and Handsome Chemical
AARINRF#HELIEREEBR AR Development Limited (“HSD"), an indirect wholly-owned
([FHELIZRE]  AXRARZMEE subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
2EMBAR)EB—EBBIE=F purchase agreement with an independent third party, in
SIVBEHE NBAEBEES relation to the proposed disposal of 68% equity interest of
EWmELLLERMNGE%RE K HSD, for the consideration of RMB2,295,000,000.

B A AR#2,295,000,0007T °

mELCIZERSRELIEES HSD directly owned an approximately 38.88% equity
(RN T B 5 A 4)38.88% % # & interest in, and indirectly through its 75%-owned
BREHEFIS%EZNNEB A A subsidiary, Yip's Industrial Holding Limited, owned
ERTITXEZEREBRAGHEEES approximately 48.17% equity interest in Handsome
2948.17% M #E - F Ik - i T Chemical Group Limited. Accordingly, HSD owned a 75%
LZERAFBELIEEERE D AE effective interest in Handsome Chemical Group Limited
BISHHERERZ N AERHE and the Group disposed of a 51% effective interest in
RmELLIEBRBR A A K EK Handsome Chemical Group Limited and its subsidiaries.

BRFINS1 % EEEREL -

HELCIZRRENBE AR ([ HSD and its subsidiaries (“HSD Group”) were engaged in
FlEIHREEE|)RBEENE the manufacturing and trading of raw solvents and related
EERRBRMEEEMES - Z products operations. The disposal was completed during
HEPREE-_ZE-_—_F+=HA the year ended 31 December 2022, with control of HSD
=+—HAtFEERK " BatE passed to the acquirer on completion date.

TEROZEFETNTHKAHE
BEWED -

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH



B 3R &5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= /A
ek

B 55 i &5 B 5F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE—_ZT—-—F+—- A=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022
12.BRLEREXK = 12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Continued)
O R IPREERIRE ¥ 2 KE The profit for the year from the discontinued operations of
WREFHNLT - ZEERLEM solvents business is set out below. The comparative figures
iﬁqézﬁni\%a’\]tlgﬁ%(%a%iﬁu in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
AT 225 BB R IFR&E comprehensive income have been restated to present the
R o operation of solvents business as discontinued operations.
BZE H=E
—E-= —ETE-—F
+=A=+-8B +ZA=+—H
tTFE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEIRE R BEE ¥ 2 Profit of operation of manufacturing and
ANELLH trading in solvents for the year 188,773 669,451
HEWBAR ZWzE  Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
(M4 5E32) (note 32) 1,382,862 -
HEMB AR ZFTS% Income tax expense on disposal of
53 subsidiaries (198,706) =
1,372,929 669,451

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Z-T - —HF+ = f=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

1NR.CRUEBEE®E

BRERERBEEXRHEE (EFTA
FEEDskEMEEmEER) &Y

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)

The results of the solvents manufacturing and trading
operation which have been included in the consolidated

mR statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, were as follows:
BZE H=E
—E-= —T-_—%F
+=A=+—-8 +ZA=+—H
LtFEE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
THER FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
=3 Revenue 10,666,671 13,811,237
5B XA Cost of sales (9,832,834) (12,482,640)
E7 Gross profit 833,837 1,328,597
HAth W A Other income 24,040 13,948
H b Was & B 18 Other gains and losses 49,628 10,570
HERKIHEA Selling and distribution expenses (399,413) (329,588)
—RBRITEHER General and administrative expenses (276,208) (191,046)
BHIEER Finance costs (15,917) (18,611)
B A A1 g A Profit before taxation 215,967 813,870
IR Taxation (27,194) (144,419)
NG 4R A Profit for the year 188,773 669,451
BRI ¥ TS 2 RF  Profit for the year from discontinued
ATy (5 A)  operations has been arrived
TIIBIBEZER at after charging (crediting):
M - BREREEZ Depreciation of property, plant and
e equipment 93,546 77,852
B LEMEUFTER Net reversal of impairment loss under ECL
FEHIEEEKREA T  model recognised on trade and other
2 B ERREEE receivables
e (452) (3,307)
JEETFE (B ) &  (Reversal of) allowance for slow-moving
inventories (7,145) 6,998
HHEER Written off of inventories 4,049 6,444
HE FEHEYE - BE  Net (gain) loss on disposals/written off of
Jfsz (Uezk) B8 property, plant and equipment
R (43,243) 1,388
STERKRIEKLEER Amount included in the measurement of
BERTTAZSRE assets of the discontinued operations:
ERBEERE Additions to non-current assets 29,578 649,448

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH
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SEZEHE R FEAB 4255
BEBT(ZEZ—F:32988
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—T - —F: 5ARR253EEE

JL) °
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

12.

13.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, HSD Group
contributed approximately HK$255 million (2021: HK$329
million) to the Group’s net operating cash flows, paid
approximately HK$25 million (2021: HK$391 million) in
respect of investing activities and paid approximately
HK$276 million (2021: contributed approximately HK$253
million) in respect of financing activities.

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of HSD
Group on completion date are disclosed in note 32.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

—E-CF —_ T
2022 2021
FHERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
(#eE51)
(restated)
NR BRI R AN Profit for the year attributable to
#i 5| owners of the Company 1,217,830 406,280
o BRIEEEE 2 Less: Profit for the year from
7N G 45 F| discontinued operations (1,280,576) (491,224)
ARTEFERKESER  Loss for the purpose of calculating basic
ZERERK and diluted loss per share from
BaEB 2 B8 continuing operations (62,746) (84,944)
KRB EE
Number of shares
TR T %
‘000 ‘000
BARsTEEIREANNEE Weighted average number of shares for
[E518 2 hn e 35 AR 2 the purpose of calculating basic and
diluted loss per share 568,484 558,240

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

13.8BF (FiE) = 13.EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

(Continued)
BEREXE®K» For continuing operations (continued)
FESREBEEEER T &ERKRE The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
NElZBREESINBET(ZF the exercise of the Company’s options of exercise prices of
Z—F 59428 ) 2T EBEE HK$5.942 (2021: HK$5.942) because the exercise prices of
T BERRZXEERE ZTE those options were higher than the average market price
BEalBRMR_E-_—_FE_F for shares for both 2022 and 2021.
Z—F2FHmE-
RECKRILEEEK From discontinued operations
BERRARFEGE R IELE Basic and diluted earnings per share for the
7% < NE T 491,280,576,000 discontinued operations are HK225.2 cents per share
BT (ZF = —%F : 491,224,000 (2021: HK88.0 cents per share), based on the profit
BIT) AR EXFEEs st et E 8RR for the year attributable to owners of the Company
EXRBEERINNSEFE B from the discontinued operations of approximately
RIPIRE G 7 FRERN RS HK$1,280,576,000 (2021: HK$491,224,000) and the
B A TK225. 281 (== = — denominators used are the same as those detailed above
& - FHx88.0/E(L) ° for both basic and diluted earnings per share.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EQUIPMENT
B RER
HRIR AR HENE  BENE BOERG RE BEREE ait
Furniture,
fixtures
Construction  Leasehold Leased Owned  and office Motor  Plant and
in progress land  properties  properties equipment vehicles  machinery Total
TEL THL THAL FHEL TEL THL TAL FEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HAE AT COST
RnZE=-%-A-H At 1 January 2021 34,108 263,894 131,694 1,064,710 211,156 30,185 1,755,162 3,490,909
EERE Currency realignment 468 6,978 2,981 28,130 38,154 1,772 16,928 95,411
BHNE Reclassifications (127,439) - - - - - 127,439 -
HE Additions 119,845 17,011 22,858 67 20,364 2,921 446,408 629,474
HE /G Disposals/written off = = (21,446) (338) (34,739) (2,252) (25,603) (84,378)
& — KB 2 7 (M3£32) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 32) - (12,578) - (16,267) (2,391) (603) (12,297) (44,136)
R=E=—F At 31 December 2021
+-A=+-H 26,982 275,305 136,087 1,076,302 232,544 32,023 2,308,037 4,087,280
EHRE Currency realignment (3,858) (22,837) (9,614) (81,168) (16,035) (2,785 (195,563) (331,860)
EFNNE Reclassifications (32,910 - - 9,863 18 524 22,505 -
E Additions 24,523 = 13,214 3,369 19,221 2,315 103,912 166,554
e/ Disposals/written off (451) (15,572) (37,275) (1,185) (9,183) (1,146)  (339,484) (404,296)
HEMBAR (H332)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) (6738)  (88,883)  (15457)  (160,749)  (14,755) (9,023) (1,130,249)  (1,425,854)
WZZE-—% At 31 December 2022
+=A=t-H 7,548 148,013 86,955 846,432 211,810 21,908 769,158 2,091,824

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

B RER
HRIR HEtH  HENE  BENE BOERG RE BEREE ait
Furniture,
fixtures
Construction  Leasehold Leased Owned  and office Motor  Plant and
in progress land  properties  properties equipment vehicles  machinery Total
FEL THL THAL FHEL FEL THL TATL ThL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEREH DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTISATION
R-ZE-—%—F—H At1January 2021 = 50,084 42,805 303,701 150,434 21,007 890,245 1,458,276
R Currency realignment = 1,413 1,289 8,733 34,050 1,713 5,256 52,454
AERE Depreciation for the year - 5,711 30,413 33,638 20,678 2,447 125,365 218,252
HE /GRS Eliminated on disposals/
written off - - (14,832) (133) (34,051) (2,027) (24,055) (75,098)
HE—HIBARBES Eliminated on disposal of a
(FtiE32) subsidiary (note 32) - (907) - (8,067) (2.228) (500) (11354 (23,056)
RZBZ-F At 31 December 2021
+=ZA=+-AH = 56,301 59,675 337,872 168,883 22,640 985,457 1,630,828
LT Currency realignment = (4,554) (4,177) (29,826) (11,249) (2,020 (91,380) (143,206)
AERE Depreciation for the year - 5,272 24,426 32,759 17,326 2,59 144066 226,445
HE /R Eliminated on disposals/
written off = (493) (28,536) (458) (8,908) (1,031)  (332,233) (371,659)
HERBA RIS Eliminated on disposal of
(Hi3E32) subsidiaries (note 32) = (23,243) (3,082) (40,850) (10,591) (7,141)  (295,962) (380,869)
i S At 31 December 2022
+ZA=+-AH = 33,283 48,306 299,497 155,461 15,044 409,948 961,539
REE CARRYING VALUES
i S At 31 December 2022
+ZA=+-AH 7,548 114,730 38,649 546,935 56,349 6,864 359,210 1,130,285
RZB=Z-F At 31 December 2021
+=A=t-AH 26,982 219,004 76,412 738,430 63,661 9383 1,322,580 2,456,452
ERILIKEBRLE —T——FEFR
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQU'PMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are depreciated on a

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land

Leased properties
Owned properties

Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment

Motor vehicles

Plant and machinery

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Over the remaining term of
the lease

Over the term of lease

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease or 2.5%

4.5% to 25%

9% to 25%
5% to 20%
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+—H IL % JZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

EQ UIPMENT (Continued)

AEBERAAEA The Group as lessee

ERAEEE GFAME &

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

Right-of-use assets (included in property,

B R#EE) plant and equipment)
HELH HEWE RERKE &t
Leasehold Leased Plant and
land properties machinery Total
TR BT BT FTAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZB-ZF As at 31 December 2022
+=-A=t+-H
FEeRE Carrying amounts 114,730 38,649 - 153,379
R-B=--% As at 31 December 2021
+ZA=+-H
EESE Carrying amounts 219,004 76,412 54,394 349,810
BE-2-—f For the year ended
+=A=+—-HLEE 31 December 2022
NEER Depreciation charge 5,272 24,426 14,667 44,365
HERHEEHA AR Expense relating to short-term
GET) leases (note a) 12,567
HEBReRL@%E Total cash outflow for leases 55,185
REGREEE Additions to right-of-use
(P zEb) assets (note b) 24,956
Bz-2--% For the year ended
+ZA=+—-HILEE 31 December 2021
nEER Depreciation charge 5,711 30,413 6,694 42,818
HERHEEA AR Expense relating to short-term
(fft7Ea) leases (note a) 7,045
HEBL R LaE Total cash outflow for leases 49,100
ANEGREAE Additions to right-of-use
CiED) assets (note b) 100,028
ERLCISEERAT —Z——FEFH
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQU'PMENT (Continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)

Notes:

(@)  The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters and plant and machinery, of which the Group
applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of staff quarters. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, the portfolio of short-term leases in which practical
expedient was applied is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term leases expense disclosed
above.

(b) The amount included addition of right-of-use assets from
new leases entered amounting to HK$24,956,000 (2021:
HK$100,028,000).
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RIER AR SEM DR - T& 5
F275 e

i - RZZE=-_—_F+ A
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41,206,000 7T X A E R &
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EQ U | PM E NT (Continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment) (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases plant and machinery and
buildings for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 year to 15 years with no extension
or termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located
and office buildings. The Group is the registered owner of
these property interests, including the underlying leasehold
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the
payments made can be allocated reliably.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$41,206,000
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
HK$38,649,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: lease
liabilities of HK$134,568,000 are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of HK$130,806,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.
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HE—ZT - —F+—- =+—H L5 For the year ended 31 December 2022

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices and warehouses under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
of offices and warehouses contain lease payments that are
fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee or
lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease

BEMEZEERE- term.
FET
HK$'000
A RE FAIR VALUE
R-—E-—F—A—H At 1 January 2021 344,096
Bk Currency realignment 3,022
RN EE Increase in fair value 66,000
& — R E AR (FiE32) Disposals of a subsidiary (note 32) (278,000)
R-—_E-_—F+=-B=+—H At 31 December 2021 135,118
B Currency realignment (10,710)
NE Additions 71,302
R-E-_—_F+=-_B=+—H At 31 December 2022 195,710

RBE2E-_E-_—F+=-_A=+—
HEFERN BEMELIREZ
#E) (8B AR¥H W) 66,000,000
BIL(ZEZZF : E)BEFTAE
m (FEAE A Wz R E1E) o

AEBETREMER
Fr+-A=+—BRZE=_—%
T-A=t—RBZARENEE
AEBYEREZBIAERE
%H@%%ﬁ%%f@ﬁZﬁﬁ
EE EEEBEABKRINEMGE
MEZAE BUBE ZMER
MEBB2GABE - EEES
FERAARREETERAEHE
R UBERENEAARERY
REA e

= __

The change in fair value, being an unrealised gain, on
investment properties amounted to HK$66,000,000 (2022:
nil) during the year ended 31 December 2021 is included in
profit or loss (included in other gains and losses).

The fair values of certain Group's investment properties as
at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 have been
arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at the
end of the reporting period by an independent qualified
professional valuer, which is not connected with the Group.
The management works closely with the qualified external
valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The management reports the findings
to the board of directors of the Company every half-year
to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the
investment property.
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Z-T - —HF+ = f=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

15. R EWE o 15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

AREEBREDER_ZT - = The valuation of Group’s investment properties at 31

TZA=t+—BRZ=ZT=Z—F December 2022 and 31 December 2021 was arrived at by
TZA=T—RZHEDERE using direct comparison approach assuming sale of the
BhHREET S REEEY properties in their existing states with the benefit of vacant
EEEN TS TFLHESRERHE possession and by making reference to comparable sales
THiE FA A2 A B EREER S © transactions as available in the relevant market. The direct
HESEIEENBELUILE 28 comparison approach is based on market observable recent
PSRBT RS o transactions of similar properties in similar location.

REFTYWEZRALER MEZ In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest
R hEERRAEBR AR - and best use of the properties is their current use.

AREBURBEBRFHZIEEY The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
EZARnEIEAAAERRNES situated in Hong Kong and the PRC are classified as Level 3
oo MIEFEHEE AL ES of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers into or
& o out of Level 3 during both years.

TREEWR=_ZE-_—_F+_H The following table gives information about how the fair
=+—BE-_ZT-_—%+_A values of these investment properties as at 31 December
T+ BEBUNRNEEZSRE 2022 and 31 December 2021 are determined (in particular,
MEZRAAB(LERMERZE the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the
BERMEEGASE)  URARLE fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
FTERBERG ASE 2 BRE are categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to
EETHBZAREMRFZER - the fair value measurements is observable.

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

fhERM

Valuation
technique(s)

EAREERGANE

Significant
unobservable input(s)

EFBRRABBENREZEE
Relationship of

unobservable

inputs to fair value

RENE REE NRERH
Carrying value of Fair value
investment properties hierarchy
R=B=ZZ%+=A=+-H
At 31 December 2022
IR EE 2 EBAR2TE F38
ETHA21,342,000% T
(ZT=—F 121,342,000 7)
A certain portion of the 27th Level 3
Floor of Fortis Tower in Hong
Kong HK$21,342,000 (2021:
HK$21,342,000)
et EERE T2 F38
R N$7,279,000% T
(ZF=—% :7,952,000% )
Commercial properties in Level 3

Jiangmen City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC HK$7,279,000
(2021: HK$7,952,000)

ERIBE BREANTHE
RE2REMMS LAHRER
ZAELBREER S «

Direct comparison method
assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant
market.

BEHRER (RATHERT

EHBEE T g RE
HENEE (FA) BT

R BE - BRS)NTE
FHR20,80ETEEFAR
26,0008 (ZE=—F:

FHR2,70ETEEFAR
26,0007 ©

Price per square feet, using

market direct comparable
and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as size, building
facilities, levels, age of
building, etc., which is
ranging from HK$20,800/
sq.ft to HK$26,000/sq.ft
(2021: HK$22,700/sq.ft to
HK$26,000/5q.ft).

ERRBA BRERATHE STKER(RRATHERY

RE2REMMS LAHRER
ZAELBREER S «

Direct comparison method
assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant
market.

BLB8E Uit Rtk
A ERRE (FlmAN &
FREEE - BRZ)NT
I K610 TEETH
RTA00BTL(ZF=—F:
I HKIN0ETEETS
K7,700%7T) °

Price per square meter, using

market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors
such as size, building facilities,
levels, age of building,

etc., which is ranging from
HK$6,100/50.m to HK$7,400/
sq.m (2021: HK$7,100/sq.m to
HK$7,700/50.m).

BERRERUIHAR

RELAE

Asslight increase in the price
per square feet will increase
significantly the fair value.

BERABRUIHAR

RERAE-

Aslight increase in the price
per square meter will increase
significantly the fair value.
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—#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

RENXZKEE RRERH RERH EXELRERYE ELBRRABBEANEZBE
Relationship of
Carrying value of Fair value Valuation Significant unobservable
investment properties hierarchy technique(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value
R E FERRERTZ £38 EREERE BREBATHE STAAERERTSERT BEAKERMAKAR
T%M%9%,871,0008 T RELREMDSLAREN  AREEE U RBER REALE-
(ZF=—% :105,824,00057) ZUBRLBHER G . EteERIEE (FimA) &
FRiBE BEE))N
FHFAR1280ETEET
FARIT,800E T (R —5
BEHKI300BTEETA
k18,8008 TT) ©
Industrial property in Pudong Level 3 Direct comparison method Price per square meter, using Aslight increase in the price
District, Zhang Jiang, Shanghai, assuming sale in their existing ~ market direct comparable per square meter will increase
the PRC HK$96,871,000 (2021: states and by reference to and taking into account of significantly the fair value.
HK$105,824,000) comparable sales transactions location and other individual
as available in the relevant factors such as size, building
market. facilities, levels, age of
building, etc., which is
ranging from HK$12,800/
sq.m to HK$17,800/sg.m
(2021: HK$13,300/5g.m to
HK$18,800/5q.m).
R ERIMERR 2 £38 EREERE BRERATHE STARERERTSERT BEAKERUMAKAR
MR % Efi70,218,000% 7T RE2RABTSLAHER AUBREE YHRBHERE REARE-
(ZB=-%:8) ZABHBHER S o ENREZ (fiK) B85
_it - BE BRE)NTE
FHAATA0BETEGT AR
54,700/ 7T ©
7 commercial units in Luohu Level 3 Direct comparison method Price per square meter, using A slight increase in the price per

District, Shenzhen City, the PRC
HK$70,218,000 (2021: nil)

ER{EIKEARAF

assuming sale in their existing
states and by reference to
comparable sales transactions as
available in the relevant market.

T —FEFR

market direct comparable and
taking into account of location
and other individual factors such
as size, building facilities, levels,
age of building, etc., which is
ranging from HK$47,400/sg.m
to HK$54,700/sg.m.

square meter will increase
significantly the fair value.
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£  16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
2

FROM ASSOCIATES

REE QT 2R (a) Interests in associates
—E-ZCF — g
2022 2021
FHET FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
JEFHEE A ATIRE Cost of investment on associates,
X, X unlisted 1,215,152 5,750
FEiEIEEEE R Share of post-acquisition losses and
HEih2mE> H other comprehensive expenses (1,065) (891)
REEE Impairment loss (4,496) _
B AR Currency realignment (189) 349
1,209,492 5,208

REBERR  AEBEBLER

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the

Bl EEMT reporting period were as follows:
BE AR LR = 8 AR 32 Bl = FTEEXENY FEEREREAERZBEIL FEEH
Principal Percentage of
Name of Country of place of equity interest Principal
associate incorporation business held by the Group activities
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
HEERHA
Directly held
BT EEEMS P H 20% 20% REmEER
ITRRERRQA &R
PRC PRC 20% 20%  Provision of
property
renovation
services
FEILER BB BB 32% 100% IREERK
(F5E(a)) BEERA
HSD (Note (a)) Hong Kong Hong Kong 32% 100%  Investment
holding
and trading
in solvents
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HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

16. R & AT 2% 2%  16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
/EE\ L& Hﬁ% % /L\\ ﬁ_l 2 FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)
RIE ()

() Rt ATz EH (a) Interests in associates (continued)

(%)

BENT BB = 8 A 32 Bl =X FTEEENY AKEREFRAEEZAIL FEEH

Principal Percentage of
Name of Country of place of equity interest Principal
associate incorporation business held by the Group activities
B Z—ZT_—&F
2022 2021

BiEEs

Indirectly held

HERIEER B BB 24% 75% HwEERR
AR A (K@) BEERAA

Yip's Industrial Hong Kong Hong Kong 24% 75%  Investment
Holdings Limited holding
(Note (a)) and trading

in solvents

FELIEE B H 24% 75% REERR
AR A (K@) BERAA

Handsome Chemical PRC PRC 24% 75%  Investment
Group Limited holding
(Note (a)) and trading

in solvents

B IBS BB BB 24% 75% BERH
ABRA A (K@)

Thansome Chemical  Hong Kong Hong Kong 24% 75%  Trading in
Trading Limited solvents
(Note (a))

BMRERT H H 24% 75% HERER
AR A (K@) gl

Huizhou Shengda PRC PRC 24% 75%  Manufacture
Chemical Company of and
Limited (Note (a)) trading in

solvents

FESTILETE HEH H B 24% 75% HERESE
AR AR (K@) eyl

Taixing Jinjiang PRC PRC 24% 75%  Manufacture
Chemical Industry of and
Company Limited trading in
(Note (a)) solvents

b2 s IR B B 24% 75% BEEREE
AR DA (M @) A
(Note (a)) PRC PRC 24% 75%  Manufacture

of and
trading in
solvents
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

(a) Interests in associates (continued)

Note:

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group entered into an agreement to dispose of 68%
shareholding of HSD and 51% effective interest
in HSD's subsidiaries. Upon completion of the
transaction, HSD and its subsidiaries became associates

The summarised consolidated financial information
in respect of the Group’s material associates is set

out below. The summarised consolidated financial

information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. All of the Group's
associates are accounted for using the equity method
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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ar ended 31 December 2022

16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

xh -
FIE @)
(a) REtE RRI 2R (a) Interests in associates (continued)
(%)
HELCLIBREEE HSD Group
SEMBIRAREE : Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position:
—E-_F
2022
FET
HK$°000
MENVE E Current assets 3,389,402
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,101,282
mENAE Current liabilities (1,195,337)
FERBEE Non-current liabilities (59,133)
BEFE Net assets 3,236,214
FEL TERREEN Equity attributable to owners of HSD
T 2,430,163
FE 2 AR 2 Non-controlling interests 806,051
3,236,214
SELENEFREE Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive
income:
—E-_F
2022
FExT
HK$000
EHERE Turnover 10,666,671
7 €E 48 K| Profit for the year 188,773
NEHMEEEY Other comprehensive expense for the year (301,823)
AREZ2HFE S L5E Total comprehensive expense for the year (113,050)
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-
g

NE
g
sor I
] IS
T 2l
N
Il 7
N BX

FRIE @)

(a) REtE QA 2

16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE

FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

(a) Interests in associates (continued)

(%)

RELCLIBEEE &)
FiiGAMBERBERS
BHERENERE AL
EmMEEEANNEL AR

HSD Group (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated
financial information to the carrying amount of the
interest in the associates that is material to the Group

HERORE o5 HiR - recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
—E-
2022
THERT
HK$'000
HELTIEREHR Equity attributable to owners of HSD Group
PR FEAL #E 3,236,214
RNEEBRFE(LIERE Effective proportion of the Group’s ownership
£ [ 1 B A A interest in HSD Group
BRI 24%
776,691
ANEFEREINELS%ER{E  The Group’s additional share of equity attributable to
(T3 EASE FE(hHE2S owners of HSD of 8% 961
7N £2 (B fE (5 B N T The Group's share of net assets of associates
BEFRE 777,652
J&f{ﬁﬁ/\\é%ﬁ/\iﬁ e 2% Share of gain arising from remeasurement of
NEZHEXEEHSS investment in HSD Group upon reclassification to
NI TRRER Y interest in associates
& P EE & ) W B 431,840
N BE AR L N B RS Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
HBEE 45 the associates 1,209,492
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~

16. A B & N 7 2 # =
J FE W B & D T

16.INTERESTS IN/AMOUNTS DUE
FROM ASSOC'ATES (Continued)

=9
MIH (=)
(a) REtE R R 2 E = (a) Interests in associates (continved)
(%)
BMEIREER &) HSD Group (Continued)
BERITE AL ANTER : Information of an associate that is not individually
material:
—E_-_F —EF-—
2022 2021
FHET FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AREBEHEER The Group's share of loss and total
SHEMAS A% comprehensive expense (174) (710)
ZNCSE TS NG| Carrying amount of the Group's
EENEEmE5E interest in the associate - 5,208

(b) EUEEE X R 25K
15
FEMRE 8 R 7 2 3ROB A SRR
2B RERBE QAR
BB ERRBAEE - EF
BA - AREETENEE
BRI ART —EANE
SR B RSB
RAFRDEAE -

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

(b) Amounts due from associates

The amounts due from associates are unsecured,
interest-free and will be repayable upon certain
milestones fulfilled by the associates. In the opinion
of the directors, the Group will not demand for the
repayment within next twelve months from the end
of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amounts are
shown as non-current assets.
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(a) BAREFTAEA
PEHKBEZERNE
E

ZEBEARERHAERS
KRB 2 LA R R Z
A ARREFDEE
EEZERERTAZERE
REBDIAREFAEMEEK
7@ RERAEEERSTEZ
FRIAREFRIRE A

RZEZZF+ZA=+—
H ZEE=a=ITASER
Green Monday Holdings
LimitedZ20.7% (=& = —
F:07%) BRAER R —
MPBEER2237% (ZF
T E) R -

RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—
B ZSERITEZRAAE
11,098,000 7t (Z & = —
£ 115,035,000 7T) B &
BEK2ETEMHEERIA
AR SEREBHZEE -
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

17.FINANCIAL ASSET(S) AT FVTPL/
FVTOCI AND DEBT INSTRUMENT
AT FVTOCI

(a) Financial assets at FVTOCI

Amount represents the Group’s equity interest in
private entities established in Cayman Islands and
the PRC. The directors of the Company have elected
to designate these investments in equity instruments
at FVTOCI as the Group intends to hold these equity
investments for long term strategic purposes.

As at 31 December 2022, the equity instruments
comprised of 0.7% (2021: 0.7%) equity interest in
Green Monday Holdings Limited and 2.37% (2021:
nil) in a PRC entity.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the
equity instruments of HK$11,098,000 (2021:
HK$15,035,000) was derived by the management
estimation with reference to the price to sales ratio of
the industry or recent transaction price.
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HE=

17.

T - %+~ F=+—HIL4E For the year ended 31 December 2022

BRANAREF AEZE  17.FINANCIAL ASSET(S) AT FVTPL/
/ﬁi NREFTAH FVTOCI AND DEBT INSTRUMENT
ﬂﬁ % E l‘lﬂ é Z ﬁ Eﬂ AT FVTOC' (Continued)
EERRAAETS
AHMZ2ZEHKE 2
BB IR
(b) ZBAAEFTAER (b) Financial assets at FVTPL
ZEMEE
WHIE AR E ABERE Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:
ZEMEE:
—B-CF —B-—F
2022 2021
FBT FiB T
HK$°000 HK$'000
BIEEEM EMMRA  Listed equity securities
B held for trading - 6,678
FIEMREES Unlisted investment funds 177,318 130,781
177,318 137,459

() MR REFTAEAM

B ZeREASERA—
fl & ) (B 70 R I 78 55
R LEM) BTNERE
HZRE  M&EELTAER
AREFAREMBEERED
i

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

(c) Debt instrument at FVTOCI

As at 31 December 2021, amount represented the
Group's investment in a debt security issued by a
company with its shares listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange and the debt instrument is classified at
FVTOCI.
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18. GOODWILL
TAET
HK$'000
R {E AT COST
RN-—ET-——&—HF—H At 1 January 2021 151,114
£ e 2 Currency realignment 977
R—E-——®+—-_HA=+—H At 31 December 2021 152,091
U B B A B (B EE31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) 7,020
e B AT (KFEE32) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) (58,313)
1 s 2 K Currency realignment (3,709)
R-_FE-_—F#+-A=+—8 At 31 December 2022 97,089
HiE IMPAIRMENT
R—E-——F—HA—HK At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021
—E-—F+=-fF=+—H 2,530
e B AT (KfFEE32) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) (642)
R-—FE—-——®#+—-—H=+—H At 31 December 2022 1,888
BREE CARRYING VALUE
R-_FE-—_—F#+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 95,201
R-E-_—®+-_H=+—H At 31 December 2021 149,561

ERAMERENRAZ FBERHE

209 5% o

Particulars regarding impairment testing of goodwill are

disclosed in note 20.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

231



232

B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n O BT F5 RSB 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E-F - —4F+=F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

19. 8 &EE 19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BAER
SR @ g EFER% gt
Trademarks
and patent Customer
brands relationship Total
FAT FAET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAE AT COST
RZE-_—F At 1 January 2021
—H—H 53,340 37,552 90,892
B AR Currency realignment 437 67 504
N-ZTE=-_—F At 31 December 2021
+=-A=+—8 53,777 37,619 91,396
Y B Bt /8 A A Acquisition of subsidiaries
(P&E31) (note 31) - 5,508 5,508
kR Currency realignment (1,392) (682) (2,074)
NZEBE-_F At 31 December 2022
+=-A=t+—8 52,385 42,445 94,830
BHERRE AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
WZTEZ—F At 1 January 2021
—H—H 1,952 5,954 7,906
SRR Currency realignment - 40 40
FEREE Provided for the year = 2,047 2,047
R-_T=—— At 31 December 2021
+=-A=t+—8 1,952 8,041 9,993
B Currency realignment = (165) (165)
FEREE Provided for the year = 2,905 2,905
i —— At 31 December 2022
+=-A=+—H 1,952 10,781 12,733
IREE CARRYING VALUES
S = At 31 December 2022
+-A=+—H 50,433 31,664 82,097
R_EBE-—F At 31 December 2021
+=—A=+—8H 51,825 29,578 81,403

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR
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20.

BEEE
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(BAERAE
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EFAAREIRENRERMEA
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2 -RTHELESERALA
HMAE -

ERARERAEAFHIEL
B E 2R AE R H R IE R 203

=,

BERABERT
EHFH 2B A
E 2 B Rl

BT R AR S 18K 19FT
HEERAGERUFEHAHFHZ
BAERENREESERE=E(=
T —F:hE)REEEEUMA
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AR REMDER 2 NLEWB A
A(ZE=——F: REERP 2=
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BRA) - pREEXSEMIEHE
MEBERAUFEAFHZ EAER
SR REEESE (R R RE
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19.
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—Z-——%+=HA=+—HILFZ For the year ended 31 December 2022

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the following periods:

Trademarks and patent brands
(with finite useful life)

10 years

Trademarks and patent brands Not amortised

(with indefinite useful life)
Customer relationship 6 — 19 years
Customer relationship mainly represents the practice of
establishing contracts with customers related to coating

products under the brand name Camel, regardless of
whether a contract existed as at acquisition date.

Trademarks and patent brands represent the brand names
acquired which have high recognition and awareness in the
market.

Particulars regarding impairment testing of intangible assets
with indefinite useful live are disclosed in note 20.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and
trademarks and patent brands with indefinite useful lives
set out in notes 18 and 19 have been allocated to three
(2021: five) groups of cash-generating units (CGUs),
comprising five subsidiaries in the coatings segment and
nine subsidiaries in the others segment (2021: three
subsidiaries in the solvents operations, five subsidiaries
in the coatings segment and eight subsidiaries in the
others segment). The carrying amounts of goodwill and
trademarks and patent brands with indefinite useful lives
(net of accumulated impairment losses) allocated to these
units are as follows:
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205 EBEREEERTA
EREPRz2ERE
EZBERE =

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

ERERAUFEREHZ
(kS HAEREFGRE
Trademarks and patent
brands with indefinite useful
Goodwill lives
—E-C& —E-—F —E-CH —E-—F
2022 2021 2022 2021
FTHER FAT FER FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AEDRE Solvents segment
-HECISEEER -#RECIEEAR
DA EHE NAELIRBRE MM E
MM BRAT BR AT and jTFT
KIMR#R ABBHERERA
BIRGERAR a)(Unit A)
(BALF) - 17,343 - =
-BMEECIER -BMERECIAROA
NA (BRZ) (Unit B) - 40,328 - -
ZE D8 Coatings segment
- KRR (B8) - RHEEH(LE)
BRAR - KA BRAT - KHEA
LI (BB T(EB)BERAR
RA R R RHFE and LHITEER (B#ED)
2R (B E) BIR AR 2AF(Unit C)
DA (BAIA) 11,261 11,261 - -
- BRXEE (FB)E - Yip's Camel (Hong Kong)
BARIRES Limited and 18 & %2 £}
28 (BE) 8 R (Bf%)BRAH
NAl (BALT) (Unit D) 43,844 43,844 35,377 35,377
H 548 Others segment
- WIEREGELEE - RBETELEE
REAR AR R RIS E R A A and its
HtB AR (8 subsidiaries (Unit E)
9] 40,096 36,785 15,056 16,448
95,201 149,561 50,433 51,825

BT LEmERARERAER
FHAERENRE JEL
ReEROE BER&E &
WEEREREEEERBRE
BERARERAERFH AR
RENmETERESENRS
EE B AETRENE -

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

In addition to goodwill and trademarks and patent brands
with indefinite useful lives above, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets that
generate cash flows together with the related goodwill and
trademarks and patent brands with indefinite useful lives
are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose of
impairment assessment.



WEFE Bz e 5T
ERFERAEENFEEERE - %l
ErEFRENCEEESEAZR
FHPEEE KRR E6.67%
HITZRESREN B2 AF
B8 IR & M E N 1T 8 K TE R LA
2% REHRE - FHEBEE
EZEMEEZREZ S RAEFTE S
At BREENT0%E5%
CEMERNEEHEAEE  AY
B EREMNBERBREEE
HMIGER 2BHEL -

REBEE—ZT-_—F+_A=+—
ALEFE AEBEEEEETEZ
BUTERE BEBHE T
MZERZLBEMAETE
PIreEREMNRASELBE
CINqERe-

By
Hz-—T-—4#+-AF=+—H
WHEE - Bz AT E 458 b
ERNFERAEBEEEEERT - %t
HEAFRAERNKERENEZR
FHIB S TEE R A AT BAIR K7 .42%
ET2ReRERN B AT
B8 IR &M ERIT XL R TR
2%MIBREREE - (FHEMBEE
EZEMEBZREZ S REFTEE
At BREENTF0%E5%
JEERGH  BEEHEHE BH
B ERENBERRALREERERE
HMIHER2BEHEDL -

REEZTE-_—F+=A=+—
AEFE AEEETREEETZ
BTV ERE EEBHE T
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BE-_ZT-_—F+=-H=+—H I For the year ended 31 December 2022

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

Unit A

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the recoverable
amount of this unit had been determined based on value in
use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period, and pre-tax discount rate of
6.67%. The unit’s cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using a 2% growth rate based on
industry growth forecasts. Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculation relate to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows included budgeted sales with growth rate
ranging from 0% to 5%, such estimation is based on the
unit's past performance and management’s expectations
for the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, management of
the Group determined that there is no impairment on the
unit. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the unit to exceed its recoverable
amount.

Unit B

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the recoverable
amount of this unit had been determined based on value in
use calculation. That calculation used cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period, and pre-tax discount rate of
7.42%. The unit's cash flows beyond the five-year period
were extrapolated using a 2% growth rate based on
industry growth forecasts. Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculation relate to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows included budgeted sales with growth rate
ranging from 0% to 5%, such estimation is based on the
unit’'s past performance and management’s expectations
for the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, management of
the Group determined that there is no impairment on the
unit. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the unit to exceed its recoverable
amount.
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HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

20 EREBERTA 20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

EHEFHz2EEE GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
BEZRE RN ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)
BNUR Unit C
It B AL 2 ATk B & B8 T E A A The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
BEFEEETE ZirEZEFER based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
ERNKEBEBIEZRAFH(=F flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
——4F: AEH)BMREE REAT management covering a five-year period (2021: a five-year
BRIRE8 1% (ZE=—%F :7.3%) period), and pre-tax discount rate of 8.1% (2021: 7.3%).
T ZEERTEA By AE The unit’s cash flows beyond the five-year period (2021:
H(ZE-—F: 1AM %BRASE five-year period) are extrapolated using a 3% (2021: 3%)
MERNTERREIERU33% (== growth rate based on industry growth forecasts. Other key
T —E 3% )BEXREZ - FH assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
BEFEEIZHEMEERR SR estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted sales
HERBEEEA R BFEEN with growth rate ranging from 3% to 18% (2021: at 3%),
F3%E18% (ZF_—F :#%3%) such estimation is based on the unit’s past performance and
ZERAE JEENE B management’s expectations for the market development.

M ERNBEMBERRAREERE
HMIGRRZEMEDL -

RBEE-_—_FER-_T=-—4% During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
+ZA=+t—"BILEEERN &x&E management of the Group determines that there is no
BEEEETZEMILERE - impairment on the unit. Management believes that any
EIEEMRE ERZEF/HETE reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
FREEBERGEESH IS EREN would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed
EESEBAER IO S 5E - M its recoverable amount. If the pre-tax discount rate was
RATBR IR B ABI.T% (Z T = — changed to 11.7% (2021: 10.5%), while other parameters
F:105%) MEMBEHERD remain constant, the recoverable amount of the unit would
g oRABEMNzAKESEE RS equal to its carrying amount.

RERESH °
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BB MENITEERTERIA3%
TR —F 3% MRERHEH -
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FREFBEERA R 815
ENTF0%E3I% (ZFTE=—F : N
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

Unit D

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period (2021: a five-year
period), and pre-tax discount rate of 15.8% (2021: 15.5%).
The unit's cash flows beyond the five-year period (2021:
five-year period) are extrapolated using a 3% (2021: 3%)
growth rate based on industry growth forecasts. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted sales
with growth rate ranging from 0% to 3% (2021: ranging
from 4% to 5%), such estimation is based on the unit's
past performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the unit. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed
its recoverable amount. If the pre-tax discount rate was
changed to 19.8% (2021: 20.2%), while other parameters
remain constant, the recoverable amount of the unit would
equal to its carrying amount.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

237



B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

H,ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%mﬁ

HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

20 EREBERTA 20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

EFRFHZ2EEER GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE
BEZREHE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)
Bk Unit E
WIS EAEN 2N E £ E ) The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined
ENFEHAEBESEEAET - %t based on value in use calculation. That calculation uses
EXAFERERKEEEH EZR cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
FH (T —F: AFEH) BB by the management covering a five-year period (2021: five
FEE LB AEEIE X18.9% (=& year period), and pre-tax discount rate of 18.9% (2021:
Z—F:184%)ETZHERTE 18.4%). The unit’s cash flows beyond the five-year period
BleBNUZAFHEEESRER are extrapolated using a 2% (2021: 2%) growth rate based
TEERTER2% (ZE=—%F: on industry growth forecasts. Other key assumptions for
2% ) EXREE - FHEBEEE the value in use calculation relate to the estimation of cash
FEZEMETEBRRSRMGEAES inflows/outflows include budgeted sales with growth rate
WA R BEENTF27T%E ranging from 27% to 49% (2021: 22% to 41%), such
49% (ZZE = —F : N F22% =% estimation is based on the unit’'s past performance and
%) ZIERAE 7IBEHE - management’s expectations for the market development.

BERMAEREUBERRARE
BEEHMSEREHEL -

REBE_E_-_—_F+_-_A=+— During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
AkR-—Z-_—F+=-_HA=+—H December 2021, management of the Group determines
EFEAN AEBEREETEZ that there is no impairment on the unit. Management
BUTERE - EEEMERE £ believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
7% 5 R % IR A 2 ] pe & these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount
HIreENENEESERBE of the unit to exceed its recoverable amount. If the pre-tax
AU El & ZE - ML ATALIR Rk A discount rate was changed to 19.6% (2021: 21.8%), while
19.6% (ZEE=-—F:21.8%) * other parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount
i E A 2B AR E - RIS 2 of the unit would equal to its carrying amount.

ARESESRENERESE -
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

21.INVENTORIES
—EgE-= —Eg=-—

2022 2021

FHET TR

HK$°000 HK$'000

R Raw materials 225,299 691,718
EER Work in progress 24,871 35,174
SLPX o Finished goods 166,687 569,909
416,857 1,296,801
FER o HETFE SR 46,078,000 During the year, provision of allowance on slow-moving
BT (T —F: BEFE inventories and written off of inventories amounting
12,939,000/ 7T * B D &R IE& to approximately HK$6,078,000 (2021: net allowance
o2 ge) T 5 44 77 57,339,000 of HK$12,939,000, including discontinued operations)
B (ZZEE=Z—%:9,671,000/8 and HK$7,339,000 (2021: HK$9,671,000, including
T BEERIFRE2E)HRIE discontinued operations), respectively, have been

HERIET A ERA -

22. 5 EIRFE -
FEWERARRANSRK DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS
I

B
(a) EZ EBWRIA

recognised and included in cost of sales.

H b 22. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

(a) Trade receivables

—E-= —EF -
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
KEBRPAHZES Trade receivables from contracts
FE W FRIE with customers 1,307,648 4,683,981
B EEEEEABME  Less: allowance for ECL (57,737) (94,037)
1,249,911 4,589,944
MNZZTBE-_—F—HF—H8 % As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with
BRPAANZE S EWRFIEA customers amounted to HK$3,474,539,000.
#3,474,539,0007 7T, ©
AEEDWEZEERANET Bills received by the Group refer to $R774 4 EZ (“banker’s
7, G RN R 2 R 1T R, acceptances”) which are accepted and guaranteed for
FE Z£376,281,000/8 0 (=& payment by PRC banks, amounting to HK$376,281,000
— — 4 :2,384,600,000% (2021: HK$2,384,600,000). The Group accepts the
JT) o A& B iR A RIS 5 settlement of trade receivables by customers using banker’s
ZREABANRITEAN 2R acceptances accepted by the PRC banks on a case by case
THRAEREEE S BB basis.
I8 o
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HE-T=

22.E5EWFIE - Hitb

—#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

P& W BR R R TR Y K

I8 %)
(a) EZFEWFIE »)

DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)

ZEHAREELRAEEZ
RITALEZE RN B H
ARENTHEET —EARE
Hi o RITANEZSAER
BARITRAFRRITAER
BERZEFRITALERE
HIA XAt

RIERR - B 5 RKFHIA
(BB EERKEE T
B AR BRI & H AT Hs
BEZREB)ERZERAME
S Z BREC DATIAT ¢

These banker’s acceptances are issued to or endorsed
to the Group and with maturity date in general not
longer than twelve months from the date of issuance.
The banker’s acceptances will be settled by the banks,
which are state-owned banks or commercial banks or
financial institutions in the PRC, on the maturity date
of such banker’s acceptances.

An aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance
for credit losses (excluding bills held by the Group for
future settlement), presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

—EC-_F —=ET—
2022 2021
FHET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
TE=M@A 0 - 3 months 580,917 1,843,544
PO ZE 75 & A 4 — 6 months 216,299 246,079
NE A A B Over 6 months 76,414 115,721
873,630 2,205,344

REBATRAE S RFRME
NTF30RKEIORZIEEH -
REBMRSH THREER
Gz REIRHEFERRESE
j=g::0

EERMEMHELA - A&
Bz AR EEERRSEGT
HEERPZEEER M
EXCCREEEERRR
EFEERERBREER
o AKEEEREHTF
ZRE -

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30
to 90 days to its trade customers. A longer credit
period may be granted to large or long established
customers with good payment history.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group
has an internal credit control system to assess the
potential customers’ credit quality and the board
of directors has delegated the management to be
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals for customers. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed periodically.
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HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Z5 EWEIE - B 22. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
FEWERMRR AT DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS
IE (%) (Continued)

(a) B 5 EWFIE @) (a) Trade receivables (continued)

RZE——_F+-_A=+—
B 871% (Z2 = — % :
75% ) 2 B 5 EWHIE (7
BREAEEREKRREE T
B2ER)MESHINER
BRE EREAREARSE
B R 2 EEES R4
ZEESHRMGIEEF AR
BRIFEER -

RZFZ=ZF+=ZA=+—
B ANEBEE S EKZIE (T
BREAREERERRGEE M
EZER) BRERHE A H
E@ilz KRR - REA
%8 /5249,494,000/8 7T (=&
——%:549,142,000/87T) °

R=ZT-_—F+=—A=+—
H - KNEBEE S ERGIE (T
BREAEERERRGEH M
EZER) BREEREE A
AIE SMEANIE KRB
/4,275,000 70 (Z &2 = —
£ : 800,000/ 7T) °

RZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—
H AEEREBEEASES
FRITERHLIESRE  S8E
132,082,000 7T (=& = —
£ :1,667,321,000% 7T) °
NAKEEEE S EMNR
B AEBEBRERZEE
BEZRITALIEZL2EE N
EREEAZHABRE &
EEEERTAALEEZ 23
HiH o

As at 31 December 2022, approximately 71% (2021:
75%) of the trade receivables (excluding bills held by
the Group for future settlement) are neither past due
nor impaired as they were assessed to be of good
credit rating attributable under the credit control
system used by the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's
trade receivables (excluding bills held by the Group
for future settlement) are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$249,494,000 (2021:
HK$549,142,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date.

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's
trade receivables (excluding bills held by the Group
for future settlement) are trade related amounts due
from associates with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$4,275,000 (2021: HK$800,000).

At 31 December 2022, the Group endorsed
certain banker’'s acceptances with an amount of
HK$132,082,000 (2021: HK$1,667,321,000) to
creditors to settle the trade payables to them. The
Group continued to recognise the full amount of
these endorsed banker’s acceptances and the relevant
payable to creditors until the maturity date of the
endorsed banker’s acceptances.
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22.E 5 EIRFIE - HAth
FE W BR B & FE {4 =X

I8 %)
(a) EZFEWFIE »)

INTREE MR THER
KIRTTHTABEHEERELZ
AEBERER - IR EE
I 3 % 8 o A B % 5 R MK
HHEARR K E R - L4
BB R WK OR 2 BRE
SF - WO AR AT R
MR SER B EMER -
% 5 [ MR R IR S R AN B
AREB 2R BTSN

—#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)
Transfer of financial assets

The following were the Group’s bills received that
were endorsed/discounted to suppliers or banks
with full recourse. As the Group has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards relating to these
receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying
amount of the receivables and has recognised the
cash received on the transfer as a collateralised
borrowing. These receivables are carried at amortised
cost in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position.

EETFHERLAR BEFRTLAE
PHEREZEWRERE PEEREZEREE
Bills receivables Bills receivables
endorsed to suppliers discounted to banks
with full recourse with full recourse
—E- = —E-—F —E-C —E-—F
2022 2021 2022 2021
THET TET FTHER FHAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEZEEEL Carrying amount of
FHSE transferred assets 132,082 1,667,321 121,590 51,692
HEEEZ Carrying amount of
RESH associated liabilities (132,082)  (1,667,321) (121,590) (51,692)
ERILIKEBRLE —T——FEFR



22.E 5 EIRFIE - Hfth
FEWERMRR AT
I8 %)

(b) HbEWEER R TE

B 3R &5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o O\
frE8

715 R S it 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-ZT——F+=F=+—HIL5FE For the year ended 31 December 2022

22.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Other debtors and prepayments

NES:

H fh fE U BR 3k R TE A BB
FTEZEBFEBRNMERRIE
31,397,000 & (=& = —
£ 1 249,482,000 7T) - JE
U it FE P B 429,826,000/ T
(=ZZ = —4% :27,722,000
& or) koA W [E 1 E B
43,727,000 L (=& = —
£ : 304,450,000 7T) ° A
—E-_—_F#+-_HA=+—H
HEERELIEREEE
W K 182,039,966,0005% JT
(ZBE=Z—F : B RNFRE
W7z e

HE-_Z_—_FgR-_F——
F+-_A=+—BLFE
B 5 FE WERIE I H fth B UK BR
RZ BB EFBEHRM T
34 ¢

B 5 e WOk IR I i e UL AR
REBETIAEHESE AT
W EE NI EREEBZ

TRIA

Other debtors and prepayments mainly consist of
payments in advance to suppliers of HK$31,397,000
(2021: HK$249,482,000), commission receivable from
suppliers of HK$9,826,000 (2021: HK$27,722,000),
value-added tax recoverable of HK$43,727,000
(2021: HK$304,450,000). Receivable from disposal
of HSD Group of HK$2,039,966,000 (2021: nil) at 31
December 2022 are received subsequent to year end.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
and other debtors for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 are set out in note 34.

Included in trade receivables and other debtors are
the following amounts denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the group
entities to which they relate:

—E-CF —EF—
2022 2021
FHx TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
e United States dollars (“USD") 2,042,490 167,494
7B TT HK$ 261 104
AR RMB 3,565 189,572
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23.7TEER I A 23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
T FRE
Current Non-current
—E-= —E-—fF —B-CfF —E-—F
2022 2021 2022 2021
THERT FAT TART FHAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L¥HEstEEE > Derivatives financial
TELRMEE assets under hedge
accounting
MEEHE LD Interest rate swap contracts 3,728 275 1,164 249
U#heastEZE®E 2 Derivatives financial
fTEcMEE liabilities under hedge
accounting
FMEREHA L Interest rate swap contracts - 1,952 - 778
Y AEHEFEZEE Derivatives financial
ZITESRMEE assets not under hedge
accounting
HNERBE L Foreign exchange forward
contract - 8,197 - -
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(2= F - —F+=H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
|NSTRU M ENTS (Continued)

(a) Interest rate swap contracts

23.0TES M I B

(a) LB ERYE H 27

REHEYN
AEEELMEERTAIL
ZIENEEREL  BBE
B A R S E AR
BETELZRBITERZ
RengsRREERE -
RZEBHNZIRFEERKRE
WEPIRITERZ R —
(MEZEBRRITERLZ
AER  BERNEERE
Fl) - NRABEEZERRNEX
EHANBESREHTA
YRBEREFHEEEZ S
TEARREREPTHE -

REFRFEREH2HE R
ERms HPESER
HoBEZZT=-_=_F+=A
=+—HIEEE HBE2R
mzEHRTEY AR EE
B) UL 757,098,000/ ¢ (— =
— — 4 :7,026,0008T) B
REMEERZE (EME2HE
Iz ) R R R E R FEE RN
Bt - ARREZEZBEH R
#2085 3R 45 HR 1% oK 2R E A7
HARIAR 2 N B HA B el 48 25 -

under cash flow hedges

The Group entered into a number of interest rate
swap contracts with the commercial banks to
minimise its exposure to cash flow changes of its
floating-rate Hong Kong dollars bank loans from
banks by swapping floating interest rates to fixed
interest rates. The terms of these contracts were
negotiated to match with those of the hedged bank
loans with the same notional amounts to principal
amounts of bank loans, currency and interest rate
index. The directors of the Company consider that
the interest rate swap contracts are highly effective
hedging instruments and have designated them as
cash flow hedging instruments for hedge accounting
purpose.

The hedges were highly effective in hedging cash
flow exposure to interest rate movements. Fair value
change on hedging instruments in cash flow hedge
of gain of HK$7,098,000 (2021: HK$7,026,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI")
and accumulated in hedging reserve. The directors
of the Company expected the accumulated sum is to
be released to profit or loss at various dates in the
coming maturity periods after the reporting period.
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HE-T=

23.0TES M T E

—#+= A=+—HIL4Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
|NSTRU M ENTS (Continued)

(a) Interest rate swap contracts
under cash flow hedges (continued)

Included in borrowings as disclosed in note 28
were bank loans of HK$180,833,000 (2021:
HK$336,250,000) which were under cash flow
hedges and the major terms of the interest rate swap

(a) LIRERGH 2 F
ZEBPEN »)
K&K - WE28FT# 5
ZIEEBFEE SR +FE
T 2 877 & 180,833,000
B (Z &2 = — F
336,250,000 7T) © 1M LAIR
SRR KRB ELH 2

contracts under cash flow hedges at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

246

£ 3:4 (4

FEBRREOT :
AEHE IHEREE WEGEE IHEE
Notional amount Range of maturity Receive floating Pay fixed
R-B--%+-A=1-H
At 31 December 2022
37,500,000 7T “E-CF-fA-{tMBEE-Z-=FXA-T=H 7 70— (& AHIBOR* 2.68[E
HK$37,500,000 24.3.2023 - 23.6.2023 HK$1-month HIBOR* 2.68%
90,000,000 & —E-=f-ARAE-_Z-_METAMA 7670 —{E AHIBOR 1498
HK$90,000,000 5.1.2023 - 4.10.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 1.49%
53,333,000/ 7 TR CE-ACHE-E-ME+-AT-H 7 75— 18 AHIBOR 314
HK$53,333,000 13.2.2023 - 11.11.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 3.14%
RZEZ—F+-A=1—H
At 31 December 2021
93,750,000/ 7 —E--E-fB-tAREZE-_EMA=-tHH &0 —18 AHIBOR 3462
HK$93,750,000 29.1.2021 - 29.4.2022 HK$1-month HIBOR 3.46%
62,500,000 7T —EB--EZA-tMAZ-E-=FxA=-t=A 7 7L —{EHIBOR 2.68E
HK$62,500,000 24.3.2022 - 23.6.2023 HK$1-month HIBOR 2.68%
100,000,000/ 7T “E--F+ARAE-Z-METAMA 770 —{E AHIBOR 1498
HK$100,000,000 5.10.2022 - 4.10.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 1.49%
80,000,0003 7T B AT-HE-E-ME+-A+-8 7% 71— 18 AHIBOR 3.14E
HK$80,000,000 11.2.2022 - 11.11.2024 HK$1-month HIBOR 3.14%

* HIBORIE BB IRITRIZEIF S ©

IXEARAF

T —FEFR

*

HIBOR represents Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate.
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(2= F - —F+=H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

23. T €/ I A 23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

|NSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Foreign exchange forward

(b) HMEEHEH

RZE——_F+-_A=+—
H 62 EBELHESEH
865,713,000 T (BB
BIEEEER) (Z 2= —
F g #57,899,000/8 7T © B2
FERIEEEER) WRE
WIER ZEEK R LD
ARNEREH HEHR
WA AETTEHEMHEE
ARHETERERRAINETM
HZEREE -

REBERI®EHRAAER
RAEEIEEBMENNEE

contracts

As at 31 December 2022, the change in fair value
of the contracts recorded a loss of HK$65,713,000
(including discontinued operations) (2021: gain of
HK$7,899,000, including discontinued operations)
and was recognised in profit or loss. The contracts
were deliverable forward contracts entered into
for the purpose of capturing the price differential
between the spot and forward foreign currency
exchange markets by entering into a sales contract
that was denominated in USD.

The notional amount of the outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts to which the Group are

SEWT - committed at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:
EEREH A &
Notional amount Maturity Exchange rate

RZZE=Z—F+=-A=+—H

At 31 December 2021

# 5 152,000,000 7T ZE-—f—fA+-HBE=Z=_=F~A=1tH Enx/ARK638Z652T
Buy USD152,000,000 11.1.2022 - 30.6.2022 USD/RMB6.38 to 6.52

Tt STETEBEALBESE - The above derivative instruments are measured at fair
R—_FTE-—_—F+-_HA=+—8 - value. The classification of the measurement of the above
Pl STETEZEAEDEAERR derivative instruments at 31 December 2021 was Level 2

BRI ZE K (GFEBERW=
34) °

under the fair value hierarchy (see note 34 for details).
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24. HHISR TR - RIT 24. SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS,

EHRERE BANK BALANCES AND CASH
—Eg-= —EF-—
2022 2021
FHERT FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEHBEA=@AANK Short-term bank deposits with original
RERITFER maturity within three months 656,182 10,644
HeRESEE Cash and cash equivalents 419,824 747,673
SR HISEITAS R (MisE)  Restricted bank balance (note) 12,110 =
1,088,116 758,317
Mz : R=ZBE-_—_F+_F=+— Note: Included in the restricted bank balance, HK$3,075,000 was
H:  SBRHELITHEHB T guarantee deposits and HK$9,035,000 was restricted by
3,075,000 Bt BERIRE court order to fulfil the potential penalty as at 31 December
9,035,000 &t & % Bt 48 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2022, a litigation
SR Uim e ZrES case related to inks segment was in progress. The case is
RoREBEEE__F+= under appeal process up to date of this report.

A=+—HLFE HED
B RBEERFARGDEE
T-BHERMHEBEARER
HERN EFRIZ

REFSHEELRTEEE Based on legal opinion obtained, the management of the
BEARAE  BITZRBITE Group considers the execution of this bank balance for
SESBE BRI Ae I E M o compensation is remote.
EHISR TR RBTES RIE Included in short-term bank deposits and bank balances
S BETHAEEERAN I and cash are the following amounts denominated in
B AN B EE 2RI currencies other than the functional currencies of the group

entities to which they relate:

—E-= —E-—4F

2022 2021

FET FHIT

HKS$’000 HK$'000

ETT usD 632,534 127,793

BT HK$ 1,641 2,026

AR RMB 58,708 11,876
FFAERTESIRBETELIRN All bank deposits and bank balances were carrying interest
F0.001%%4% (— T — — 4 : at market rates ranging from 0.001% to 4% (2021:

0.001%%2.65% ) 2 T 4 &F I = 0.001% to 2.65%) per annum.

AtR e

248 ERICISEMERAT —T-—FEFR



5. BENERREE

B 3R &5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n B BT 15 #R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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25.CREDITORS AND ACCRUED

F CHARGES
—EgE-= —_F——

2022 2021
FET THIT
HKS$’000 HK$'000
B S EMNERER Trade creditors 689,129 2,709,552
HihE BRI N EST & A Other creditors and accrued charges 349,661 505,944
1,038,790 3,215,496

EMmENERREFEREE
BEENKEDE BERZHE
FXI812,394,0008 L (=T = —
& :70,541,0008 L) * B B
ITHeEkEN (BREEMA2)
85,304,000 T (=& = — % :
161,082,000 7T) ~ FENT B & &
E#31,770,0008 ¢ (=T = —
£ :97,638,000/8 L) « &
MEBARMBBEMNESERRAX
44,972,000 L (Z & = — F -
E)REMEZEZRBERENRE
15,959,000 B L (ZZT = —F :
;) o

REEHR BESEMERER
BEAHZERRONAT

Other creditors and accrued charges mainly consist of
payables of acquisition of property, plant and equipment
of HK$12,394,000 (2021: HK$70,541,000), payables of
staff salaries and benefits (including sales commission)
of HK$85,304,000 (2021: HK$161,082,000), payable
of storage and transportation of HK$31,770,000 (2021:
HK$97,638,000), accrued fees and expenses related to
disposal of subsidiaries of HK$44,972,000 (2021: nil)
and dividend payable to a non-controlling shareholder of
HK$15,959,000 (2021: nil).

An aged analysis of trade creditors at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date is as follows:

—E-= —EF—
2022 2021
FET FAT
HK$000 HK$'000
Z2=@A4 0 — 3 months 538,853 2,005,456
N = 4 — 6 months 147,991 688,463
J~E A LA E Over 6 months 2,285 15,633
689,129 2,709,552
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5. B ERARESTE

26

A

B AE T AGREEA
A B AN Y XK
I8 :

25. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (Continued)

Included in creditors are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than the functional currency
of the group entities to which they relate:

—E-= —E-—F

2022 2021

FERT FHBIT

HK$'000 HK$'000

ETT usD 14,431 27,055
AR RMB 3,565 33,963

RZE-_=—_F+=-—A=+—8"
REEE S R IR K85 &
ERRICESHEBHIE KRG
& 462,982,000 7T (— & — —
F M) o

BHNAE

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's trade
creditors are trade related amounts due to associates with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$62,982,000 (2021: nil).

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

—EgE=-= —_F——
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
SR - 2kl MR K% Contract liabilities on sales of solvents,
BHRHAZANAE coatings, inks and lubricants
35,258 58,504
R—ZTE-——&F—F—H A48 As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to

f& /44,028,000 7T, °

EAEBRFAREEEERWE
Ze REWFABRKISELS
HEaEBE BHAHNABBERASE
B Es2ERABANEE LH
HARDHAEE - RFRN BEER
& E2E58 504,000/ T (2 = —
£ : 44,028,000/ T) B st AFE A
WEHEEA -

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR

HK$44,028,000.

When the Group receives a deposit before the
commencement of the production activity, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract.
Contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the
Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as current
liabilities. During the year, revenue recognised amounting
to HK$58,504,000 (2021: HK$44,028,000) was included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year.
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27. HE &R 27.LEASE LIABILITIES
—E=-= T —%F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
ENEEEE Lease liabilities payable:
—FR Within one year 16,925 30,122
HBiB—FEARBBME 2 Within a period of more than one year
HfE A but not more than two years 8,389 21,164
BB RHBBISE 2 Within a period of more than two years
B A but not more than five years 10,209 35,789
838 1 F 2 HAfE A Within a period of more than five years 5,683 47,493
41,206 134,568
W 121Iﬂ N2 Ef4ES Less: Amount due for settlement with
WENAREAE 12 months shown under current
- liabilities (16,925) (30,122)
1218 A 18 B Hi 4575 I 55 Amount due for settlement after 12
MEIEREEEZSEE  months shown under non-current
liabilities 24,281 104,446
EEREEaENMEFESIEE The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
BEEFENFR238%%4.90% to lease liabilities range from 2.38% to 4.90% (2021:
—FE - —%F :238%%490% ) 2.38% to 4.90%).
ZEE -
WN_E-__HF#+-_HA=+—8H" As at 31 December 2022, a bank guarantee was granted
BE—MHHEEHEREEEH to the landlords for a tenancy agreement amounting to
#91,254,0008 0 (Z & = —4F : approximately HK$1,254,000 (2021: HK$1,254,000).

1,254,000 70) Z SRITHELR ©
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28. 18 &

28. BORROWINGS

—E-= —TE-—4&F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEBERITEN Borrowings included bank loans:
SRITER—EKE Bank loans — unsecured 2,058,885 2,098,183
EFExHEREZ Discount bills with full recourse
BRI R IR 121,590 51,692
2,180,475 2,149,875
RITERERAT The bank loans are repayable as follows*:
FHIEE
—F R Within one year 584,483 765,375
—FREREMFENRN More than one year but not exceeding
two years 228,240 486,167
MEBRERAFA More than two years but not more than
five years 131,918 416,666
944,641 1,668,208
BERBREBIER The bank loans that contain a repayment
(BIrRRBEET) on demand clause (shown under current
BER T AHEE liabilities) but repayable as follows*:
RIESRITE > ¢
—F R Within one year 1,159,167 481,667
—FRERMFNR More than one year but not exceeding
two years 76,667 —
2,180,475 2,149,875
o —ERNEEI M4 Less: Borrowings due within one year
mEBBEZEE shown under current liabilities (1,820,317) (1,247,042)
BMAIERBEEZ Borrowings shown under non-current
BE liabilities 360,158 902,833
* A HEIRESH AT * The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates
THBEE R - set out in the borrowing agreements.
ERILIKEBRLE —T——FEFR




28. 5 E »)

AEERTERZENENTEH
ﬁéfimﬂ%%ﬁéﬂuo EEBFBR
TREFREIMIAE (T = —F:
BBRITRIEFREMOEEFRE
BITRIZER B N AE) RiEHh
BRERERAEMESREETE
BE(CZ_—F :HEREERE
RF RN ESREEREEZE) © F
ZR—EAE—FHEET -
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28 BORROWI NGS (Continued)

The Group's bank loans carry annual interests at the range
of HIBOR plus 0.6% to HIBOR plus 1.4% (2021: HIBOR plus
0.6% to HIBOR plus 1.4%) and at the China loan prime
rate plus or less a fixed margin (2021: China loan prime
rate plus or less a fixed margin). Interest is repriced in the
period from one month up to one year.

—E-= %
2022 2021

i

ik
s

=

ofE B¢

i
\
)

34
il

& & 8 451,365,483,000/8 7T (=
T — — 4 : 849,275,000/ T) F
BEfEE AYONHBEAE—FR-
BEERRETINEBERARYN
REEEINZ EM FEZRA -

P
=

Variable-rate borrowings

Effective interest rates
=i Fixed-rate borrowings

0.79)2 £3.92/#
0.79% to 3.92%
1T MEZE1.61E
1.11% to 1.61%

1.22E£5.90E
1.22% to 5.90%
5.34E £6.29F
5.34% to 6.29%

Included in borrowings are HK$1,365,483,000 (2021:
HK$849,275,000) at fixed-rate borrowings with the
contractual maturity dates within 1 year.

Included in borrowings are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than the functional currency
of the group entities to which they relate:

—E=-= —E-—F

2022 2021

FET FHETT

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 37,500 187,600
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2. EEHREBEBEE, &

(=

REAMBHRAEZ2HHE
ETELEHEAERS B RE
o AT ABEBIELS (EHE)

29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis

M BREEBNZDMN : of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes:
—E=-= —EF-—

2022 2021

FERT FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000

IEE TR IE B = Deferred tax assets 6,812 7,441
EEFEEE & Deferred tax liabilities (23,615) (30,804)
(16,803) (23,363)

UTRAEECHERZ EERT
HEAEB(EE) REARAFER

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during

BEEERZEF) : the current and prior years:
KA BEEE
MERERE BIERE ENZENBR NEER BABE Hib ait
Withholding
Accelerated taxon Revaluation
tax Tax undistributed of ECL
depreciation losses profits  properties provision Others Total
THEL TER FEL TR FEL THAL TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Fitt)
(Note)
R-B-—%—f—H At 1 January 2021 3,195 (5,163) 17,303 1,100 (3,100 9,072 22,407
RAREBE BN Reversal of withholding tax upon
distribution - - (12,300) - - - (12,300)
8 GA) B Charge (credit) to profit or loss 17 (546) 14,712 - 466 1,168 15,817
HERBAR (F332) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) - 1,11 - - - (3,582) (2,411)
EBRE Currency realignment = (125) (1) 30 (85) 11 (90)
WZZ-—%+-A=1—H At31 December 2021 3,212 (4,723) 19,694 1,130 (2,719 6,769 23,363
A7 KB A Bl B 18 Reversal of withholding tax upon
distribution - - (10,074) - - - (10,074)
GtA)MERS (Credit) charge to profit or loss (166) = 6,530 = = 1,167 7,531
HERBAR (F3E32) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) - = (4,765) = = (897) (5,662)
W B AR (F331) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) - = - = - 1377 1377
EHRE Currency realignment - 400 197 (96) 229 (462) 268
WZZE__%+-A=1—H At31 December 2022 3,046 (4,323) 11,582 1,034 (2,490) 7,954 16,803

ER{EIKEARAF

T —FEFR




29 EEBREEE &

&

S E A B B A A
B i U (D 4
LRME  BERRE) A
SEREEL Y EEHES

&

R—_ZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H"
AEBBAFTRAMBEBELY
1,132,434,0008 L (ZE=—F :
1,578,527,0008 7t ' B IEE & 1
4 ZE RS BT {8 R RO Al o
RZE_—_F+=-A=+—8H"
B EEE17,293,0008 T
— T~ —4:18,891,000/ 7T)
MRELHIBEE BN KER
SPARREFRE  MABERBT
1,115,141,0008 c (=& = —%F :
1,559,636,000/8 7t ' B & E &R 1
KEXB) BREEMEEE - K
ERRIBEEF 732,169,000/
L (ZZF ——4 :1,259,500,000
BT BREERIEEEER) A &
(REAEL  SRBEER T F
—E-—F T RF)HZ
ATEY % {E A 2R EIH -

AEBEREFRBEMPEMSHE
BHEGHRTE et ke A
ETHEBAREZZEZENFE—A
— BRI Z &R 2R RS
% - BB B A R R 2K i R
BREBIE PREEMGHEER
B A& B 33 7€ [7] AR 3R 9 Ik B B8 s A
BRS% (ZEZ—F :5%) 2
MEBNBEHNR -BREZRR
7N 55 [ A 4 ) O R A R 2 RS
B mEREZRAENABER
D = ER &N S sy
BEfEBARE T N\FE—A—
AR A TR IRRE R
154,661,000 7T (Z T = — 4 :
2,001,065,000/ ¢ * B E & 1k
KOS TS ) FERIRE R A -
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29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/

LlABl LlTl ES (Continued)

Note: Others mainly represent deferred tax liabilities arising from
fair value adjustments on assets acquired (i.e. intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment) on acquisition of
subsidiaries.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$1,132,434,000 (2021:
HK$1,578,527,000, including discontinued operations)
available to offset against future profits. As at 31 December
2022, a deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of such losses amounted to HK$17,293,000 (2021:
HK$18,891,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining HK$1,115,141,000 (2021:
HK$1,559,636,000, including discontinued operations) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in the unrecognised tax losses, HK$732,169,000 (2021:
HK$1,259,500,000, including discontinued operations) may
be carried forward indefinitely and the remaining balance
will expire at various dates up to and including year 2027
(2021: 2026).

Deferred taxation on undistributed profits of subsidiaries
has been recognised taking into accounts the dividends to
be distributed from profits earned by certain subsidiaries
in the PRC starting from 1 January 2008 under the
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of the PRC that
requires withholding tax with tax rate at 5% (2021: 5%)
upon the distribution of such profits to the shareholders.
Deferred taxation has not been recognised in respect
of certain undistributed retained profits earned by the
subsidiaries in the PRC starting from 1 January 2008
amounting to HK$154,661,000 (2021: HK$2,001,065,000,
including discontinued operations) as the directors are of
the opinion that the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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30. I& &

30. SHARE CAPITAL

EE
Authorised
—E_FR
—EBE-—F
2022 & 2021
FHT
HK$'000

HHREEO0.10% 7T 2 B 7

FARRBZEETREABEAT

Shares of HK$0.10 each

80,000

Movements in the issued share capital of the Company

=) - during the years are as follows:
BHEE o]
Number
of shares Amount
T FHT
‘000 HK$'000
EBETRAR Issued and fully paid:
R-ZE-——%F—HF—H At 1 January 2021 556,659 55,666
B EEE Ky 2 Bk (fizka) Share repurchased and cancelled (note a) (2,780) (278)
LARE X B (BT 5EDb) Scrip dividend (note b) 14,605 1,460
RZE-_—F R _FT =4 At 31 December 2021 and 2022
+-—A=+—8H 568,484 56,848
B aE - Notes:

(a)
=S+—BLEFE BERE

REBEE=_ZT=—F+=A

A

BN F3.647% T E3.83B T E

{8 B [612,780,0000% f% 15 -
810,309,000 7T & R 1%
FlR OB ©

RZZE=Z—F+A - B@
Z—FHHRERFERR
KRFREEZERBEBHAR
Z—FNAATHEBAR/BEK
st 89 LA IR AR E & B LR
B % (SR EE0.107%5 7T)
BRE  RERTARE.95%
7714,604,9368& f% 15 ©

FAEC&EITIRMBENRSF T E R
ERZABEETRNEARSE

BX

T o
BEARBMBARNFARE

% oo

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH

B

BA 3%
B/

-= (b)
=
==
F&¥
NG
LA

TE

B None
HEHEEARR ZERF LEHE

year.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 2,780,000
shares were repurchased on the Stock Exchange at the unit
price ranging from HK$3.64 to HK$3.83 at an aggregate
consideration of HK$10,309,000 which was charged to
retained profits.

In October 2021, 14,604,936 shares of HK$0.10 each were
issued at a price of HK$4.95 per share upon election by
shareholders to receive shares in the Company in lieu of cash
in relation to the 2021 interim dividend and special dividend,
pursuant to the scrip dividend scheme as detailed in a
circular dated 14 September 2021.

All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing
shares in issue in all respects.

of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the



31. WEE B B 2 7]

RZTEZZF—A+tH &%
BB DAl ARE
3,750,0007T (#8 %5 7 #94,590,000
BIL)RBLUAKEBETFELES
RAoa ([WAamE]) AR
1,074,000t EHE XN KRR E
AR #3,250,0007T (&R
3,978,000/% 7T ) W B 1L 7 2k 08 2
HMNER AR®1,333,357 0 &
BER - NRPITEHE  AEE
RLA#REBZEERELAS
70% ML E R EK B A A
RARARRZHEIFZENBR
Al-WESEEMNERAR KE
AREBAREREEB Z2ME M
H-AWBEEMELEZAE S
%8 57,020,000 7T ©

RUHE B WS 2 & E R TR
BEET:
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 17 January 2022, the Group entered into two
agreements to respectively subscribe for RMB1,074,000
paid-up capital of IWFAMEEFREAFER QA ("L
#/2") at RMB3,750,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,590,000) and to acquire additional interest
of RMB1,333,357 paid-up capital of (L 7§ # /& at
a consideration of RMB3,250,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,978,000). Upon completion of the
transactions, the Group’s direct equity interest in || 7§t /&
increased to 70%, and [ 7% 42 and its subsidiary became
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
The purpose of the acquisition was considered to be an
expansion and increase in market shares of the Group’s car
maintenance business. The amount of goodwill arising as a
result of acquisition was HK$7,020,000.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition were as follows:

R UEE B &

At date of

acquisition

T T

HK$’000

EmVEE Intangible assets 5,508
FE Inventories 260
B 5 WA Trade receivables 5
H b fE W 5K I8 Other receivables 366
FE—HE&ERQRIFIEA Amount due from a group company 3,978
RITHEARIE S Bank balances and cash 99
B 5 R E Trade payables (1,486)
E b FE 5B Other payables (5,137)
EEFIE A E Deferred tax liabilities (1,377)
FERT 1A Tax payable (5)
2,211
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31. BB & 7] &)

RERH BHERUKEALAN
{8 45,0008 7T - XU B 8 - A
UBZEEFRPKAZBAR
& %8 /35,0008 7T » T H X M [
ZAEHNRERNKE R Rz RE

31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

The fair value of trade receivables at the date of acquisition
amounted to HK$5,000. The gross contractual amounts of
those trade receivables acquired amounted to HK$5,000
at the date of acquisition. The best estimate at acquisition
date of the contractual cash flows not expected to be

hEtRE - collected was nil.
EEEAE: Consideration transferred:
FHET
HK$'000
Re Cash 8,568
AWEmMEEZHE Goodwill arising on acquisition:
FHET
HK$'000
EEENRE Consideration transferred 8,568
o FEER RS Plus: non-controlling interests 663
B BEWEREE Less: net assets acquired (2,211)
R Ui i 7 2 A 2 R Goodwill arising on acquisition 7,020

R B EIRER 2 LA e e E
B8 A B SE 4R A A 25 (30%) Th iR
FEVE AR 5 MR 40 L B RS I P
BARABRNEEFECHERS

N HEBEESNZRER
BEIIARERENEBRRRY
BRME EXBER  RKM
BERREEZABERIESE
TR -BMRZEFLBETTEAH
BT EE 2 ERIGME Bt
BEHPESHABER ERKREE
EZEEEYAAMG

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH

The non-controlling interests (30%) in [Pt /8 and its
subsidiary recognised at acquisition date was measured at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the identifiable net assets of || 7 #f

B2 OIETE - € and its subsidiary.

In addition, the consideration paid for the acquisition
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of [LFEZi/& and its subsidiary.
These benefits were not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria
for identifiable intangible assets. The goodwill arising from
this acquisition was not expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
WHEEAZFRESRE Net cash outflows arising on acquisition:
FHET
HK$'000
KB eX 2R E Consideration paid in cash 8,568
B TBRITEMBREIRE Less: Bank balances and cash acquired (99)
8,469

WIBEHAEEEEZE
—
HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—H
EEEAFSFELARERE
MEBAE 2 XBEERGER
1,559,000 L c B ZE =T ==
+-—A=+—BLFEzLEHE
BRLUAKRERENBAREL
23,323,000/ 7T °

BRUBR-_TE_—_F—Hf—
AR AEBHE=-_ZT ==
F+-_A=+—RHLEEz%
¥ %15 53,359,525,000/8 7T
MAEBHE-_ZT_-_—_F+=
A=+—BHLEEFEZHFEA
1,295,631,000/%8 7T ° B & & #H &
HEHEB A WIHFRREWER
T F—A—BERMEL
ERBEECAEEEEBEREE
XBEZER MIERREREZE

Al o

Impacts of acquisition on the results
of the Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December
2022, loss amounting of HK$1,559,000 was attributable
to the business operation from|L 78zt f£and its subsidiary.
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 included
HK$3,323,000 which was generated from|l 7zt Eand its
subsidiary.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022,
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 of the
Group would have been HK$3,359,525,000, and profit for
the year ended 31 December 2022 of the Group would
have been HK$1,295,631,000. The pro forma information
was for illustrative purposes only and was not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022, nor was it
intended to be a projection of future results.
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32. HEME A F
E-_ZE-__F+=-A

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December

=t+—HBLFE 2022
(@) fOPMEE12FTHL - ARE B (@) As referred in note 12, the Group discontinued its

EEMBRAREILLITER
AR LD ORI TS ©

solvents operations at the time of disposal of its
subsidiary, HSD.

SHECIRREENEER The net assets of HSD Group at the date of disposal

260

B2 FEERT : were as follows:
T T
HK$'000
ME - FE MR Property, plant and equipment 1,044,985
Bk Goodwill 57,671
ENBEME BRERRZHZFE Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment 255
FE Inventories 765,252
Z 5 W RIA Trade receivables 2,075,964
H b 1 U BR B R TR S ROE Other debtors and prepayments 271,760
MESHBT A Derivative financial instruments 2,209
RITEBR LIRS Bank balances and cash 272,588
ERNERREGTER Creditors and accrued charges (982,828)
AEHEARE Contract liabilities (59,570)
JE A B 3R Taxation payables (11,504)
HESRE Lease liabilities (61,638)
BE Borrowings (133,268)
REHEEE Deferred tax liabilities (5,662)
BEHEFEE Net assets disposed of 3,236,214
HEWB AR 2 Wz : Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
FHET
HK$'000
2 sk e R (E Consideration received or
receivable 2,651,032
oo RAEEE R R Add: Interests in associates 1,209,492
oo SEFERRRE R Add: Non-controlling interest 806,051
B EHEFEE Less: Net assets disposed of (3,236,214)
B RBEA Less: Transaction costs (47,499)
HEWB AR KRS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 1,382,862
B TR Less: Income tax expense (198,706)
HEWB AR K Gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
kI8 net of tax 1,184,156
HEEEZEBLEA Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
FE T
HK$'000
BUWREKE Cash consideration received 611,066
B BHERITABKIAS Less: Bank balances and cash
disposed of (272,588)
338,478

ERILIEMAERAT —T- —FEFR
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E-F-_—%1+=H

Et—HLEFE

(b)

R-ZBE-_—FtA+X8 "
EREE XARARIZHEESR
BWBAA) B—FRBIE
=H(TEFDIZEE®
Z([EEm=#])  RNAA
HEZLEABREERA
AI(TRBD 228KBAR
EERRER  BRERD
282,682,000/ ot (KB ]
FTHE) AKBZXBEE
ABURBEBEEBAIERL
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32.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December
2021

(b)

On 16 July 2021, Yip's H.C, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (”Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with an independent third party
("Purchaser”),
of the entire share capital of Big Youth Investments
Limited ("Big Youth”) and assignment of shareholder
loan for an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$282,682,000, subject to consideration
adjustment. The major asset of Big Youth is an

in relation to the proposed disposal

investment property known as Yip’s Chemical Building
located in Hong Kong. The shares of Big Youth have
been transferred to the Purchaser on 16 July 2021.

The net assets of Big Youth at the date of disposal
were as follows:

FHET

HK$'000

wEY Investment properties 278,000

B 5 Kk E b EWSKIA Trade and other receivables 190

B 5 R EAMENFKIA Trade and other payables (38)

LR IE B & Deferred tax liabilities (2,471)

EHEFEE Net assets disposed of 275,681
HERB AT Z W Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:

FHET

HK$'000

BEWRE Consideration received 282,682

B EHEFEE Less: Net assets disposed of (275,681)

R RBEA Less: Transaction costs (3,733)

& Gain on disposal 3,268
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32.

ER{EIKEARAF

HEMB QR @

BE=-F-—-%+=A

T - —%F+—= F=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

32.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December

= '|' — Bl E'Er (#&) 2021 (continued)

o RZE-_—=F=~A=-+N (c0 On 28 June 2021, the Group entered into an
B KEBF &R —HB agreement to dispose of the 60% equity interest
FIERBRREENBEE in EEEXSABEARAFACERER"),
TAKBREARAR ([12 to a non-controlling shareholder at a total cash
BEX J)ZGO%H%& 48 35 consideration of RMB34,000,000 (equivalent to
& R ER AR ¥34,000,000 approximately HK$40,824,000). The transaction was
7T (A8 & M 4940,824, OOO;‘% completed on 6 July 2021.

L) cmEXRSZERZ
——F+ANHZEK °
EEELYALERBEE The net assets of fBE X at the date of disposal
BT : were as follows:
FHE T
HK$'000
M - B R RS Property, plant and equipment 21,080
3 Inventories 13,646
B 5 R HE U R IE Trade and other receivables 40,390
RITHEAR KRB ® Bank balances and cash 29,543
JE U [R] ZK Bt /&8 A B RIA Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 16,517
B — R R B A R IE Amount due to a fellow subsidiary (39,484)
B REMENKIE Trade and other payables (11,572)
FE S R Tax payables (767)
BEHEFEE Net assets disposed of 69,353

T —FEFR
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32. HEMBE D E = 32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
2T -_—%+—A8 For the year ended 31 December
=t+—HBLFE@w 2021 (continued)
HEMNB AR ZEE Loss on disposal of subsidiaries:
FHT
HK$'000
B RA(E Consideration received 40,824
o IRERR RS Add: Non-controlling interest 27,597
W BEHEFAE Less: Net assets disposed of (69,353)
& E 1R Loss on disposal (932)
HEEEZFREMA Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
FHET
HK$'000
Bk FEUR @ R B Cash consideration received or
receivable 36,021
B BHERITEMRKES Less: Bank balances and cash
disposed of (29,543)

6,478
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33.5 KA B 33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AEEEREEANEREBBE
e B 76 B M a5 7 17 - 878 & B B
TAREAKERLE I R/BRR
FHRREOE AEEEBRE
EREFEMER -

AEBZEAGBBREER X
ERNME28REZEERAR
AIRREGES (B ERITRAR
s (BREEREERN)) -

ARBEEEHEHNELASRE -
EREBEH MO EFEZEEAR
RAREERNBRZER RE
FRB AKEBBRMNEE
BOFBRRBETHEXEBEDR
EEE UNFHEAEEERER
K -

3. /T A
SR I EEHR

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
mainly include the borrowings disclosed in note 28, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves including retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

—E-= —E-—%F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
EWMEE Financial assets
REBHK A2 At amortised cost 4,521,361 5,444,927
BRAREF AR At FVTPL 177,318 137,459
BRARBEFFAEMEE At FVTOC
&
—IEE AR ARE A - equity instruments designated at
Hh 2 W ek 2 #Eam FVTOCI
TIA 11,098 15,035
— B RAREFFAEME - debt instrument at FVTOCI
a2 BT A - 18,351
PTESRTA Derivative financial instruments
—BERYAHAIAE — designated as hedging instruments 4,892 524
—JEEHT A - non-hedging instruments - 8,197
SRAE Financial liabilities
KA 2 & BfE  Financial liabilities at amortised cost 2,992,611 5,006,871
PTESRTA Derivative financial instruments
—BERYHAIAE — designated as hedging instruments - 2,730
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- PAREfR MBS B U ER X
BEERE AKREMEH TS
RERREERRFEZRRZT
AMBEEAES -

™5 &k
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables,
other debtors, derivative financial instruments, short-term
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, financial asset
at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, debt instrument at
FVTOCI, amounts due from associates, creditors and other
payables, lease liabilities and borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner. There has been no significant change
to the Group's exposure to market risk or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risk.

Market risk
Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, bank balances and bank
borrowings which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 12% (2021: 40%) of the Group's
sales are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities making
the sale, whilst almost 94% (2021: 92%) of purchases
are denominated in the relevant group entities’ functional
currency.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities including
trade receivables and other debtors, bank balances, trade
creditors and bank borrowings at the end of the reporting
period are disclosed in notes 22, 24, 25 and 28.
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3£ I H 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
R REEBREHNR Financial risk management objectives
E&%(@) and policies (Continued)
™ i Bk () Market risk (Continued)
SNEE R B (42) Currency risk (Continued)
BRRE DT Sensitivity analysis
AREBTXTEZE@mHET ARER The Group is mainly exposed to currency risk of USD,
B ZINERR - TRFLZE RMB and HK$. The following table details the Group's
EAr e B HABINEH sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and decrease in
5% (T - —4F :5% ) ZARE functional currency of respective group entities against the
BHRE c5% (ZZT=—F :5%) relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2021: 5%) is the sensitivity
AEEBYINEERA]EHIR 2 rate used which represents management’s assessment
EIEEETGATERZ RN E L of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
RoGRESMEBREHMALH rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
PASNEEEE 7 EHIEE - X HA foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
RIZINETE R5% (Z T — — 4 : their translation at the period end for a 5% (2021: 5%)
5%) SBBABRERE -HKES change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
Mg S rEWERIE -« RIT6E6 includes trade receivables, bank balances, creditors as
FENERREE - N3 I EHED well as borrowings. A positive number below indicates an
REE M H HRINE e og5% (ZF increase in profit after taxation where functional currency
——F 5% ) BHRERMNA strengthens 5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant foreign
Frign - = IhaE & ¥ X F8 g SN EE currency. For a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of functional
Egg5% (ZE = —4%F : 5% ) % - currency against the relevant foreign currency, there
BB EMAERSHERTE - would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit after
taxation.
—E-ZCF —EF=-—
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ET usb (102,440) (10,100)
AR RMB (2,473) (6,428)
BT HK$ 1,490 7,749
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BERBEEEBEHR

BUR (@)

™i& R (&)

INEE R B (45)

BREE DT (&)

AEENEHERER JEME
EARZREZIINERR  ZEX

T8 DA FE B8 £ B A A1 1 BE & BE LA SB

2 S TFTE - EABEBE QALY
BEEME H A INEE RSy (ZF
==43 th'$¢l%mé

%8 A ¥ m 2>4,428,0005 7T (=

— — % :19,033,0005% 7T) ° HE

N & A58 07,274,000 T (=
T — — 4 7,846,000 T) ' &

ZINR °

EERERA  BRFRERIL T
REREFRRER - HERE DL
TREAEINER

F = = b
AEBEEETEBRITFER R
TEE (ZEEEFBERNE28)
RHEEGEGFBREWZE27)EH
ZARBERNERRE AW BHiR
TEREKRNEH EBRITERE
R—FRNEE HEEERAL
HERSAEEMS W AERX °
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group is also exposed to currency risk in respect
of amounts due from/to group entities, which are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities. When the functional
currency of relevant group entities strengthens 5% (2021:
5%) against the relevant foreign currency, profit after
taxation of the Group will decrease by HK$4,428,000
(2021: HK$19,033,000) and the translation reserve will
increase by HK$7,274,000 (2021: HK$7,846,000) and vice
versa.

In management’'s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, bank borrowings (see
note 28 for details of these borrowings) and lease liabilities
(see note 27 for details). However, since the bank deposits
and the majority of the fixed-rate bank loans will mature
within one year, the management considers the risk is
insignificant to the Group.
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3. €@ T B w0 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
R REEBREHNR Financial risk management objectives

ANEBFENNEEEERITMSE TR The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
MEHBE ZRITERE T BHET in relation to bank deposits carried interest at prevailing
ER(FBRWE24K28) BEHE2 market deposit rate and floating-rate bank loans (see notes
BenMEER &€ T E 24 and 28 for details). The use of financial derivatives is
WNERSAEBRESEMitE 2 governed by the Group's policies approved by the board of
BERTBRE ZEWRIEHREH directors, which provide written principles on interest rate
MEREESTESRTE ZFH risk and the use of financial derivatives. The risk is managed
ZEMER - AEB AWK D H by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between
HRAMFSIA L ZRITEZRR fixed and floating rate for bank loans with initial maturity
BHEBETE LT RAES A period of two years or more. The Group uses interest rate
AUAEIRE BRE R - A% B R R swap contracts to hedge interest rate risk for certain bank
AREENRBREERRILZD loans carrying interest rate at floating rate in order to
R BNETHRITERERA X achieve the appropriate mix in accordance with the Group’s
HHALYUSAIEREARER S risk management policy. Hedging activities are evaluated
B2 HEE o ANEETEHIFE (A ¥ regularly to align with interest rate views and defined
SEELAFAS M ER R E RELE R risk appetite; ensuring the most cost-effective hedging

TR H A LT TE BB B 2 Interest rate swap contracts are designated as effective
WTE  WEFBEHREE (G hedging instruments and hedge accounting is used (see
BERME23) - BEFEEHE note 23 for details). Under interest rate swap contracts,
4 REBERBERHRETEEFE the Group agrees to exchange the difference between
MEFIE (R ELAEASETE fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated on
MNERE ZEANASAERR agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable
DREEEEE LIRS TR - the Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates
AT REEAS LM T E IR E and the cash flows exposures. As the critical terms of
HEEawHE PERAER - At the interest rate swap contracts and their corresponding
REESASEETTEEFTGE hedged items are the same, the Group performs a
WIEH A RSB A N EE L EE qualitative assessment of effectiveness and it is expected
WEHRIE A MNEE S EEE N = that the value of the interest rate swap contracts and the
By mASKERAEST ZF value of the corresponding hedged items will systematically
HoM R SR EN R T ERR change in opposite direction in response to movements in
ERXGHARAERGHE ZEE the underlying interest rates. The main source of hedge
EREARBEHAENORAREZT ineffectiveness in these hedge relationships is the effect of
B M EYRKR BN X the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the
FEyEWEPEERAAME- fair value of the interest rate swap contracts, which is not
2% 2 B R T IR E AR reflected in the fair value of the hedged item attributable
R RIR o to the change in interest rates. No other sources of
ineffectiveness emerged from these hedging relationships.

BE @) and policies (continued)
™% E ke ) Market risk (Continued)
FEERE (Z) Interest rate risk (Continued)
SEWN BREBARAKKEK strategies are applied.

B 3 SR S o

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH



3. €@ T B »)

BEEREEHESA
BT )

™5 B b ()

FRER (2

AT B 2 3 e BB OE ) R R
BHAN —AEEARSRY
B A R S R AT
AEFEfEENESRER
R o 8 1 % B 2540 2 N 2K A B
B BEANRANNSE &
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MER R MRS TRITRE
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FHANBEEREARTRE
HE -

BRBITEBRZBRITH SN TR
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate
interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are
designated as cash flow hedges to reduce the Group’s cash
flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on bank
loans. The interest rate swap and the interest payments on
the loan occur simultaneously and the amount accumulated
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss over the period that
the floating rate interest payments on debt affect profit or
loss.

The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
bank balances and HIBOR arising from the Group’s HK$
denominated borrowings.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement
of some interbank offered rates ("IBORs”) with alternative
nearly risk-free rates. The Group intends to continue using
HIBOR for its bank borrowings and interest rate swap
contracts in Hong Kong.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The directors
of the Company consider the Group’s exposure of the
short-term bank deposits with original maturity of less
than three months and bank balances to interest rate risk
is not significant as interest bearing bank balances are
within short maturity period and thus it is not included in
sensitivity analysis.
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3. €W T B ») 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
R REEBREHNR Financial risk management objectives

BE @) and policies (continued)
™ i Bk () Market risk (Continued)
FEERE (Z) Interest rate risk (Continued)
BRRE DT Sensitivity analysis

THGERREDTTIENRESE K The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
BIEPTETEmYE 2 A RE M E based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
T -MBPITEEMS  2M2ZH instruments at the end of the reporting period. For bank
BBREIINBERRREE A borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount
BEREREHREE - T H of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period
Z100MEE2 (ZZF = —4F : 100 were outstanding for the whole period. A 100 basis points
BEEZ) A% HEEBHANERS (2021: 100 basis points) increase or decrease is used which
A REEE ) 2 5 E M o represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

Het BREE (PBERESRE T T If interest rates on interest bearing borrowings (excluding
Z %R 17 B 30180,833,000/ T (= bank loans under cash flow hedges of HK$180,833,000
LT — — 4 : 336,250,000/ 7T)) (2021: HK$336,250,000)) had been 100 basis points (2021:
MZEEF/ THKIOOEER (=F 100 basis points) higher/lower and all of other variables
——F100EER)  mEAAEHE were held constant, the profit after taxation for the year
tHhEHRIE ABE_ZT - ended 31 December 2022 would decrease/increase by
T A=+ —BHULEFEZRFE approximately HK$14,793,000 (2021: decrease/increase by
St A % R > 38 A0 #4914,793,000 approximately HK$12,555,000). This is mainly attributable
B (T —F L Ny to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
12,555,000/ 70) - HFESHE AR borrowings which are not hedged against their exposures
REEAZZEEEZFRER to cash flow interest rate risk at the end of the reporting

PR E BRI EERRTARS 2 period.
© A E R
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
in equity instruments, unlisted investment funds and
debt instrument. The Group invested in unquoted equity
investments for long term strategic purposes which had
been designated as FVTOCI. The Group has a special team
to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to debt or equity price risk at the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2021, if the price of the debt
instrument at FVTOCI had been 5% higher/lower, the
Group's investment revaluation reserve as at 31 December
2021 would increase/decrease by HK$918,000.

If the price of the financial assets at FVTPL had been 5%
higher/lower, the Group’s pre-tax profit as at 31 December
2022 would increase/decrease by HK$8,866,000 (2021:
HK$6,873,000).

If the price to sales ratio of the unlisted equity instruments
had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower, the Group's
investment revaluation reserve as at 31 December
2022 would increase/decrease by HK$214,000 (2021:
HK$1,503,000). If the price of other unlisted equity
instruments had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower, the
Group's investment revaluation reserve as at 31 December
2022 would increase/decrease by HK$896,000 (2021: nil).
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

R REEBREHNR Financial risk management objectives
BE @) and policies (continued)

EER KR EFTM Credit risk and impairment assessment
FERRERAEB 25 7HE Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
REZEZEHNEEMEREE R default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
SXUBEBRZEAR - AEB®@ losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
HrezERMBIERAE FEK primarily attributable to trade receivables, other debtors,
RIE - H b fE IR BR 3k - FE U B amounts due from associates, short-term bank deposits
NEIHE - CHETHERLIEST and bank balances (2021: to trade receivables, other
HEH (ZEZ—F EFHEER debtors, short-term bank deposits, bank balances and
B HMEWERR  REHRTRE debt instrument at FVTOCI). The Group does not hold
FBTEBREEAREFAH any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
fherEmkazEBETRE) -BET credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that
BoRWHRBLAFEEZBER T 2 settlement of certain trade receivables are backed by bills
CRMBRBETZEE I EHIN issued by reputable financial institutions.

AREBEYERFAEMERmpLE
MEEEREEARESREE
HREERRREHRRE -

REBEH S REEETRET G - The Group performed impairment assessment for
EAANEB 2 ZERRBREIE - FT financial assets. Information about the Group’s credit
B a2 EERRE RIBERE risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and
P (AEA) BRI T the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are

summarised as below:
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AEBZABEERRIREE
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RS EFFAR

Internal
credit rating
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives

B 3R &5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

and pOl icies (Continued)

(Continued)

comprises the following categories:

L]

Description

85 B WA

Trade receivables

= A\
e

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

B2 EWHE
Bz emEE
Financial assets
other than trade
receivables

715 R S it 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ERB

Low risk

ERAE

Watch list

Tz &R

Doubtful

B

Loss

T 88

Write-off

RHTZENBRRELBEB AR
RENERRERES -

The counterparty has a low risk of default
and the debtors sometimes repay after due
dates but usually settle in full.

REHA

BEBAKLERREN
BXFZEH -

Debtors frequently repay after due dates
but with reasonable and supportable
information.

BEAEHAR

BHENR  YEEMAEAAERIRIKZ
BF o BIARBBSNEBEIRPTIS B R
THRERANR  EERBREBREZM -

Overdue without any reasonable and

SHRAEERL -
TELBREERE
Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

SHRAEERX -
TELBREERE
Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

PHEREERE -
TELBREERE

Lifetime ECL —

supportable information. There have been not credit-impaired

significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through information
developed internally or externally
resources.

EEBBTREELRBREERE-

There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired.

FEBEBRNMEBABABREYR  ~&£H
B ERIE 2 BERES -

There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

SHRAEERL -
EHREERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

FORE WA

Amount is written off

1RMEREHEERK

12m ECL

NREARBEERK

12m ECL

SHEBERRE -
I &R EERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

FHRBEERK -
EHREERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

TR B Rt

Amount is written off
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34.

E@MIE

BEEREEHEHR
BUR (#)
EERRKEBESG#)

EFEHNMEEZEZBURK
B

BZRERBRES MR TRET
%&WEZK§§ﬁ°EﬁEM
BEERR AEEEEEEH
#EAEﬂEﬁE*W~EE%
K E fh BE AR o DA RE AR (F
BOETTE R B HE TS -

AEBEENAEERTFZHE
BITHTHERZEE -RZ=Z
5+ A=+—H #®B85
= FUE A Z % 49 £409,878,000
BT (ZF = —4 :2,384,600,000
BIL) c ARFIEERARZE S
WG EBENEREERALE
X BEEARBEBERITIIEPEE
BEGHREMHARSEREIR

ZEERIFZRT -RUME
ARAEERRAKEZEER
REBEMRR -

o REEREEHEEEX
HARTAZEETFENESRE
U 5k T8 i 51 3k 4% 5 B B EH 1TR
B -BREREEREZES
R EREERNFEEREEE
Ko AEBEHEBRTEFER
ABEETHR - BHEARELASE
EABEEFARZEERESL
K B B AR A 4 K R {5 B B B R
HEITHMHE - imaﬁﬁwﬁé@ma
12,359,000 L (ZE = —F : |
B F%854,741,00087T) °

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH

T —F+=-H=+—HI1-%E For the year ended 31 December 2022

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
which spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated the responsible personnel for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed by
reputable PRC banks. Bills received from trade customers
amounted to approximately HK$409,878,000 (2021:
HK$2,384,600,000) as at 31 December 2022. The
directors of the Company consider the ECL for those trade
receivables is insignificant because the relevant banks are
reputable banks with high credit rating issued by credit
rating agencies in the PRC. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables not backed by
bills individually or on collective basis. Except for trade
receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the Group applies internal credit rating for its
remaining customers. Debtors are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics based on the Group’s internal
credit ratings, and by reference to repayment history and
past due status. Reversal impairment of HK$12,359,000
(2021: net impairment of HK$54,741,000) is recognised
during the year.
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3. €@ T B w0 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

BERBEEEBEHR
BUR (@)
EERRKRBEG#)

EFEHNFEEZE RN
H (#)

TEREI BEZEEEETNMH
REHBEHREEEL (LELR
SERBE) REZEWBRIEZE
BEEBRZEMN RZTEZ=_F
+_A=+t—BHLeFEELEAE
50,172,000 L (Z T = — F :
91,124,000/ 7t) W B {1 3R 5 B R
1B 2 & UR AR SR (B B B4 -

R-E-_—_F+=-A=+-—H

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed based on collective basis within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired). Debtors which are credit-impaired
with gross carrying amounts of HK$50,172,000 (2021:
HK$91,124,000) as at 31 December 2022 were assessed
individually.

At 31 December 2022

MERESE THERAR FRXEE BREEHE

Gross Average Net
carrying loss loss Carrying
amount rate  allowance amount
THET TFE T FTHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RS B R Internal credit rating
1K 3 Low risk 862,539 0.08% (700) 861,839
ERAE Watch list 6,361 17.15% (1,091) 5,270
5 5% Doubtful 12,295 47.60% (5,853) 6,442
881,195 (7,644) 873,551
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3. €M T B 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
R REEBREHNR Financial risk management objectives
BE @) and policies (continued)
FERREEBESGE) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
EFEHNMELEZE SRR Trade receivables arising from contracts with
I (45) customers (Continued)
R-—ZE-_—4F+=-A=+—8 At 31 December 2021

rEEeRE THERXRR FEXEME AR & 7R

Gross Average Net
carrying loss loss Carrying
amount rate allowance amount
T T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A 1S E R Internal credit rating
1B fx Low risk 2,194,819 0.09% (2,060) 2,192,759
ERLE Watch list 891 19.98% (178) 713
fr &% Doubtful 12,547 48.53% (6,089) 6,458
2,208,257 (8,327) 2,199,930
h 5F 18 2k 3= T4 2 50 FE Uk BR 5% 78 58 The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
FEAN 2 FE 2B E 4 R B AR observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
ERETBERANKSE B ] E and forward-looking information that is available without
BAEEERGEE %52 E undue cost or effort. Such forward-looking information
M RITERBENNEEER A with reference to market and industry data is used by
AEBEEERARTHENRRE R the management of the Group to assess both the current
H 2 BN EAT R R TEORI T R 48 W) e as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
DHEBASEEREEEHERN reporting date. The grouping is regularly reviewed by the
R EGEB A ZHEE R E management of the Group to ensure relevant information
1FEF about specific debtors is updated.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

2 HEH 2HEH
5 -¢-FS 5 -¢-FS
(Y B (BHB
EERE) EERE) @t
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
Impaired) impaired) Total
FExT FHExT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE-_—%—H—H As at 1 January 2021 8,458 50,742 59,200
EBADHBREERMESER  Transfer to credit-impaired (2,113) 2,113 =
BRBESEE Net impairment losses recognised 4,081 50,660 54,741
AHEHATAKESEE Amounts written off as uncollectible = (19,300) (19,300)
BHsHE Currency realignment (99) 1,495 1,396
HE— M8 AR Disposal of a subsidiary (2,000) - (2,000)
RZTEZ—%F As at 31 December 2021
+=-A=+—H 8,327 85,710 94,037
BATHREERELSER Transfer to credit-impaired (1,008) 1,008 -
TR (EFEE CRERE  Net impairment losses (reversal of
#[) impairment losses) recognised 1,302 (13,661) (12,359)
HEATIKESE Amounts written off as uncollectible (262) (4,925) (5,187)
ErCRE Currency realignment (715) (8,017) (8,732)
& HT B 2 Al Disposal of subsidiaries = (10,022) (10,022)
A= —— As at 31 December 2022
+=ZA=+—8 7,644 50,093 57,737
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3. €M T B
BMERMESEEEHR

E&%(@) and policies (Continued)

S & E e R E S ()

(Continued)

EFEHNMEEZEZBURK

IH (&) customers (Continued)

EREEMBETREBABAREY
R B 3 & W 0] 3008 2 B R FE & (1
MEBADEBRIDETHE
BF UREZEEERE) - BIR
KB HE 5 EWKIE -

earlier.

TRFNAEEEMBEREELZ
EERR  FHERRARXRY

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Trade receivables arising from contracts with

The Group writes off trade receivables when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings whichever occur

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other financial assets, which are subject to ECL

SEB A assessment:
128 R-B-ZF RIB--f
28#EH t=A=t—-H t=A=t-H
ABEETR  ABEETR FEELX ZARESE ZERESH
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount
External Internal as at as at
credit credit 12mor 31 December 31 December
rating rating lifetime ECL 2022 2021
THET THT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BHMERANEMEE  Financial assets at
amortised cost
RHFETERRETES Short-term bank deposits and AR E TER 1218 A 1,088,116 758,317
bank balances A or above N/A EEEX
12m ECL
H th e e R Other receivables @A gy 12 AEH 2,105,170 96,666
N/A Low risk FEBRX
12m ECL
JE B & 1 RIRR Amounts due from associates NER EERE 1208 A EH 78,164 =
N/A Low risk FERX
12m ECL
BRARMEFAHRMEE  Financial asset at FVTOCI
WEzeMEE
BAREFAEMEE  Debt instrument at FVTOCI TEH TEH 12{8 A B 58 = 18,351
Wmz EHIA N/A N/A FERX
12m ECL
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Short-term bank deposits and bank balances

Credit risk on short-term bank deposits and bank balances
is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for short-term bank
deposits and bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. The management of the Group
considers the short-term bank deposits and bank balances
are short-term in nature and based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on short-term bank deposits and bank
balances is considered to be insignificant.

Other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 December
2022, impairment loss amount of HK$2,499,000 (2021:
HK$6,118,000) was recognised.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Amounts due from associates

The Group regularly monitors the business performance
of the associates. The Group’s credit risk in these balances
are mitigated through the value of the assets held by
these entities and the power to participate the relevant
activities of these entities. As at 31 December 2022,
amounts due from associates with gross carrying amount of
HK$78,164,000 (2021: nil) were assessed individually based
on 12-month ECL and were considered to be performing.

Debt instrument at FVTOCI

The Group’s investments in debt instrument comprise listed
bonds with principal amount of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$59,545,000) with contractual interest rate at 6.95%
issued by a company with its shares listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
reversal of ECL allowance for debt instrument at FVTOCI
HK$13,178,000 (2021: ECL allowance of HK$42,826,000)
was recognised based on the reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensure compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had available
unutilised bank facilities of approximately HK$921,860,000
(2021: HK$3,852,089,000, including discontinued
operation).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period. For
derivative instruments settled on a net basis, undiscounted
net cash outflows are presented.
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3. €@ T B ) 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)
R REEBREHNR Financial risk management objectives
BE @) and policies (continued)

REESRREE) Liquidity risk (Continued)
RBEERANRARE Liquidity and interest risk tables
-ENEE BENLE AHERR
mEFSNE  SR-ER -fAE-% FEERE FRALF BFAL  REREE ik
Morethan ~ More than Total
Weighted Tmonth  1yearbut  2yearsbut contractual
average Less than to less than less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
E TR TEn TERL TR TER TEn TER
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZB-ZET-A=1-8  At31.122022

FTEEREER Non-derivative financial liabilities
HESE and lease liabilities
EfER Creditors TR NA 400424 450,688 - - - 81,112 81,112
&8 Borrowings
—%8 - at variable rate 5.61 20,093 368,889 239,712 85,790 - 714,484 674,834
~E8 - at fixed rate 477 1,100,516 295,582 87,514 41,889 - 1,525,501 1,505,641
HERE Lease liablities 445 1738 17,030 9,249 12,139 6,288 46,444 41,206
1,522,711 1,132,189 336,475 139,818 6,288 3,137,541 3,072,793
R-BZ-F+ZB=1+-B At31.12.201
FiiESHEARR Non-derivative financial liabilities
HESE and lease liabilities
ERER Creditors TRENA 74495 2,112,040 - - - 28%9% 285699
fEE Borrowings
-8 - at variable rate 1.5 25,652 374932 385,306 306,806 - 1,092,696 1,072,600
-E8 - at fixed rate 256 251,534 605,417 112,335 128,462 - 1,097,748 1,077,275
EEE Lease liabilties 451 3327 33,608 26,000 45,619 54,279 162,833 134,568
1,025,469 3,125,997 523,641 480,887 54,279 5210273 5,141,439
fTEI8 - BEE Derivatives - net settlement
xRS0 Interest rate swap contracts 1 2,080 892 24 - 3517 2730
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continved)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The directors of the Company determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for the fair
value measurements. In estimating the fair value, the
directors of the Company use market-observable data to
the extent it is available.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy

NERAREFEERAAEFE
MABBZUBEEREESRZA

into which the fair value measurements are categorised

RELRB(E—FE=FH) 2B o (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.
LREE/LRAR RTSIBHZAAE RA MEFERTRIZRALE ERELEREAUE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy ~techniques and key input(s) unobservable inputs
ZECCEtIRSY-R ZEC-FTZAST-A
31.12.2022 31.12.201
BB A RENGZBRIE - 18,351,000 T 24 —BEEm S 8E - TER
Debt instrument at FVTOC| - HK$18,351,000 Level 1 Quoted price in an active market N/A
AEATESBIAZFERESAY EE(REHREHE)  AE(BEUMENE) £28 ERRER - ARFERNERERHE THEA

- 4,892,000% 7 - 524,000/ ¢ (ttasHkz B aEhERT)
RETHRERE  RREXHAR
B (RERREHE) ALE (WER) GERR AR R
=2,730,000% 7 B3
Interest rate swap contracts classified as ~ Assets Assets Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows ~ N/A
derivative financial instruments (under hedge (under hedge are estimated based on forward
accounting) accounting) interest rates (from observable yield
- HK$4,892,000 - HK$524,000 curves at the end of the reporting
period) and contracted interest rates,
Liabilities discounted at a rate reflects the credit
(under hedge risk of the counter-parties and of the
accounting) Group as appropriate
- HK$2,730,000
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34. £ BT A 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued
ERMIAEZAREFE Fair value measurements of financial
(#%) instruments (continued)
SREE/SRER RT3IEHZARE ) MERBEETRIEANEE EREEERRALE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy ~techniques and key input(s) unobservable inputs
Z§IZEZAZt-B ZEC-F1ZA=T-H
31.12.2022 31.12.2021
NERHAH - BE(UFREHREHE) 224 BRRER - KRRGRNEREDES TER
- 8,197, 0007 EZRABHE (RAEHAZTHE
Ya2hEE) RETHNEERR
AR REREREER -
ERE RIS RAKE (ER)
ZEERR-
Foreign exchange forward contract - Assets Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows — N/A
(not under hedge are estimated based on forward
accounting currency exchange rate and market
- HK$8,197,000 interest rate (from observable yield

curves at the end of the reporting
period) and contracted foreign currency
exchange rate and market interest rate,
discounted at an applicable discount
rate taking into account the credit risk
of the counterparties and of the Group

as appropriate.
BOAEFARGEEREZ SHAE  8959,00087 - FR il AER
-BRAALEGAR MR ARG
BREREIA
Financial asset at FVTOC HK$8,959,000 - Level 2 Recent transaction price. N/A
- unquoted equity instrument at FVTOCI
NN RN A 12,355,000 7 27,931,000 0 220 il AER
- FLmREEE
Financial assets at FVTPL HK$12,355,000 HK$27,931,000 Level 2 Recent transaction price. N/A
- unlisted investment funds
EARBHNER EHAR - 6,678,000/ ¢ =0 —EERTAZRE RRTTARAN RIMARALI
- EmkAES i FIAEE o B mERAENT
A AERR
RZ g% o (W)
Financial asset at FVTPL - HK$6,678,000 Level 3 Quoted price in an active market Discount on lack
- listed equity securities adjusted for consideration of lack of of marketability.
marketability. The lower the

discount on lack of
marketability, the
higher the fair value
and vice versa.
(note (i)
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3£ T H 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
ETRIBEZAAETE Fair value measurements of financial
(#%) instruments (continued)
SREE/SRER RTHRBZARE ) MEKERTRIZRALE EXRLEREAUE
Financial assets/ Fair value valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at Hierarchy ~techniques and key input(s) unobservable inputs
“B-CE+Ch=t-R ZE--Ff-A=1-H
31.12.2022 31.12.2021
EAREHAAMRENGZEHEE 213000087 15,035,000 ¢ =8 ERERSZEMBRMERL,  THE-THERR
-BRAAL B AR R ARG AR MERE R
BREREIA LT o
Financial asset at FVTOCI HK$2,139,000 HK$15,035,000 Level 3 Fair value derived by the management Price to sales ratio.
- unquoted equity instrument at FVTOCI estimation with reference to the price o The higher the price
sales ratio of the industry. to sales ratio, the
higher the fair value

BAREHABRERAE 164,963,000% T
-FEMREES
Financial asset at FVTPL HK$164,963,000

- unlisted investment funds

P g

() BR=ZWBRBEIFME M
R D5%TMET A i BT
2 BE_T-—FT=A
= +—BUEFEMNEIEEE
hn/ 3% 4>334,0005% 7T -

(i) ®B=mBRBUEFTME N
B A5% M AT A H R
g - BE_T-__F+_H
St+—BULEFENEEGE
Bn,/ # 4°825,0008 T (= &
——% :514,000/87T) °

102,850,000/ 72

HK$102,850,000

Notes:

and vice versa.

=0 YBRABELNEEFERATARE REMARAL -
iZiEiD g AR
A ARERR
Rz
(i)
Level 3 Applying marketability discount to the net  Discount on lack
asset values per share or unit. of marketability.
The lower the
discount on lack of
marketability, the
higher the fair value
and vice versa.
(note (ii)

A 5% increase/decrease in discount on lack of marketability
holding all other variables constant would increase/
decrease the loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 by
HK$334,000.

A 5% increase/decrease in discount on lack of marketability
holding all other variables constant would increase/
decrease the loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 by
HK$825,000 (2021: HK$514,000).
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Z-T - —HF+ = f=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

34. £ T B (s 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
ERITEZAAREEE Fair value measurements of financial

HREARBLERSMEERD A listed equity securities was classified as Level 3 hierarchy
FREZEH W EMRAZTSFR investment as at 31 December 2021 due to the locking
—E -+ -_A=+—H»HE period on the trading of shares in public stock exchange.
BEZHMKE ZEHRNEZE — The locking period ended during the year ended 31
E-_—Ft+t-A=+—RBItEE December 2022 and therefore the investment was

R_BE-_—F+_A=+—H " As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of certain unlisted
ETHOEAEAARETFAERY fund investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL
SREENIFLTESERENAD was determined by reference to the recent transaction
REDNZREZLATZFEBRETE prices and hence was classified as Level 2 of the fair value
ALBEARAREBRE 4 - hierarchy. As at 31 December 2022, these unlisted fund
R—ZEBE-_—_F+_F=+—8H" investments have no recent transactions as such the fair
ZEIIETMESRENTEFTAR value of these unlisted fund investments classified as
5 AWZESEREAALE financial assets at FVTPL was determined based on applying
AEaMEeMEENELETES marketability discount to the net asset values per share
BENAARBENERESER%E or unit. As valuation of these unlisted fund investments
BUMEEFEREAMSREN involves unobservable inputs for the asset, these unlisted
WHNET BRZIIILETES fund investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL are
RENEESREENTAEE classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at 31

(#) instruments (continved)
R ARBREASE =REL - transferred out from Level 3 hierarchy.
BABE R-_ZTE-_—_F+=-A December 2022.

=+t—HZEFLIBRERAR(ER
ABSENEREENFLTES
REBARABEERNE =M -

M EXFREN REFEARNSE Except of the above, there were no transfers between Level
— s Z R =R zEETAER - 1, 2 and 3 during both years. The transfers between levels
RNABERERFTTRARR 2 EEE of the fair value hierarchy is determined at the date of the
BIhRENEEANSEIE SN E event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

BZHERE -
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HE—_ZT—-—F+—- A=+—HIL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022
3. €T H » 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
ETRIBEZAAETE Fair value measurements of financial
(%) instruments (continued)
F=ZRMAABETEZHER Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements
BRARETTA BROAE
H fth 2 W & STABRZ
ZEBMEE TMEE
Financial Financial
asset assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL
T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE=-—F—HF—H At 1January 2021 19,083 =
Hﬁlﬁﬁﬁrﬁﬂﬁﬁ Acquisition of financial assets = 110,839
RE A2 H KR ER Fair value change recognised in other
N EEE comprehensive income (4,048) -
RIEBEERZARE Fair value change recognised in profit or
& loss - (1,722)
B Currency realignment = 411
R=—T=-_—%+=A# At 31 December 2021
=+—H 15,035 109,528
EEEE =R Transfers into Level 3 = 24,833
EHE =R Transfers out of Level 3 = (6,678)
H&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁ Acquisition of financial assets = 32,797
7 HL At 2 T Ui 55 FE 3R Fair value change recognised in other
NAEEE comprehensive income (12,896) =
REEERZARE Fair value change recognised in profit or
=) loss - 6,150
o Currency realignment = (1,667)
R — At 31 December 2022
+=—A=+—H 2,139 164,963
FAGFABRR K BIEEE Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or
POREBRRERRTAEZERRD loss, HK$6,150,000 unrealised gain (2021: HK$1,722,000

AREFAEZZEREEZEH
5& """""" 438 I %5 /56,150,000 7T (=
T —F  REH 1,722,000
/%71) BERAABEFABZEZ @
BEZARBERZIERTATE
ol s & g5t | o

unrealised gain) relates to financial assets at FVTPL held at
the end of the current reporting period. Fair value gains or
losses on financial assets at FVTPL are included in ‘other
gains and losses’.

2022 ANNUAL REPORT  YIP’S CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

287



B3R & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

M|\ﬁéMﬁﬁ%mH

HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. €M T B 34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
tMIBEZAARENE Fair value measurements of financial
(&) instruments (continued)
F=Z=W/AAREFEZHE Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
(%) measurements (Continued)
FERARNEME2AWSIHERZ AL Of the total fair value change for the year recognised in
EERBHEED  NREEASE 0Cl, HK$12,896,000 (2021: HK$4,048,000) unrealised loss
ZRALEFAEMEERREZ was related to financial assets at FVTOCI held at the end of
CREEZEBREEEBEER the reporting period.

12,896,000 L (=& = — 4 :
4,048,000/ 7T) °

HhemEEREMABBZAR The fair values of other financial assets and financial
BENEBRERBERBEROMZ liabilities are determined in accordance with general
ARTEERAUET -AQARESR accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
RE LWEEREHEKNALEZS analysis. The directors of the Company consider that the
MEENSRBEZCERSEN carrying amounts of these financial assets and financial
AAREHRESE - liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate their fair
values.
BRI - Al B 1T Financial assets and financial
BMEREEZHEREMN liabilities subject to offsetting,
HEZETHEERERM enforceable master netting
=R arrangements and similar
agreements
AREBEETHXER  WEA The Group has entered interest rate swaps that are covered
X5 EIRIBITEHIEE R by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association
HEMTHE T A= ([ISDAE Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) signed with
Z1) o ARISDAZE R ERELD - various banks. These derivative instruments are not offset
mAOEENEERAEETE - in the consolidated statement of financial position as the
WA E B RN EA ER B E T ISDA Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in
HEEHEHRZER  WM&ZED the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that the
AT A EmRERE B BARR&R Group currently has no legally enforceable right to set off
H AR ETFREELTHEDRHF R the recognised amounts. No further disclosure is provided
MESRBEETEAN Bt RIEGRE as the amounts involved in master netting enragements are
— S 2EBE-R_T_—_F+= not significant. Outstanding forward exchange contract as
R=+—BzZzREEZHINEER at 31 December 2022 is not covered by ISDA Agreements.

T XISDABZEEZ °
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BB.REXEKEMEEZ 35.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

BEEYHER ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
TR EBAANEBREEEE The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
EXEZE8EEHFE BREE: arising from financing activities, including both cash and
RIEReEH MEEBRES non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
ZBENESRYRNEREER are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
AREB 7GR ERERND LA will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
BIREEBELA R SR 2 cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
BfE-
BRI ERRE
HiirE (FEAEHAt (FEAEHAt
SRRE BE HERE E5E) E5E) @it
Interest Dividend
Hedge payable payable
Derivative (included in  (included in
financial Lease other other
investments  Borrowings liabilities payable) payable) Total
THT THT T TR TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZT-—%F—H—H At1January 2021 9,232 1,624,487 92,283 722 - 1,726,724
RERER Financing cash flow (5,547) 525,388 (36,220) (43,368) (198,955) 241,298
FEXH Interest expense 5,547 - - 44,508 - 50,055
EERKRE Dividends declared - - - - 271,249 271,249
YR TAEAZFEHE  Net adjustment arising
from hedging
instruments (7,026) - - - - (7,026)
HEAERE Addition on lease liabilities - - 76,372 - - 76,372
MABRA & Scrip dividend - - - - (72,294) (72,294)
ERAE Currency realignment - - 2,133 - = 2,133
R-BE-—%F At 31 December 2021
+-A=1+—H 2,206 2,149,875 134,568 1,862 - 2,288,511
BERER Financing cash flow (544) 163,868 (37,206) (61,815) (211,684) (147,381)
s Interest expense 544 - - 64,841 = 65,385
EERKRE Dividends declared - - - - 227,643 227,643
YT AEA ZEHE  Net adjustment arising
from hedging
instruments (2,206) - - - - (2,206)
NEAEAE Addition on lease liabilities - - 24,956 - - 24,956
AHEEAE Written off of lease
liabilities - - (8,739) - - (8,739)
B Currency realignment = = (10,735) - - (10,735)
HERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - (133,268) (61,638) (1,862) - (196,768)
i s At 31 December 2022
+-A=+—-H - 2,180,475 41,206 3,026 15,959 2,240,666
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T —F+=-H=+—HI1-%E For the year ended 31 December 2022

36.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 25 May 2012, a share option scheme (the “2012
Scheme"”) was adopted by the shareholders of the Group’s
ultimate holding company, Yip’s Chemical Holdings Limited
("YCHL") and the 2012 Scheme expired on 24 May 2022.

Following the expiry of the 2012 Scheme, a new share
option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”, together with the
2012 Scheme, collectively the “Share Option Schemes”)
was adopted by the shareholders of YCHL at the annual
general meeting held on 6 June 2022. The 2022 Scheme is
valid and effective for a period of ten years from the date

of adoption, i.e. 5 June 2032.

Options granted under the 2012 Scheme prior to its expiry
will continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the rules of the 2012 Scheme. YCHL operates the
Share Option Schemes for the purpose of recognising and
motivating the participants, and providing incentives and a
direct economic interest in attaining the long term business
objectives of YCHL. Under the 2022 Scheme, the directors
of YCHL may grant options to any eligible participant,
including directors of YCHL or of any its subsidiaries and
associated company, adviser, consultant, agent, contractors,
client, supplier and/or such other person, who in the sole
discretion of the board of directors of YCHL has contributed
or may contribute to YCHL and its subsidiaries and/or
associated company, to subscribe for shares of YCHL. The
exercise period of options granted shall not be more than
ten years from the date of grant and the board of directors
of YCHL may provide restrictions on the exercise of options
during the period the options may be exercised. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of options.
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36. B R ST 8 ) 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
ARABBEREAE T ZHAKITE A summary of the movements of the outstanding options
BERERSREHAZEHRHE and their related weighted average exercise prices during
PR MEEHITEEMTINT : each of the reporting periods under the Company’s share

option scheme is as follows:

BE-—_ZE-——F#+=A For the year ended 31 December
=+—BLEE 2022
BRERR
Number of share options
R-B-Z%
R-EB-Z +=A
—-A-H =+-H
REBH THE i R AT FREX i R AT
Outstanding Lapsed  Outstanding
Date of at during at
grant Exercise price 1.1.2022 the year 31.12.2022
BT
HK$
—E-Citd —Z-=f-At-H
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 3,600,000 - 3,600,000
ARERITRE
Exercisable at the end of the year 3,600,000
BT B BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
BRMETHTRE
Weighted average exercise price per share 5.942 5.942 5.942
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36. B IR AERH & o) 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
BE-—_ZE—-—%+—=A For the year ended 31 December
=+—HLFE 2021

BiREHA
Number of share options
R=Z=—%
RZZ=—F +=A
—A—H ==
KL AH T6(E W RITHE FRERB W RATEE
Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Date of at during at
grant Exercise price 1.1.2021 the year 31.12.2021
BT
HK$
—B—Citdl “Z-=4—-RA+—-H
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 3,600,000 = 3,600,000
RERITE
Exercisable at the end of the year 3,600,000
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
BRMETHTERE
Weighted average exercise price per share 5.942 5.942 5.942
CBEERERANEEMEERE Details of the options held by the directors included in the
ZEIBAT above table are as follows:
BE-—_ZEZ-——F#+—AH For the year ended 31 December
=t+—BLFE 2022
BREHA
Number of share options
R-B=-ZF
R-B=-ZF +=8
-A-H =t+-H
RiiAH TEE AT FRER i RTE
Outstanding Lapsed  Outstanding
Date of at during at
grant Exercise price 1.1.2022 the year 31.12.2022
BT
HKS
—T—ZirE I =
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 400,000 - 400,000
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36. 5 IR #EET &l o) 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
BE-—_ZE—-—%+—A For the year ended 31 December
=t—HLFE 2021

BREHA
Number of share options
RZBZ—%
i —cE +=A
—A—H E—IE
i A H TE(E AR FRKM i AR AT
Outstanding Lapsed Outstanding
Date at during at
of grant Exercise price 1.1.2021 the year 31.12.2021
BT
HKS
—T—_itE “E-=F—-A+—H
2012 Scheme 11.1.2013 5.942 400,000 - 400,000
MEEERNSETEBERE R No share options were exercised for both years. The option
H R M R{TEBERE METEH outstanding at the end of the period have a weighted
Flep & A FHB0.03F (ZE=— average remaining contract life of 0.03 years (2021: 1.03
£ : 1.035) o years).
A E B N EE LR RE o No share options were granted for both years.
BE-_ET— a8 B The share options granted under the 2012 Scheme were
REHYBAHEIRERRE B vested over two years from the date of grant and they
—E—RE—At+—HAEE_ZF are exercisable commencing from 11 January 2015 to 10
Z=F—ATHIEATITE- January 2023.
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HE-_ZT—_—F+=HA=+—HLL5E For the year ended 31 December 2022

37. E N AR 37.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
—E-ZCF — g
2022 2021
FE&T FET
HK$'000 HK$'000

BREWEYE - BE KRR Capital expenditure in respect of
fEhtiFEREZER  the acquisition of property, plant
X BRIAERRE  and equipment and land use right

&g mE RS contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements 8,124 45,088
3. REHERIE 38. OPERATING LEASE
COMMITMENTS
AEEBEAEEA The Group as lessor
FEHERDRELS 2WERNTF All of the properties held for rental purposes have
AR—FZNFERLYTE 2 EMA committed lessees for the next ranged from 1 year to 4
A e years.
HEZRKEREWHEASZROT - Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:
—E-C& —EF - —
2022 2021
FHET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 7,797 7,989
RE—F In the second year 990 6,946
RE=F In the third year 442 1,082
REME In the fourth year - 531
9,229 16,548
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T —%+=H=+—HI-4JE For the year ended 31 December 2022

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the related party transactions for the

year are presented below:

(a)

During the year, the Group paid rent of HK$960,000
(2021: HK$960,000) to Goldex Investments Limited
("Goldex”) in which Mr. Ip Chi Shing, the ultimate
controlling shareholder and a director of the
Company, has controlling interests over Goldex. The
lease arrangement with lease term of 12 months is
considered as a short-term lease.

During the year, the Group received rent and license
fee of HK$384,000 (2021: HK$384,000) and service
fee income of HK$53,000 (2021: HK$53,000) from
Ip Chi Shing Charitable Foundation Limited in which
Mr. Ip Chi Shing, a director of the Company, has
controlling interest over it.

During the year, the Group sold goods to
associates of the Group amounting to HK$578,000

(2021:HK$49,000).

The key management personnel are the directors of
the Company and the management executives of the
Company. The details of the remuneration paid to
them are set out in note 6.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group disposed 60% equity interest inf& & % 72,
to a non-controlling shareholder at a total cash
consideration of RMB34,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$40,824,000). Details are disclosed
in note 32(c).
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40. R K@ R 5+ &l 40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

NEE 2R SR ERTEE The Group participates in both a defined contribution
&Rz EBHEARFE ([BER scheme which is registered under the Occupational
RELE ) RIRE R &4 AR S E Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and
ZEHR —_EEEF+ AR a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
ZREIMEAELE ([AFESET established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
2]  ZEHEvEEEAEF Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes
CEESH HERIEATERZE are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
RESRFE TERBESFTEIKT the control of trustees. Employees who were members of
ZHI R ABERAKTEKE Z the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
BEEFEEEEL MR ERKT Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the ORSO
gl EEmiESstE mAAR Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
—EETFE+ - A — B AERH employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000

AREBRAPBEZHBRAREER T The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
AP BEBFEEHREEEENK are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
BHAEZKE - WEWEB A A operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
ZHBRAREHFSKRAZEER are required to contribute a specified percentage of
St EBZEKRERNEEET payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
ZE® o N5E E 5% R KR8 N EF benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
ElRE E—SEXERESEMR to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified

RIEBF B 2 K 2N A&54,826,000 The costs charged to profit or loss of HK$54,826,000
Bt (ZZ ——4 : 52,432,000/ (2021: HK$52,432,000) represent contributions paid or
o) REAEFIZEIHE AT payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in
Z R RS HRE A % & 5t & the rules of the plans in respect of the current accounting
YRS EMZER REE T period. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
T+ A=+—HILEE" contributions to the state-managed retirement benefit plan
MPEEMBRTEEZEREE operated by the local government of the PRC were reduced

ABAREHE EE/ERERTE are required to join the MPF Scheme.
EErEl o

Ko contributions.
BRABRGEOHEFAFRE A due to outbreak of Covid-19.

BREMAB R
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411. T EHBA T 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
ARRIEEZEWNBE AR ZFBOT - Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:
rEBRE
EfRL/ BRARAZEE/ BRATRAEE/
WRAREE Btk EMEL aRER LA TEEH
Proportion of nominal
Nominal value of value of issued share
Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
ZEZZF ZZ-—F%
2022 2021
EHEHHHEEBRAT B LB - 14966578 T 100% 100% REARRK
Bauhinia Advanced Materials Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$149,665 100% 100% Investment holding
Group Limited
EHEMI(ER)BRAR e -BENERE BARER - 100% 100% EEZH
AR 2,000,000
Bauhinia Chemical (Shanghai) PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
Company Limited enterprise RMB2,000,000
SHERH(LB)BRAT WE -BANERE  BAARER -40800,000% % 100% 100% HEREEZRH
Bauhinia Coatings Manufacturing ~ PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
(Shanghai) Co., Limited enterprise USD40,800,000 trading in coatings
LHIEAH (55 BRAR i Lak- 18T 100% 100%  REER
Bauhinia Coatings (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Bauhinia Paints Limited EERAES EER - 1,00087 100% 100% REZR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ZREs% (R8) BRAA wE - BENERE EXER - 100% 100% HERBERK
AR #28,000,0007T
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
(Chengdu) Company Limited enterprise RMB28,000,000 trading in coatings
RPRBERAA B EER - 2047 100% 100% REER
Bauhinia Paints Manufacturing Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$20 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
FEFRE (T3E) BRAA e - BENERE BARER - 100% 100% MFRE
AR #20,350,0007
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals ~ PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Property Investment
(Hebei) Limited enterprise RMB20,350,000
AEMnE (D) ARAR ME - BEMELE BXRER - 91.76%  91.76% HEREEMS
(IBAFEHAERNHERAR) AK#299,900,0007
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals ~ PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 91.76% 91.76%  Manufacturing of and
(Zhejiang) Limited (formerly known  enterprise RMB299,900,000 trading in inks
as Bauhinia Ink Company Limited)
REFmE(RL)BERAT wE - BENERE BARER-180,00000087  91.76%  91.76% HEREERS
Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals ~ PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 91.76% 91.76%  Manufacture of and
(Zhongshan) Limited enterprise HK$180,000,000 trading in inks
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M. ETEHE LR @ 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FEBEE
EMAL/ BRARAZEE/ BRTRAEE/
MEARERE i HMEE AMER LA TEEH
Proportion of nominal
Nominal value of value of issued share
Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
—E-_C-F —E--F
2022 2021
EEBARERAT B LRR-281 100% 100% ®AERK
Best Lubricant Blending Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERE(BE)ERAA 3 LER- 18T 100% 100% RERR
Best Prospect Investments Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
Brandway Limited RERTES LBk - 1% 100% 100%  HEER
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
B IARERAR A EER - 160,000 7T 75% 5% REERREERD
Concord Chemical Storaging Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$160,000 75% 75%  Investment holding and
trading in solvents
AEERE (M) ERAF e - BHENERE BARER - 24,500,000 7 100% 100%  EEBE
Da Chang Polymers (Huizhou) PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in resins
Limited enterprise HK$24,500,000
REATEERERMERAR  TE -BENELR  EARER-50,000000E7T 100% 100% HEREERER
Dongguan Pacoil Lubricant PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
Company Limited enterprise HK$50,000,000 trading in lubricants
ELHSHRARAT A EER- 1B 100% 100% EEHZEMR
R RS
EUCA Sanitizing Technology Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Trading in sanitising
Company Limited products and

provision of services

BREEERER AT BB EEK-13,030566.08%L  91.76%  91.76% RERRREEHE
Focus Hong Kong Development Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$13,030,566.08  91.76% 91.76% Investment holding and
Limited trading in inks
ERARAH EESD TER-1XT 100% 100% REZR
Great Success Limited Samoa Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HECIERERAT B LB - 600,000 2% 100% REZRLEEAE
Mz (a)
Handsome Chemical Development  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$600,000 32% 100%  Investment holding and
Limited Note (a) trading in solvents
RECIEEERAR TE -REAELE  AAER-289,000,000E T 24% 5% REREERA
Hiz(a)
Handsome Chemical Group Limited ~ PRC - equity joint venture ~ Capital contribution - 24% 75%  Manufacture of and
HK$289,000,000 Note (a) trading in solvents
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AEERE
BRTREZEE/ BRTRAEE/
EfER EMER 2Ll

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share
capital/registered capital
held by the Group

Nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

—#+= A=+—H -4 Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IRRH

Principal activities

“B-C-F ZZ”-F
2022 2021
RECIRBEERAR B £ B - 60,000 100% 100% REAERKR
REER
Handsome Chemical Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$60,000 100% 100%  Provision of treasury
services and
investment holding
BEEH(BR)ERAR TE-BENALE EARER - 20,000,000% 7T 100% 100% HEREEZH
Hang Cheung Coatings (Hui Yang) ~ PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Manufacture of and
Limited enterprise USD20,000,000 trading in coatings
Hang Cheung Coatings (Viet Nam)  #if - BASNE b EAREE - 100,000% 7T 100% 100% EBEZH
Company Limited
Viet Nam - wholly owned ~ Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
foreign enterprise UsD100,000
BEAMIERAR B £ B - 800,000 100% 100% RERR
Hang Cheung Petrochemical Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$800,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Hang Cheung (W.S.) Limited EES EAR-1ET 100% 100% HEZR
Samoa Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERTEARERAA BB LRk - 1B 100% 100% ®EERK
Hong Kong Pacific Oil & Chemical ~ Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Company Limited
ENBEIERAR TE-BELE BREH - 24% 75% REREERY
AR 15,000,007 Mz (a)
Huizhou Shengda Chemical Company PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 24% 75%  Manufacture of and
Limited enterprise RMB15,000,000 Note (a) trading in solvents
IRXBREERBRAA mE - BEMELE EAR AL - 53,000,003 75% 5% HEREE
Jiangmen Thansome Solvents PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 75% 75%  Generation and sale of
Production Limited enterprise HK$53,000,000 electricity
REREREARAH &k EER- 1B 100% 100% REER
Joint Rich Hong Kong Investment Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Prophet Investments Limited RERLES L@ - 1T 100% 100% KREEK
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Radiant New Limited ERRAES LRk - 1% 100% 100% #ERE
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - USD1 100% 100%  Property investment
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M. ETEHE LR @ 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FEBEE
EMAL/ BRARAZEE/ BRTRAEE/
MEARERE i HMEE AMER LA TEEH
Proportion of nominal
Nominal value of value of issued share
Place of incorporation/ issued share capital/ capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary registration registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
“B-C-E ZZ-”-F
2022 2021
FEEIEIXERAT HE-BERE BB - 723,980,000 7T 24% 5% HEREERE
K& (a)
Taixing Jinjiang Chemical Industry ~ PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 24% 75%  Manufacture of and
Company Limited enterprise HK$723,980,000 Note (a) trading in solvents
AUCIEHERAH &k £ B - 160,000 7T 24% 5% EBEREH
Mz ()
Thansome Chemical Trading Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$160,000 24% 75%  Trading in solvents
Note (a)
REEE(BE)BRRA A EER- 28T 100% 100% HEHS
TM Holding (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Holding of trade mark
M Holding Limited RBRUEE LRk - 18T 100% 100% #EAER
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Holding of trade mark
EREBE(ER)ARAA Bk LRk 18T 100% 100% EEZH
Yip's Camel (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 100% 100%  Trading in coatings
Yip's Chemical (BVI) Limited RERUES LA - 5008 T 100% 100% REZR
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$500 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRI IME (LB ERAR hE - BENERE EAREH - 17,000,000% 7T 100% 100% MERE
Yip's Chemical Research & PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Property Investment
Development (Shanghai) Company  enterprise UsD17,000,000
Limited
ERER(RE)ARAH &k LB - 999,500 T 100% 100% REBRRRERS
Yip's H.C. (Holding) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$999,500 100% 100%  Investment holding and
provision of services
ERIZERERARA B L@k - 10,0008 2% 75% REERREERH
Mz (a)
Yip's Industrial Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$10,000 24% 75%  Investment holding and
Note (a) trading in solvents
ERHE(RE)FRAT B Lak-28n 100% 100% REZR
Yip's Ink & Chemicals (Group) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
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—#+= A=+—H -4 Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IRRH

Principal activities

“B-C-F ZZ”-F
2022 2021
ERERR(RE)ARAT B L@k - 290,000 T 100% 100% HEERREEERH
Yip's Lubricant Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$290,000 100% 100%  Investment holding and
trading in lubricants
Yip's Pacific Limited ABRAES L33 - 36,251,000 100% 100% RERRK
British Virgin Islands Ordinary - HK$36,251,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERESMR (RN ERAR hE - BENELE EXER - 100% 100%  RRERT
A K 1,000,000
PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100%  Provision of services
enterprise RMB1,000,000
AEAREABEERBERAR  hE -2BR80E EXER - 61% 61% REBRRREAER
ARH8,903,0027 &R
PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Investment holding
RMB8,903,062 and provision of car
maintenance services
WRAESERERBERAR  BE -BEr% EXER - 61% 61% REAZRERE
A K #3,000,0007
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB3,000,000 maintenance services
RETABBEAEREARAA PE -BALE BARH - 61% 6% ERARRERS
AR 1,000,000
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB1,000,000 maintenance services
BUTAEBEEREERAR TE -BALE ERERN - ARES500,0007 61% 61% REAERERY
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB500,000 maintenance services
EYTARBE NEREARAR FH-BELX ERERN - ARHES500,0007 61% 61% REAERERE
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car
enterprise RMB500,000 maintenance services
BRABAREEREERAE  TE-BERNE EXER - 61% 61% RETERERE
AR 1,000,000
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% 61%  Provision of car

enterprise

RMB1,000,000

maintenance services
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41. T EWE A 7 =) 41.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

rEERE
ML/ BRTREZEE/ BRTRAEE/
HELAEH g EfER EMERZ LA £33 34

Place of incorporation/

Name of subsidiary registration

Nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

Proportion of nominal
value of issued share

capital/registered capital

held by the Group

Principal activities

“B-C-E ZZ-”-F
2022 2021
WRAESERERBERAR  PE-BEEZ BXER - 61% - REAERERY
AE1,000,0007C B2 (b)
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 61% - Provision of car
enterprise RMB1,000,000 Note (b) maintenance services
WEREEFERERAR hE-SERERE BRER - 42.7% - REAERERE
AR H3,438,6567T W3 (c)
PRC - equity joint venture ~ Capital contribution - 42.7% - Provision of car
RMB3,438,656 Note (c) maintenance services
WSS ERBERAR hE -SSR BRER - ARB6T1479T  42.7% - REAERERE
Mz (o)
PRC - equity joint venture  Capital contribution - 82.7% - Provision of car
RMB671,479 Note (c) maintenance services
ZHREHHRRE (RIERAR  hE-FENELE BREH - 100% 100% ®EEK
AR H5,000,0007T
PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution - 100% 100% Investment holding
enterprise RMB5,000,000
RSB (RN ERAR hE - BENERE BXRER - 100% 100% EZERSFEMR
AR #1,000,0007T AR

PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution -

enterprise

RMB1,000,000

100% 100%

Trading in sanitizing
products and
provision of services

RERENMEBRAT TE-BERE EXER - 2% 75% REREERY
AR 300,000,000 HiE(a)
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 24% 75%  Manufacture of and
enterprise RMB300,000,000 Note (a) trading in solvents
HEARBRMRE (P ERART HE -BELR CENTE 91.76%  91.76% REREMEREE
AR #12,000,0007 BB
PRC - wholly owned Capital contribution - 91.76% 91.76%  Inks and other product
enterprise RMB12,000,000 quality inspection
BEEE (R ERAF hE - BENERE BXRER - 100% 100%  REER
A K #35,000,0007

PRC - wholly owned foreign Capital contribution -

enterprise

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH

RMB35,000,000

100% 100%

Investment holding



41. T EMEB A 7 @)

B 5

(@ Z%EHBRIREBEEZZ-Z
—_—F+—A=+—HLHF
ER =R A TN N
o

b) ZHBRAARBE—_ZT_—_—
F+-_A=Z+—HLEFEF

(0 %EHBRIREBEEZZ-Z
——F+=-_A=+—HLHF
FE A% UL BE o

BYip's Chemical (BVI) LimitedH
KRB EEREIN - FTE H
BRrAYABRERE HKEARR
EEMEB ZIREERAFIN
LB ARIEEERNES A
FEMAC AL, 2 B AR o

EXANAEBZMBARTNE
ERREFEAEEXEREE
FEEZTEWNBAR -EER
RIS E M B QR ZF151E B
RIERE -

EHBARIR-_ZE-_—F+=-A
=+ — B 85 X {E {a] B R L AT
AEEESH -

B 3R &5 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#n B BT 15 #R S B 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_ZT-_—F+=-H=+—H I For the year ended 31 December 2022

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(a) The subsidiaries were disposed during the year ended 31
December 2022 and become associates of the Group.

(b)  The subsidiary was incorporated during the year ended 31
December 2022.

(c) The subsidiaries were acquired during the year ended 31
December 2022.

Except for Yip's Chemical (BVI) Limited which is held directly
by the Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held.
Except for the investment holding companies which have
no specific place of operation, all the above subsidiaries
operate principally in their respective place of incorporation/
registration.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at 31 December 2022 or at any time during the year.
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41. T EWE A 7 =) 41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

TREAM-_ZE-_—F+=A
=+t BEERFEREZZA
EEF2EMBRARZFIE

ERALEER
WEARER IREXMH

Place of incorporation

The table below shown details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests as at 31 December 2021:

FERERERZ ARTHERER
FARRER R RELA a7 (58) Rt K ERER

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights

and principal place of  held by non-controlling  Profits (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
—E_—F —E--% —T--F
2021 2021 2021
THL THL
HK$'000 HK$'000
A TREERAT i 25% 178,607 651,372
(IRELIZE])
Handsome Chemical Group Limited ~ The PRC
("Handsome Chemical Group”)
BREIAREARAR(HBA]) &% 25% (379) 206,188

Concord Chemical Storaging Limited Hong Kong
("Concord")

R—_ZTE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H"
FEEMBARIKIEIERER A
&R RERK e

ERSERFERERZAEH
MEBARZHMEEN (REEEY
BHRELRRE) BEHIIMNT -
UTHBERBZREEEEM
R BRI Z AR °

ERLIKERMAT —T— —FEFH

The non-controlling interests of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries are individually immaterial as at 31 December
2022.

Summarised financial information, which was prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, in respect of the Group's
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests was
set out below. The summarised financial information below
represented amounts before elimination of intragroup
transactions.
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

—E-—F
2021
FET
HK$'000

HRELCIEEREKE QR Handsome Chemical Group and its subsidiaries
[CE2-0] Revenue 13,992,039
Y Expenses (13,277,612)
NG 4 R Profit for the year 714,427
AE>HENZERE Total comprehensive income for the year 798,529
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,248.352
mENE E Current assets 4,620,364
mEBaE Current liabilities (3,191,935)
JEMEBEE Non-current liability (71,294)
A Total equity 2,605,487
RBHIRFTEE 74 m AF5  Net cash inflow from operating activities 397,399
REEGFEEZRER Net cash outflow from investing activities (291,122)
MEXKIEEZRER Net cash inflow from financing activities 84,945
B’emAFE Net cash inflow 191,222
ERRNEZ ¢ 33 O] Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (56,854)
—T-—F
2021
FAET
HK$'000

HAEEKEA A Concord and its subsidiaries

TR Revenue 177,393
57 [t Expenses (178,908)
NEEE Loss for the year (1,515)
RNE2E W= 25 Total comprehensive income for the year 2,036
EREEE Non-current assets 15,426
MBEE Current assets 924,599
wRBEE Current liabilities (114,063)
EMEBBE Non-current liabilities (1,208)
AR Total equity 824,754
KEXBMEEZE @R Net cash inflow from operating activities 67,069
WEXBFEEX 2RSSR Net cash outflow from investing activities (17)
MEEBFMEEZIRES R Net cash outflow from financing activities (66,792)
BEMANFEE Net cash inflow 260
B 1 FE 5 A% #E 2 A% B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests =
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42.

43,

ER{EIKEARAF

TEFRERS

RBE-_TE-_—_F+=-_A=+—
AEFEE AEBEFERAEE
MERBE R#ESET A
EeR - REBE_T_—_F1+=
AZ+—BLEEE A&EER
HERBRERERAEEE
24,956,000 L (Z & = —F :
83,017,000 L) R HE A&
24,956,000 T (=& = — & -
83,017,000/ 7T) °

REBEE_T-_—F+=_A=+—
AEtFEE AEEREEERE
K48 | RE SR FA#E & E28,739,000
BLT(ZE_—F:EB)RHEESR
58,739,000 . (=T = —F :
) o

REBEE-T-_—F+=-_A=+—
AIEFE AEBKEREME
71,302,000 7t - RERER &
35,359,000/ 7T « B 5 & H ftn fE
I 2 185,707,000 7T M A f
B AEMMEEKkEZEHITA
30,236,000/ 7T °

RBE-_TE-_—_F+=-_A=+—
HIEFE AEBEBESERK
1830,631,0008 T FEHE 5
BEEAFLEELTHEHAMNE
NEBEME  BEMEKEZFE

BEHREE

R-ZZE_=ZF=ZA+H ' ~x5H

HEFREFRBREEKAZIOER
EBCETLHE B AE
EEREWKEFELAH2 T
BERARF (RARRFHFHI.76%1HE
mA B A E) 82 T°8.24%H & -
KB A ARK69,320,0007T (HHE
A #978,137,0005 7T) °

T —FEFR

T —F+=-H=+—HI1-%E For the year ended 31 December 2022

42. MAJOR NON-CASH

43

TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into new lease contracts for the use of leased
properties and plant and machinery. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
of HK$24,956,000 (2021: HK$83,017,000) and lease
liabilities of HK$24,956,000 (2021: HK$83,017,000) during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
terminated leases and derecognised right-of-use assets
of HK$8,739,000 (2021: nil) and lease liabilities of
HK$8,739,000 (2021: nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
acquired an investment property of HK$71,302,000 with
consideration consists of cash of HK$35,359,000, trade and
other receivables of HK$5,707,000 and debt instrument at
FVTOCI of HK$30,236,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
transferred trade receivables of HK$30,631,000 to deposits
paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment in
relation to settlement arrangements entered with trade
debtors.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 10 March 2023, the Group entered into agreements
with a number of limited partnerships established under
the laws of the PRC, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to acquire the remaining 8.24% equity interest
in and of Bauhinia Variegata Ink & Chemicals (Zhejiang)
Limited, a 91.76%-owned subsidiary of the Company,
for the consideration of RMB69,320,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$78,137,000).
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44. 7K B B & AR R 3R 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
—E-C —E-—fF
2022 2021
FET FE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current assets
SN NI & Investments in subsidiaries 1,275,051 1,387,907
U — R B AlZKE  Amount due from a subsidiary 109,554 132,106
1,384,605 1,520,013
MBEE Current assets
H At & W kI8 K Other receivables and prepayments
TE T IE 151 151
RITEHBRERS Bank balances and cash 509 764
660 915
mEEaE Current liabilities
H At & 7 BR X% Other creditors and accrued charges
EEtER 878 799
WIS EREE Financial guarantee liability 277 1,838
1,155 2,637
mEAEFHE Net current liabilities (495) (1,722)
BEFE Net assets 1,384,110 1,518,291
AR A K {4 Capital and reserves
& 75 Share capital 56,848 56,848
Ee Reserves 1,327,262 1,461,443
W Total equity 1,384,110 1,518,291
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44. XD T BB AR R T ) 44.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
RHESTH Movement of reserves
RHEE BRERE ApRE EARE EARERE REER ait
Share Capital
Share option Other Translation redemption  Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

thr TR TR TER TR TR TR
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS'000

(i)
(Note)
RZE--£-f-H At 1 January 2021 505,188 3,138 77,700 172571 6,153 435384 1,200,740
KELH Profit for the year - - - - - 34546 374546
RAEZ25EEMELZ  Exchange difference arising on translation to
ERZR presentation currency - - - 35,828 - - 35,828
FERANRGEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 35,828 - 34546 410374
WEEER Rk Shares repurchase at premium - - - - 78 (10309 (10,031)
BfikS Dividends paid - - - - - (138180)  (138,180)
B HERE Scrip dividend paid 70,834 - - - - (2w (1,460)
RZEZ-EFZA=F-H  At31 December 2021 576,022 3,738 77700 208405 6431 589147 1461443
AEGH Profit for the year - - - - N YA I LYALY
RAEZE5ERMEL,  Exchange difference arising on trandlation to
EiEE presentation currency - - - (13219) - - (132,157)
AERENRER Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (13215) - 157,151 24,994
BR&E Dividends paid - - - - - (159175 (159,175)
RZEZZEFZA=F-H At 31 December 2022 576,022 3,738 77,700 76,48 6431 SBT3 132106
MisF : HiEFEER—LL— & Note: Other reserve represents the reserve arising from group
BEAMEEZHE - reorganisation in 1991.
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